TRINITY COUNTY COMMUNITY WILDFIRE PROTECTION PLAN UPDATE 2020



March 2021

REPORT TO THE TRINITY COUNTY FIRE SAFE COUNCIL FROM TRINITY COUNTY RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICT









THE CWPP UPDATE 2020 WAS MADE POSSIBLE WITH A GRANT FROM CAL FIRE CALIFORNIA CLIMATE INVESTMENT FIRE PREVENTION PROGRAM



CONTENTS

Executive Summary	1
Declaration of Agreement	6
Acknowledgements	7
I. Introduction	9
Objectives	9
Plan Context	9
New Policies	10
II. Fire in Trinity County	12
Wildfire in California and Trinity County	13
Increasing Costs of Catastrophic Wildfires	16
Influencing Wildfire with Pre-Fire Treatments	18
Pre-commercial thinning	18
A shaded fuelbreak	18
Prescribed fire	19
Strategic mechanical thinning	19
Strategically-Placed Landscpae area treatment	19
Roadside hazard tree removal	19
The Trinity County Fire Safe Council	21
III. Resources	23
Natural Resources	23
Agricultural and Timber Resources	23
Air Resources	23
Invasive Species	26
Cultural Resources	26
IV. The Update Process	27
Agency Planning Meeting	27
Data Collection	27
Community Input Meetings	27
Wildland Urban Interface (WUI)	30
V. Project Prioritization	36
WUI Proximity	36
Fire History	37

Wildfire Hazard Potential (WHP) Dataset	
Infrastructure Proximity (IP)	40
Project Continuity	41
Ingress/Egress Ranking	42
Public Score	43
VI. Results - Summaries and Recommendations	44
North Lake	46
Middle Trinity	51
Down River	61
South Fork	66
South County	71
VII. County-Wide Issues and Recommendations	76
Ongoing External Efforts	78
VIII. Conclusions and Next Steps	79
Appendix A – Meetings	80
Example of Community Meeting Presentation	81
Survey Responses	87
Prioritization Presentation	90
Appendix B – Distributed Educational Materials	99
Appendix C – Acronyms	125
Appendix D – Glossary	127
Appendix E – References	

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Wildfire continues to be the number one hazardous threat to Trinity County. Respondents to a survey conducted for the *2015 Trinity County Hazard Mitigation Plan* ranked the threat of Wildfire 3.89 out of a maximum score of 4, the highest perceived threat, and outranking other threats such as drought, major road closures and floods. When analyzed, wildfire ranked first in vulnerability to the county with potentially large economic, social, infrastructure and development impacts (2015 Trinity County Hazard Mitigation Plazard Mitigation Plan).

The Trinity County Fire Safe Council (FSC) developed the first comprehensive Trinity County Community Wildfire Protection Plan (CWPP) between 1999 and 2005. This effort began with a countywide process that resulted in the *Recommendations on Trinity County Values at Risk from Fire and Pre-Fire Fuels Treatment Opportunities drawn from Community Meetings 1999/2000* (February, 2001). These recommendations were used to develop the first complete Trinity County CWPP, which was accepted by the Trinity County Fire Chiefs' Association (FCA), Trinity County Board of Supervisors and the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE) in September 2005. The CWPP was updated in 2010 and became the primary document to guide the FSC, its member organizations and partners, in the selection and implementation of strategic fuels reduction projects and public outreach as they have sought to improve cooperation and coordination in all aspects of wildfire management in Trinity County. FSC members include representatives from local, state and federal land management agencies, non-governmental organizations including the local Volunteer Fire Departments (VFDs) and citizens. The *CWPP Update 2020* follows the same model as the *CWPP Update 2010 and 2015*.

The FSC identified the need for a spatially explicit countywide fire management plan in 1999 to assist in prioritizing and coordinating, at a landscape level, activity such as pre-fire fuels reduction treatments, and has maintained this over-arching need as fundamental to its success ever since. The *CWPP Update 2020* continues to build upon and improve the spatial information gathered from the previous CWPP versions.

Historically, county or regional scale wildfire management planning efforts often failed to involve or even acknowledge local residents' knowledge and expertise. FSC members felt very strongly that community input should drive the Trinity County Fire Management Plan development process with advice from local and regional expertise in fire management; in 1999 with funding support from the USFS Pacific Southwest Research Station and the CA Department of Water Resources, a team from the FSC began a process to capture community recommendations for the original planning effort. A series of community meetings and public workshops were held at Volunteer Fire Department halls and community centers across Trinity County. Residents were asked to help identify and map features relevant to emergency response. Data noted included locked gates, bridges too weak to carry a fire truck and water sources. Community members also worked with the team to locate and specify values at risk from fire in and around their communities. They made recommendations about pre-fire treatments such as clearing defensible space around residences and constructing shaded fuelbreaks along roadsides that could help to protect these values. Data from these meetings was captured and entered into a Geographic Information System (GIS). Finally, the District developed a ranking system and a prioritized list of recommended projects which incorporated input from community members, the FSC, and FCA in the 2010 and 2015 editions. The CWPP Update 2020 updates the ranking to use fire modeling, road assessments, and proximity to Wildland-Urban Interface (WUI) and previous projects to prioritize the projects. The methods used to capture community input and recommendations from these meetings were presented in the original report. The same strategy was repeated for the updates in 2010, 2015, and 2020, with 12 to 15 community meetings, most hosted by the Volunteer Fire Departments or Fire Safe Councils.

The update in 2010 added the following elements to the CWPP:

- Interface with the concurrent Humboldt County CWPP update.
- Development of Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) boundaries as defined in the Healthy Forest Restoration Act.
- Attention to treatments associated with large-scale fires that have occurred since 1999.
- Community meetings used to capture a variety of information, including the following:
 - \circ Status of project implementation of recommended treatments from the 2005 CWPP.
 - o Identification of projects to be implemented and their relative priorities for each community.
 - Project maintenance needs.
- Updating the Defensible Space requirements from 30 feet around structures to 100 feet¹.
- Developing a spatially explicit definition of the Wildland Urban Interface for each community at risk.

The projects resulting from the update in 2010 were blended with the 2005 CWPP projects and are presented for each of five divisions of the county: Down River, Middle-Trinity, North Lake, South County and South Fork.

Overall project ideas and planning recommendations from the 2010 CWPP update included the following:

- Work to integrate fire management planning explicitly into the National Forest Management Act mandated planning process on the national forests and across jurisdictional boundaries to allow for landscape-scale prioritization and implementation of pre-fire treatments. Immediate opportunities for coordination include:
 - Linking the Six Rivers and Shasta-Trinity National Forests' Road Management Plans to ensure that roads critical for access in case of fire are being maintained. Further, encourage cooperation among all jurisdictions (Caltrans, Trinity County, USFS, etc.) to manage and reduce roadside fuels.
- Identify and publicize safety zones for each community in case of catastrophic fire.
- Review the economic value of plantations (*e.g.*, through cost-benefit analysis). Participants noted that considerable expense has already gone into planting the trees and whether one wishes to pursue this type of silviculture in the future or not, the existing plantations are both important resources and, if untended, fire hazards.
- Understanding the concern of the increasing amount of fuel on the landscape as a result of fires, windfalls, insect, and disease outbreaks and other events. These areas are given priority in ranking of projects due to the risk they pose to adjacent values at risk including communities, associated infrastructure and adjacent forest resources. Resistance to control of fire in these areas is extreme and will tax limited firefighting resources.

¹ California Public Resources Code (PRC 4291) requires property owners and/or occupants to create and maintain 100 feet of defensible space around buildings and structures.

• Develop methods for managing vegetation occurring next to or around forest demonstrating unique or valued characteristics to better protect it from stand replacing fires. It was suggested that there are examples of this type of management working well on South Fork Mountain.

Building upon the 2005 and 2010 CWPP recommendations, the following planning and project recommendations were made in 2015:

- Prescribed Fire- controlled burning has become an important tool in Trinity County over the last 5 years. Fuel accumulations, species composition changes and loss of important wildlife habitat resulting from over 100 years of fire suppression have left much of Trinity County at a higher risk of loss from catastrophic wildfire. Prescribed burning addresses and minimizes the impacts of fire exclusion. When professionally planned and implemented during appropriate weather conditions, prescribed burns are an effective and appropriate fuels reduction/restoration treatment for many areas of Trinity County. Bringing fire back into the landscape by implementing multi-landowner, landscape scale cooperative prescribed burns will help to protect and preserve Trinity County residences, infrastructure, and natural resources for future generations.
- **General Plan** In November 2014, Trinity County adopted an update to the Safety Element of the General Plan. This CWPP update reinforces the wildfire safety goals addressed in the Safety Element, including the following recommendations:
 - Fire hazard planning reviewed and conducted by the Trinity County Fire Safe Council and Trinity County Fire Chiefs' Association.
 - Coordinating with CAL FIRE in the development of policies regarding wildfire and review of the CWPP.
 - Using of Local Area Advisors as a resource during fire incidents.
 - Protecting and maintaining the transportation network is critical to public safety.
- **Hazard Mitigation Plan** Mitigation Actions, as outlined in Table 4.2 of the Trinity County Hazard Mitigation Plan, need to be implemented. Wildfire specific actions include the following:
 - Centralized GIS mapping of water sources for firefighting, structure location, bridges and all county infrastructure and services necessary for emergency response.
 - Improve watershed and forest health through actions to reduce illegal water diversions, fire hazards and unsustainable agricultural practices.
 - Identify, develop and secure funding to bring existing repeater sites up to current standards.
- Fire Borrowing- With more than 8.5 million acres burned nationwide during the 2015 fire season it
 proved to be disastrous in terms of the loss of firefighter lives, homes and structures and natural
 resources. Unfortunately, it also was disastrous with regards to the budgets of the U.S. Departments of
 Agriculture and Interior. The U.S. Department of Agriculture's (USDA) Forest Service (Forest Service)
 transferred an additional \$250 million of funding from non-fire accounts to pay for firefighting through
 the end of the Fiscal Year. The \$250 million is in addition to the \$450 million the agency had been forced
 to transfer since August 2015 to fund firefighting. The Forest Service released a report (August 2015)
 showing that over one-half of its budget is now spent on firefighting and other fire-related activities, up
 from one-sixth in 1995. By 2025, the agency conservatively forecasts that it will spend two-thirds of its
 budget on wildfires. This shift in resources from non-fire programs to firefighting has enormous
 implications on all agency activities, including recreation, research, watershed protection, rangeland
 management, and, importantly, fuels reduction. Similarly, in the U.S. Department of the Interior (Interior),

the growing costs of wildfire preparedness and suppression now account for 76 percent of the wildfire management program budget, and are reducing the amounts available for fuels management and restoration activities by the Bureau of Indian Affairs, Bureau of Land Management (BLM), National Park Service, and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. For our rural, forested county, BLM is an integral partner and these treatments are essential for reducing risks of catastrophic fires, for increasing the resiliency of lands to recover from fire, and protecting communities and infrastructure.

To solve the fire budget problem in the long term, Congress should take two actions. First, Congress must allow the firefighting spending to be scored as an adjustment to discretionary spending caps in bad fire seasons, in keeping with the treatment of other federal disaster response activities, instead of transferring resources from non-fire programs, including timber sale and fuels reduction projects, research and monitoring efforts, recreation and wildlife activities, and trail and visitor facility maintenance. Second, Congress must do this in a way that does not harm the agencies' ability to invest in fuels management and forest and rangeland restoration to make these lands less vulnerable and more resilient to catastrophic wildfire. Both of these actions are consistent with how the Nation treats other natural disasters (June 7, 2016 Trinity County Board of Supervisors' letter to U.S. Senator Maria Cantwell).

- **Build Local Capacity-** There is a need to increase local capacity for integrated forest and wildfire management. Federal and state agencies can assist by working with local organizations to increase the capacity to reduce hazardous fuels. Examples could include:
 - Long-term service contracts with federal and state agencies for fuels reduction that supports the development of a skilled workforce.
 - Contracting rules that allow for the local agencies to participate in wildfire suppression activities without penalizing project work.
- Trinity County Collaborative Group- Support the Trinity County Collaborative Group's (TCCG's) efforts to serve as an inclusive and successful natural resources, land management and economic development advisory group that supports safe and vibrant communities, thriving economies and ecological resilience, through sustainable resource use and stewardship practices. TCCG projects include the Roads and Plantations Pilot Project and the Joint Chiefs Program, a 3-year program of work with special funding. Joint Chiefs" projects include post-fire hazard reduction and several "Fire-Resilient Community" projects that blend community protection, ecological restoration and "All-Lands" strategies.

The 2020 Update built upon the following elements:

- **Project Prioritization** Prioritization methodology of projects remodeled to take on a more objective ranking system incorporates LandFire fire severity predictive modeling, proximity to the WUI, fire history, recent project history, and a road ranking score provided by assessments by CAL FIRE crews. The ranking systems works to prioritize projects that have not had recent fire return, are inside the WUI, are working to maintain or expand existing fuel reduction projects, and prioritize roads with higher vulnerability for life safety consequences.
- Online Data Portal Public access to the geographic information systems data for the projects generated in the 2020 CWPP process as well as associated metadata has been produced as a part of this effort. This portal also includes the projects identified in the 2010 and 2015 updates, past projects by agency partners in Trinity County over the last five years, and future projects in the planning and implementation stages. This will provide access to all outside agencies to utilized identified projects for future funding opportunities and partnerships. (Will be made available by March 1, 2021).

The Trinity County Board of Supervisors has been a strong voice advocating for landscape-scale treatments that will help protect Trinity County's communities at risk. The previous CWPP updates and this update, will prove valuable as articulations of the county's perspective on landscape-scale treatments and fire management issues. Federal land management agencies have used the CWPP to inform their pre-fire management planning, and the *CWPP Update 2020* is intended to be similarly useful to those agencies as they gather community input for their fire planning processes.

The Trinity County Resource Advisory Committee (RAC) is a Federal Advisory Committee Act (FACA) chartered citizen-based committee appointed by the US Secretary of Agriculture under Title II of the Secure Rural Schools and Community Self-Determination Act. The RAC has used the CWPP to prioritize recommendations for forest health/fuels reduction projects and will likely use the 2020 update to allocate funds for high priority projects on lands managed by the USFS once the Act is reauthorized. The TCCG and Trinity County Fire Safe Council, including the Trinity County Resource Conservation District and the Watershed Research and Training Center, will continue fire management coordination efforts using the results of this update to systematically promote implementation of the projects recommended by the community participants. Further, the 2020 update will encourage public land management agencies to carry out the necessary pre-work, such as National Environmental Protection Act (NEPA) analysis, required before many recommended activities can be carried out. Trinity County VFDs, through the Fire Chiefs' Association and the FSC, may also find the information helpful in the next phases of county level emergency response coordination *e.g.* sharing equipment to implement projects.

DECLARATION OF AGREEMENT

The *Community Wildfire Protection Plan Update 2020* developed for Trinity County by the Trinity County Fire Safe Council:

- Was collaboratively developed. Interested parties and federal land management agencies managing land throughout Trinity County, including the communities in the vicinity of Big Bar/Big Flat, Burnt Ranch, Coffee Creek, Covington Mill, Douglas City, Hayfork, Hawkins Bar, Hyampom, Junction City, Kettenpom Valley, Lewiston, Mad River, Post Mountain, Ruth, Salyer, Trinity Center, Weaverville, Wildwood and Zenia have been consulted;
- Identifies and prioritizes areas for hazardous fuel reduction treatments and recommends the types and methods of treatment that will protect land throughout Trinity County, including the communities in the vicinity of Big Bar/Big Flat, Burnt Ranch, Coffee Creek, Covington Mill, Denny, Douglas City, Hayfork, Hawkins Bar, Hyampom, Junction City, Kettenpom Valley, Lewiston, Mad River, Post Mountain, Ruth, Salyer, Trinity Center, Weaverville, Wildwood and Zenia; and
- Recommends measures to reduce the ignitability of structures throughout the area addressed by the plan.

The following entities mutually agree with the contents of this Community Wildfire Protection Plan:

	Date:
Jeremy Brown, Chairman of the Board	
Board of Supervisors, Trinity County	
	Date:
Justin Kerwick, President	
Trinity County Fire Chiefs' Association	
	Date:
Bret Gouvea, Shasta-Trinity Unit Chief	
California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection	
	Date:
Carol Fall, Chairman	
Trinity County Fire Safe Council	

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Planning Team Participants

Trinity County Resource Conservation District: Amelia Fleitz, Denise Wesley, Erik Flickwir, Elizabeth Sandoval, Maya Williams, Azalie Welsh, Charlie Holthaus (formerly), and Kelly Sheen.

BBW: Kenneth Baldwin

In the spirit of collaboration, the Planning Team would like to thank the following people and organizations for their assistance and contribution to the *CWPP Update 2020* effort:

Trinity	County Board of Supervisors:	Local Fi	re Departments:	
0	Barbara "Bobbi" Chadwick	0	Coffee Creek Fire-	Tony Valls
0	Jeremy Brown	0	Douglas City Fire-	John Holland
0	Judy Morris	0	Down River Fire-	Gloria Reynolds
0	Jill Cox	0		
0	Keith Groves	0	Hawkins Bar Fire-	Todd Wright
0	John Fenley	0	Hayfork Fire-	Tim Spiersch
0	Dan Frasier	0	Hyampom Fire-	Michael Bryd
0	Liam Gogan	0	Junction City Fire-	Justin Kerwick
Hyamp	oom Fire Safe Council:	0	Lewiston Fire-	Mel Deardorff
0	Larry Winters	0	Post Mountain Fire-	Astrid Dobo
Shasta	-Trinity CAL FIRE Unit:	0	Salyer Fire-	David Murphy
0	Andy Reiling	0	South Trinity Fire-	Melony Higgins
	, 0	0	Trinity Center Fire-	Bob Bryant
US For	est Service	0	Weaverville Fire-	Todd Corbett
Shast	a-Trinity National Forest	0	Zenia-Kettenpom Fi	re- Brian Craig
0	Tim Ritchey			C
0	Lara Graham			
0	Ben Newburn	Bureau	of Land Manageme	nt
C D.	and Matterial Ferral		-	

Six Rivers National Forest

o Nancy Curran

- Redding Field Office
 - Jeremy Strait

Funding for the *CWPP Update 2020* has been provided by the following funding source: CAL FIRE California Climate Investments Fire Prevention Grant Program

PLEASE COMMENT ON THIS DOCUMENT

Although a large number of people were involved in the community input process, we will continue to seek comments on the Trinity County Community Wildfire Protection Plan. It is, by necessity, a living document and there will always be suggestions for next steps in community involvement in fire management planning.

I. INTRODUCTION

OBJECTIVES

The intention of the Trinity County CWPP update is to collate new information and present the updated CWPP in a form useful to county planners, USFS land management staff, CAL FIRE, Volunteer Fire Departments and others who may use the data to promote fire management activities and fire safety in Trinity County. The following objectives guided the update process:

- Update and prioritize fire and fuels related projects;
- Create an online database where Geographical Information System (GIS) layers can be accessed by agencies or the public;
- Record project accomplishments;
- Update with new policies and laws;
- Facilitate federal agency consideration of community priorities;
- Improve ability to protect lives and property from wildfire damage;
- Increase public awareness of consequences of living in a wildfire prone environment;
- Provide the public with clear steps they can take to reduce the risks associated with living in the Wildland Urban Interface/Intermix (WUI);
- Merge the goals and objectives of landowners with the needs and expectations of the community regarding wildfire risk reduction;
- Coordinate fire protection strategies across property boundaries; and
- Provide a tool to help coordinate grant funding and federal program budgets to achieve the most effective results with limited funding.

PLAN CONTEXT

Healthy Forest Restoration Act Criteria for Certification as a Community Wildfire Protection Plan

The National Fire Plan directed federal agencies to "work directly with communities to ensure adequate protection from wildfires, and to develop a collaborative effort to attain the desired future condition of the land."² The key wildland fire management agencies in California have chosen to accomplish this effort through the California Fire Alliance (The Alliance). To this end the Alliance, on its website³, encourages the development of Community

² Previously available at www.preventwildfireca.org/Organization-History/

³ Previously available at http://www.preventwildfireca.org/Community-Wildfire-Protection-Plans/

Wildfire Protection Plans (CWPP), as defined by the Healthy Forests Restoration Act (HFRA). A community wildfire protection plan, as defined by the HFRA, means a plan for an at risk community that fulfills the following criteria.

COLLABORATION

A) The plan is developed within the context of the collaborative agreements and the guidance established by the Wildland Fire Leadership Council and agreed to by the applicable local government, local fire department, and state agency responsible for forest management, in consultation with interested parties and the federal land management agencies managing land in the vicinity of the at-risk community.

This plan was collaboratively developed. Significant efforts were made throughout the planning process to collaborate with local, state, and federal land and fire management agencies. Leadership and guidance was provided by the Trinity County Resource Conservation District. Trinity County Board of Supervisors, CAL FIRE, USFS, the Watershed Research and Training Center, and Trinity County Volunteer Fire departments, and BLM managers were represented and provided presentations at the community meetings. Officials from both the Six Rivers and Shasta-Trinity National Forests were engaged in the collaboration. In addition, special efforts were made to gain experience and insight from professional foresters, both active and retired. Meetings were designed and conducted to maximize community input into the planning process.

PRIORITIZED FUEL REDUCTION

B) The plan identifies and prioritizes areas for hazardous fuel reduction treatments and recommends the types and methods of treatment on federal and non-federal land that will protect one or more at-risk communities and essential infrastructure.

This plan identifies areas for hazardous fuel reduction treatments and prioritizes them using a ranking system. This plan also recommends the types and methods of treatment to reduce the risk of wildfire to communities and resources within the planning area.

NEW POLICIES

CALIFORNIA FIRE SAFETY HOME HARDENING DISCLOSURES (AB-38 2019)

The California legislature passed Assembly Bill 38 requiring the Natural Resources Agency to conduct a review of regional capacity by county to improve forest health, fire resilience, and safety by July 1, 2021. The State Fire Marshal must develop a list of low-cost retrofits for home hardening by Jan. 31, 2020⁴. Furthermore, the bill requires that property sales within a high or very high fire hazard severity zone disclose to the buyer home hardening modifications made to the home and provide a list of features that make the home vulnerable to wildfire and flying embers after Jan. 1, 2021.

CALIFORNIA ELECTRICAL CORPORATIONS WILDFIRE MITIGATION PLANS (SB-901 2018)

Electrical corporations are required to develop a wildfire mitigation plan by January 1, 2020 and annually thereafter to minimize the risk of catastrophic wildfire. Each electrical corporation must identify areas where

⁴ Low Cost Retrofit List available at <u>http://www.readyforwildfire.org/wp-content/uploads/Low-cost-Retrofit-List-</u> <u>Final.pdf</u>.

significant risk of catastrophic wildfire⁵ could result from electrical lines or equipment and identify measures to minimize such risk. The plans are required to be presented at public meetings for all publicly owned electric utilities.

STRATEGIC FIRE PLAN FOR CALIFORNIA (2018)

The California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE) and the State Board of Forestry and Fire Protection (BOF) adopted a Strategic Fire Plan for California in 2018⁶. This plan is similar to the 2010 Strategic Fire Plan while updating the landscape conditions, priorities, goals and objectives. The Plan recognizes that fire will occur in California and works to answer the question of "how do we utilize and live with that risk of wildfire?" The 2018 Plan focuses on "(1) fire prevention and suppression activities to protect lives, property, and ecosystem services and (2) natural resource management to maintain the state's forests as a resilient carbon sink to meet California's climate change goals and to serve as important habitat for adaptation and mitigation."

WILDFIRE AND FOREST RESILIENCY ACTION PLAN (2021)

The Governor's Forest Management Taskforce released their action plan to address the changing climate in diverse ecosystems across California and provides strategies to improve California's resiliency⁷. The goals of the action plan are to increase pace and scale, strengthen community protection, manage forest for economic and environmental goals, and promote innovation solutions. This action plan comes as 75% of the largest fires in California recorded history were within the last 20 years.

Trinity County has always turned to the expertise of the Trinity County Fire Safe Council, and its partner, the Trinity County Fire Chiefs' Association, to review the background data and in the development of locally important objectives, goals and policies in the Safety Element as well as this update of the Trinity County CWPP.

⁵ Trinity Public Utilities Wildfire Mitigation Plan available at <u>https://www.trinitypud.com/wildfire-preparedness/</u>

⁶ 2018 Strategic Fire Plan for California available at <u>https://osfm.fire.ca.gov/media/5590/2018-strategic-fire-plan-approved-08_22_18.pdf</u>

⁷ California's Wildfire and Forest Resilience Action Plan available at <u>https://fmtf.fire.ca.gov/media/cjwfpckz/californiawildfireandforestresilienceactionplan.pdf</u>

II. FIRE IN TRINITY COUNTY

Trinity County is located in a fire adapted area. The vegetation types, combined with a pronounced annual dry period, result in conditions that favor fire. Frequent fire has influenced the rich ecosystem diversity here. From the ecological communities of the valleys, oak woodlands, and riparian areas, to the mixed conifer forests, hills and mountains, this diversity blankets the Trinity County landscape. Within this richness lies a deep relationship, between all of the ecosystem types found here and fire ("pyrodiversity"). The natural fire regime found here is represented by frequent mixed-severity fires (approximately every 5 to 15 years). These frequencies of fires are also known as the "fire return interval." In some areas, in particular grasslands and oak woodlands, fire may have occurred on a much more frequent basis. The range of fire return intervals and intensities has been a major environmental driver, helping to shape the flora and fauna since the end of the last ice age. Fire, like rain, floods and drought, is one of the most important environmental processes that governs the ecological diversity of Trinity County.

It is widely understood that for the last 10,000 plus years, prior to European settlement (nearly 170 years ago in Trinity County), Native Americans used fire for a variety of different resource objectives. Fire was an essential tool used to help create an abundant landscape that sustained generations of native people. Fire was used to generate basket weaving materials and for many other cultural uses. Fire was also used to increase foraging habitat for deer and elk and to manage insects and disease. As described by M.K. Anderson in *Tending the Wild: Native American Knowledge and the Management of California's Natural Resources:*

"The majority of plant species that local California Indians relied on for food and medicine and for making cordage, basketry, and tools thrive only in full sun or partial shade. The areas where the favored plants occurred frequently were burned so as to keep them open and decrease competition from weeds. Ecologically, fire was used to maintain earlier successional stages that these species require".

"...traditional management systems have influenced the size, extent, pattern, structure, and composition of the flora and fauna within a multitude of vegetation types throughout the state. When the first Europeans visited California therefore, they did not find in many places a pristine virtually uninhabited wilderness but rather a carefully tended "garden" that was the result of thousands of years of selective harvesting, tilling, burning, pruning, sowing, weeding, and transplanting."

"...deliberate burning increased the abundance and density of edible tubers, greens, fruits, seeds, and mushrooms; enhanced feed for wildlife; controlled the insects and diseases that could damage wild foods and basketry material; increased the quantity and quality of material used for basketry and cordage; and encouraged the spouts used for making household items, granaries, fish weirs, clothing, games, hunting and fishing traps, and weapons. It also removed dead material and promoted growth through the recycling of nutrients, decreased plant competition, and maintained specific plant community types such as montane meadows." (Anderson, 2005, p. 136).

This extensive use of fire has led to a broad range of ecosystem processes, plant adaptations, and symbiotic relationships. For example, frequent fire helps with rapid nutrient recycling, reduces fuel loading, increases browse for some wildlife, thins small trees, and creates conditions for regrowth. Many of the plants found in Trinity County are fire followers, becoming established in recent fire footprints, and/or have specific adaptations that help the plants cope with, and flourish in, a frequent fire environment. These plant adaptations include, but are certainly

not limited to, the thick bark of conifers such as mature Ponderosa pine (*Pinus ponderosa*) and Douglas-fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*) that can withstand the heat of low-moderate intensity fire. Other trees, such as canyon live oak (*Quercus chrysolepis*) and Oregon white oak (*Quercus garryana*) sprout following fire, while many species of plants like western redbud (*Cercis occidentalis*) and knobcone pine (*Pinus attenuata*) require fire to aid in reproduction.



Figure 1. Carr Fire smoke visible from Weaver Bally Lookout on July 26, 2018 (photo courtesy of USFS Johanna L Ostling).

WILDFIRE IN CALIFORNIA AND TRINITY COUNTY

The acreage that was burned by California's earliest humans may have been significant; fire scientists Robert Martin and David Sapsis estimate that between 5.6 million and 13 million acres of California burned annually under both lightning and indigenous people's fire regime (Anderson, 2005, p.136). In addition to Native American burning, early settlers, ranchers, and timber companies continued the practice on a large scale. For example, "among the strong advocates of light burning were members of the Walker family and the Red River Lumber Company. From 1909 to 1913 they made a thorough test of light burning on nearly 1 million acres of pine lands under their management. Thirty-five men from Redding, CA were hired to do light burning when conditions were suitable. This group became known as the "needle scratchers." When they could not burn, they piled rocks in the cavities of fire scared trees and threw in dirt to keep those trees from catching fire. They also removed logs from near the trunks of trees and used other tactics to lessen the damaging effects of light fires. The cost of burning was, then reported, about 30 cents per acre (inflated to \$7.30 in 2016)" (Biswell, 1989, p. 95-96). This amount of fire on the landscape resulted in ecosystems that were resilient and generally void of large scale and destructive wildfires.

Beginning in the early 1900's, negative attitudes of fire on the landscape led to federal policies that required immediate suppression of all fire on the landscape. At the same time, Native Americans were being forcibly

Trinity County Community Wildfire Protection Plan Update 2020

removed from their land, putting an end to thousands of years of careful land management. These policies effectively eliminated frequent fire regimes for decades, both human caused and natural. As a result of fire suppression and elimination of intentional fire use, logging and the development of mono-culture tree plantations, the landscape began to change. In Trinity County, this has led to an unnaturally high accumulation of fuels and increasingly high intensity wildfires.

Fire is now under-represented on the landscape, and every year we increase our fire deficit (the number of acres that should be subjected to fire, but are not). In fact, many places in Trinity County have not had a fire in over 100 years, resulting in an increased wildfire risk. It can be estimated, based on historic fire regimes, that most of the county has missed at least 5 to 10 fires in the last 100 years. California is in the 96th and 98th percentiles for states with homes at risk and wildfire likelihood. Trinity County is in the 98th percentile of counties in California for homes at risk and 100th percentile for wildfire likelihood (Wildfire Risk to Communities, Figure 3).

Some areas, in particular around grasslands that were intentionally burned by Native Americans and then ranchers, may have missed upward of 100 fires. This overall lack of fire on the landscape has contributed to conditions that threaten our communities and ecosystems. Today, wildfires are now often of a scale and intensity beyond the range of historic variability (Skinner, Taylor and Agee, 2006). The regional and landscape scale impacts of these fires include changes in vegetation patterns, loss of remaining old growth forest, adverse impacts to air quality, economic losses and danger to human life.



Figure 2. Smoke from the August Complex on September 27, 2020 (photo courtesy of Kale Casey, Alaska Incident Management Team)

Trinity County

Risk to Homes

Populated areas in Trinity County have, on average, greater risk than WIN of counties in California.





California

Risk to Homes

Populated arms in California have, on average, greater risk than 96% of states.









Figure 3. Wildfire Risk to Communities has mapped the risk to homes and wildfire likelihood across the United States, included in this figure are Trinity County and the state of California (https://wildfirerisk.org).

INCREASING COSTS OF CATASTROPHIC WILDFIRES

Nationally the federal cost of fire suppression has increased on average by 27% over the past 5 years (Table 1). The cost of damaged structures and fire suppression will continue to increase as *"the overall growth and expanded spatial footprint of California's population has increased fire frequency while also increasing the economic value at risk"* (California Council on Science and Technology, 2020). However, certain values are unquantifiable such as the cost of health impacts or ecosystem services as a result of catastrophic wildfires or increased fire return frequency. These costs will increase as we start to see conversion of evergreen forests converting into chaparral scrublands then into grasslands, leading to more frequent and severe fires across the landscape.

		Acres		
Year	# Fires	Burned	Тс	otal Federal Cost
2015	68,151	10,125,149	\$	2,130,543,000
2016	67,595	5,503,538	\$	1,975,545,000
2017	71,499	10,026,086	\$	2,918,165,000
2018	58 <i>,</i> 083	8,767,492	\$	3,143,256,000
2019	50,477	4,664,364	\$	1,590,000,000
		5-yr average	\$	2,337,931,600
		10-yr average	\$	1,843,759,100

 Table 1. Federal number of fires, acres burned and total cost for federal fire suppression in 2016-2019 by year and the 5 and 10 year averages (NWCG, 2020).

Due to drought, pests, higher than average temperatures, and high winds, recent wildland fires have exhibited critical rates of spread during the 2018 Carr (Shasta County), 2017 Thomas (Ventura and Santa Barbara County), and 2019 Camp (Butte County) fires. The Camp Fire grew more than 5,000 acres in 3 hours, approximately the speed of one football field every three seconds. The 2019 Camp Fire is currently the most destructive and deadliest fire in California recorded history, with 85 deaths, 18,804 structures destroyed, and over \$150 million spent in fire suppression. This fire destroyed approximately 95% of all structures in Paradise and Concow, with the total damages estimated at \$16.5 billion.

Trinity County has been no exception to large-scale destructive wildfires. "After highly effective fire suppression through much of the 20th century, large lightning complexes began escaping initial attack and expanding into longburning widespread events beginning with the "siege of '87". Additional large lightning complexes have occurred in 1999, 2008, and 2015" (Smith, Joshua et al., 2016, p. 13). This was not unlike the lightning siege of 2020.

Table 2. Acres burned in Trinity County due to wildfires between 2016 and 2020 with a total of 509,500 acres.

Year	Acres Burned (rounded to nearest 10)	% of Trinity County burned
2016	30	0.0%
2017	40,100	2.0%
2018	31,000	1.5%
2019	2,370	0.1%
2020	436,300	21.3%
TOTAL	509,500	

In 2020, California experienced 5 out of the top 6 largest wildfires since 1932. Smoke from fires across California settled in valleys and low-lying areas, causing health concerns for people and creating major impacts for outdoor industries. Tourism in Trinity County is centered around businesses that provide rafting, hiking, boating, fishing, and camping. Reduced air quality from wildfire smoke contributed to decreases in the tourism industry in Trinity County during the 2017 Helena, 2019 Carr and Delta, and 2020 August Complex fires. Fires can have economic benefits, often bringing in more fire personnel which translates to spending at local businesses. However, these impacts are concentrated in specific sectors, specifically grocery stores, restaurants, and hotels.

Trinity County had over 436,340 acres burned in 2020, representing 21.3% of the land area and 56% of the acres burned in the largest fires recorded in Trinity County (Table 2, Figure 4). This was due largely in part to the August Complex, which burned over 1.03 million acres across 7 counties, and made history as the largest recorded fire in California. The August Complex was comprised of 38 separate lightning fires that burned together in late August. Across the entire burn area, 935 structures were destroyed and there was 1 death. In Trinity County a total of 683 structures were destroyed (73% of all structures reported), 282 residential and 400 outbuildings. Despite the vast land area that the fire covered, in the August Complex North Zone, the soil burn severity was high in only 8% of the area.

The high costs of catastrophic wildfires are particularly evident in the Wildland Urban Interface (WUI). All of the developed areas within Trinity County are located within the WUI. The Helena Fire burned 21,962 acres and destroyed 72 homes in the community of Junction City.



10 LARGEST FIRES IN TRINITY COUNTY (ACRES)

Figure 4. The largest fires in Trinity County recorded history include the 2020 August Complex, 2020 Red Salmon Complex, 2015 Happy, 2008 Buckhorn, 2008 Cedar-Iron Complex, 2008 Eagle, 2008 Yellow, 2006 Bake-Oven, 2006 Pigeon, and 1999 Megram Fires.

INFLUENCING WILDFIRE WITH PRE-FIRE TREATMENTS

Fuels, weather, and topography influence fire behavior. Since people cannot control climate and topography, reducing fuel loading through pre-fire treatments is the most promising area in which people may influence wildland fire behavior (Agee et al., 2000). This idea has had a significant influence on the pre-fire work accomplishments in Trinity County since 2010, over 10.4 million dollars have been leveraged to complete fuels treatments and educational programs throughout the county. Trinity County RAC alone has dedicated approximately \$2,342,501 since 2001 (\$1,066,984 from 2010 to 2015) on fuels reduction projects on USFS lands in Trinity County. In the last year, the WRTC has brought over \$1 million for fuels reduction treatments to Trinity County. In the last 5 years, the TCRCD has brought over \$2.9 million to the County for fuel reduction treatments.

A range of fuels reduction methods have been implemented throughout the county to create safe conditions for firefighting and to protect communities, natural resources, and critical infrastructure. These methods include individual and combined practices that focus on strategically reducing fuel loading on the landscape. These methods include; pre-commercial thinning, shaded fuelbreak construction, prescribed burning, strategic mechanical thinning, strategically-placed landscape area treatments, roadside hazard tree removal, and fuel reduction within the "Home Ignition Zone".

PRE-COMMERCIAL THINNING (PCT) is a thinning method, generally within homogenous tree plantations and/or fire excluded areas, conducted before trees reach a merchantable size. PCT is used to release over-crowded stands to prevent stagnation, decrease the risk of insects, disease, and fire, and increase the growth of residual trees. Follow-up slash disposal is recommended as part of any PCT in order to reduce the risks of wildfire. Activity fuels are generally piled and burned and/or lopped and scattered within the project area.

A SHADED FUELBREAK is a forest management strategy used for mitigating the threat of wildfire in areas where natural fire regimes have been suppressed. "A shaded fuelbreak is created by altering surface fuels, increasing the height to the base of the live crown and opening the canopy by removing trees... These combined practices should result in (a) lower fire intensity, (b) less probability of torching, and (c) lower probability of independent crown fire." (Agee, et al., 2000). Surface fuels are generally treated by pile burning, chipping, and/or broadcast burning. Shaded fuelbreaks require a regular treatment interval (variable depending on site conditions) to ensure the qualities of the initial investment are maintained over time.





Figure 5. Before (left) and after (right) fuel reduction treatment along Top of the Grade, Douglas City, CA (TCRCD, 2020).

PRESCRIBED FIRE, or controlled burning, is a restoration technique that addresses fire deficits in fire-dependent landscapes through the deliberate application of fire, helping to restore healthy ecosystems and reduce the risk of large-scale wildfire. Prescribed burns are implemented to meet many objectives, including, but not limited to, reducing surface and ladder fuels, reducing conifer encroachment, and to improve wildlife habitat. Prior to ignitions, control lines (areas where the fire will not spread such as roads and dozer lines) are identified and/or created in order to fully surround the intended burn unit. Units are ignited during favorable weather conditions that are appropriate to achieve burn objectives while reducing smoke impacts and the threat of escape.

STRATEGIC MECHANICAL THINNING is an approach to fuels reduction that combines commercial timber harvesting with service work that reduces the threat of wildfire. This practice takes advantage of revenues associated with forest thinning to help pay for strategic fuels reduction work that reduces the threat of wildfire to communities and critical infrastructure.

STRATEGICALLY-PLACED LANDSCPAE AREA TREATMENT is an approach were equations derive the optimal shape and size of fuel reduction treatments. Research shows that this treatment style is often the most efficient method of treating frequent-fire forests to lessen the severity of wildfires (Finney 2001; Schmidt et al. 2008; Tubbesing et al. 2019).

ROADSIDE HAZARD TREE REMOVAL is accomplished to increase the safety, both for firefighters and the public, along major road corridors. Hazard trees are trees that are dead, have defects in roots, trunk, or branches that make them likely to fall, potentially causing injury, property damage, and/or access issues. Hazard tree removal, prior to wildfire events, creates safer conditions for firefighters, while also reducing the risk of spotting should one be ignited by a fire.

The HOME IGNITION ZONE (HIZ) is composed of a house and its immediate surrounding, up to 200 feet away. The HIZ can be broken up into four sub-zones; Fire Free Zone, Structural Protection Zone, Defensible Space Zone, and Wildland Fuel-Reduction Zone. The ignition potential of the HIZ largely influences the effectiveness of protection during a wildfire. Within these zones, fuels reduction (by means of several different methods including, but not limited to, raking, PCT, pruning, prescribed fire, chipping, mastication, etc.) is meant to minimize fire intensities and rates of spread. Collaboration between several partners within Trinity County have helped complete fuels reduction projects within the HIZ of many neighborhoods.

Fuels reduction activities can be one, or a combination of several, practices mentioned in this section. Still, pre-fire treatments are expensive and a relatively small percentage of the landscape can and will be treated each year. Influencing wildfire by collaborating on pre-fire treatments has taken a major foothold since the completion of the 2010 CWPP update. Today, it is common for several organizations to collaborate on projects, helping to increase the number and size of project areas, building local capacity to complete work, and making more funding available to partners. For example, funding for the Weaver Basin Community Protection Project was made available through a collaboration by WRTC, TCRCD, and the USFS. In the last 5 years, CAL FIRE, Sierra Pacific Industries, Trinity Public Utilities District, Weaverville VFD, and Trinity Center VFD have participated in developing and implementing additional multi-landowner, multi-jurisdictional projects. Within Trinity County there are many more examples of collaboration. These examples include, but certainly are not limited to; cooperating agreements, interagency and inter-organizational training, grant writing, cooperative burning, and interagency / inter-organizational field crews. This cooperation and resource sharing is helping to get more done with limited funding than could have otherwise been accomplished.



Figure 6. In the 2020 CWPP Survey, respondents prioritized defensible space, roadside shaded fuelbreaks, and roadside fuelbreaks without shading for work in their community over strategic forest thinning, prescribed burning, and ridgetop shaded or unshaded fuelbreaks (n=16).

Which kinds of projects would you like to see more of in Trinity County?



Figure 7. In the 2020 CWPP Survey, respondents identified which projects they would like to see more of in Trinity County, roadside shaded fuelbreaks were most valued, with defensible space and strategic forest thinning tied for second (n=16).

THE TRINITY COUNTY FIRE SAFE COUNCIL

In mid-1998, the County Board of Supervisors' Natural Resources Advisory Council appointed a sub-committee to address the issue of fire. This initiated the Trinity County Fire Safe Council (FSC) that has met on average monthly since then. The FSC includes representatives, who have all signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) to cooperate on fire management planning, including local volunteer fire departments (VFDs), Trinity County Resource Conservation District (TCRCD), Watershed Research and Training Center (WRTC), United States Forest Service (USFS), United States Bureau of Land Management (BLM), California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE), Safe Alternatives for the Environment (SAFE), Trinity County and others. This MOU has been renewed twice.

The FSC, a model of collaborative community participation promoted by CAL FIRE, has benefited from several ongoing efforts in the past 20 plus years. These efforts align with the goals of the National Wildfire Cohesive Strategy (Cohesive Strategy) to create and maintain 1) Resilient Landscapes, 2) Fire Adapted Communities, and 3) Safe and Effective Wildfire Response. Interagency / inter-organizational coordination and community participation have played a key role in implementing these three goals by the FSC. Some of the early efforts of the FSC include coordinated fuels reduction and fuelbreak construction projects on private and public lands. Some of these projects include pioneering efforts to make thinning from below for fuels reduction pay for itself through utilization of small diameter wood in manufactured wood products (*CWPP Update 2010*). The 2010 CWPP update, through extensive coordination between partners and the public, helped to identify priority fuels reduction and community protection projects throughout the county. Through this effort coordinated, funding for and implementation of fuels reduction and forest demonstration projects have occurred on both private and public land. These projects utilize local crews from WRTC, TCRCD, CAL FIRE, BLM, USFS, VFDs, and landowners resulting in an increased capacity to complete this type of work.

In the past 20 years the FSC has worked locally, regionally, and nationally on community wildfire protection issues. The FSC has continued to coordinate and share resources for fundraising, training, project implementation, and more. In particular, the FSC has taken an "All-Lands" approach to our fire and fuels issue. Through this "All-Lands" approach, supported by the Cohesive Strategy, the FSC has developed and implemented projects that span multiple ownerships, both private and public at the landscape level. In addition, the FSC has supported and implemented thousands of acres of manual and mechanical fuels reduction and forest health projects. Further, in the last 15 years through coordination of several partners, including CAL FIRE, BLM, USFS, WRTC, TCRCD, and several VFDs, prescribed fire projects have been implemented within the WUI. In addition, the FSC has built their capacity, through coordinated trainings and experiential learning, to implement complex prescribed burns and a variety of restoration projects at the landscape level.



III. RESOURCES

NATURAL RESOURCES

Natural resource assets include watersheds, forests and woodlands (both public and private), fisheries and wildlife resources and soils. Natural resources are highly valued by residents of the CWPP planning area for their contribution to the local economy, quality of life, and as an asset that attracts tourism-related economic activity. As described in Section II, fire is an integral part of the natural environment, but when it occurs under changed conditions (i.e. extreme weather, increase in stand density and/or unusually dense fuel loading) it can destroy natural assets.

In a landscape where fire continues to be the dominant form of forest disturbance, the most effective way to minimize negative impacts of catastrophic fire on natural resources and ecosystems "is to protect the evolutionary capacity of these systems to respond to disturbance" (Gresswell, 1999), which means allowing fire to once again play its role in the ecosystem.

AGRICULTURAL AND TIMBER RESOURCES

Agricultural resources include rangelands, timberlands (both public and private), and cultivated farmlands. They are an important element of the planning area identity and economy. High-intensity wildland fire can remove timberland and rangeland from production and necessitate lengthy restoration programs. For example, in cattle ranches wildfire can quickly sweep through large areas of grassland, potentially damaging grazing habitat for the season. However, the same grasslands also benefit from wildfire as new growth and essential nutrient recycling resulting from a wildfire replenishes the burned-over area. Further, timber yield is improved by prudent use of prescribed fire (e.g. in site preparation, landing piles, slash disposal and broadcast burns). In addition to timber yields, other ecosystem services are benefited.

Agricultural lands that are managed for food crops are not at great risk from wildfire because of the heavy management that takes place there. However, fruit and nut tree orchards could sustain damage from direct flame contact or even the heat of a wildfire. Although the understory vegetation tends to be eliminated in orchards, making it very difficult for a fire to move through, the heat of a fire could damage trees, plants and other critical infrastructure that is used in such agricultural opperations. The loss of a year's harvest is not the only wildfire impact for agricultural products, in the cannabis and wine industry the crops may be tainted from wildfire smoke and deposited ash decreasing the value of the product.

AIR RESOURCES

Smoke generated by wildfire is comprised of visible and invisible emissions that contain particulate matter (soot, tar, water vapor, minerals), gases (carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, nitrogen oxides) and toxics (formaldehyde, benzene). Emissions from wildfire depend on the type of fuel, moisture content of fuels, efficiency (or temperature) of combustion, and weather. Public health impacts associated with wildfire include difficulty in breathing, odor, and reduction in visibility.

Trinity County is located in the North Coast Air Basin. The North Coast Air Basin is comprised of three air districts, the North Coast Unified Air Quality Management District (AQMD), Mendocino County AQMD, and the Northern Sonoma County APCD (North Coast Unified Air Quality Management District, n.d.).

The North Coast Unified Air Quality District continuously monitors airborne particulates within Trinity County. The low population density and limited number of industrial and agricultural installations all contribute to Trinity County's generally good air quality. Only Humboldt County in the North Coast Air Basin is currently designated as nonattainmet for the State 24-hour PM₁₀ standard for particulate matter, which is the class of air pollution of primary concern. Prescribed fires and with "an ever-increasing level of concern, catastrophic wildfires" be primary sources for particulate matter (Trinity County Planning Department, 2014).



Trinity Cantar	the many seas	Moderate this morning, reacting Uniteratity this afternoon.	
Weaverville		Moderate this morning, reaching Uniteatthy this afternoon.	
Hayfork		USG this morning, cauld reach Hazandous this afternoon.	
Eureka		Mostly Moderate, could experience periods of USG.	0 0
Fortuna	dillocation of	Meetly Unhealthy, could experience periods of Very Unhealthy	
Bridgeville		 Very Unhealthy to Hazardous. See "actions to protect yoursel being 	
Garberville		Very Unhealthy to Hazardeus may persist much of the day.	
Willia		USG this marries, reaching Unitealthy this afternoon.	
Fort Brapp- Mendaciva		Good to Woderate throughout the day.	• •
Uklah		USG to Unhealthy throughout the day.	
Citiventale		Hoderate to USG throughout the day.	0 0
Healthburg	A 100	Mostly Good to Moderate, could experience periods of USG.	0 0

ued 2020-10-06 07:51 PDT by Margaret Key, Air Resource Advisor Laramargaretkey@gmail.com

	y Index (AQI)	Actions to Protect Tourself	
Cited		Rene	
3 Multin	rate	Unsually sensitive induitions should card	der lindling protemped ar heavy exertian.
0 USG		People within Sensitive Groups" should red	wee prolonged at heavy outdoor exertises.
Citrinal	atty	People within Sensitive Groups" should ave	ed all physical outdoor activity.
O Very'	University	Torrysten should assoid prolonged or beauty	exertion,
	-	Everyone should avoid any mutator activity	
		sed on fine perficulates only, soore is not no protocolonal as readed. Smoke senative pro	
Parge dan	chip. See your health		Labled. Transcuolos may be serang, sale al pren trial, libe tradition as conditions can as physical tradition appropriate proclassions. Appendimento from transmission – trades formation reag probability (1998) appropriate formation – trades for an an anticipation (1998)

Figure 8. Air quality for North Central Coast during the August Complex for October 6 and 7, 2020. Air quality ranges from unhealthy to moderate in Trinity County with projections for very unhealthy in Hayfork.

First

855

Climate change is affecting fire severity, frequency and behavior. In addition, climate change is leading to longer fire seasons due to warmer and more extreme fire regimes (Westerling et al., 2006, Whitlock, 2004, Scholze et al., 2006). The reduced moisture content of drought-stressed vegetation increases flammability over a longer period of the year, resulting in an active burning period that starts earlier and last longer (Trinity County Planning Department, 2014). The 2014 Safety Element of the Trinity County General Plan estimates the area burned by wildland fires in Northern California will increase by at least 100 percent. This has proven to be correct, with adverse effects on air quality especially during summer and fall. However, unlike prescribed burning, in which burn managers pay mitigation fees for emmissions that may be produced, the smoke produced by wildfires, even under human-caused, altered fire regimes, are not managed (accounted for) by the AQMD. Green house gas (GHG) release associated with prescribed burning does not compare to, and in fact, may reduce GHG release during a catastrophic wildland fire, resulting in a cleaner and healthier air basin.

Alternative methods of non-combustible fuels reduction, like mastication and chipping as fuel-powered forms of treatment, have relatively minor releases of GHG from their engines. However, mastication and chipping are not feasible in the majority of the planning area due to steep terrain. Research at the Teakettle Experimental Forest in the southern Sierra shows that thinning alone without fire produces more CO₂ from associated decomposition from fungi and bacteria (respiration) over time than CO₂ output from thinning followed by prescribed fire, or burning alone (Ma et al., 2004).



Figure 9. Six Rivers National Forests' dozer operator adds woody debris into CAL FIRE's air curtain burner, utilized for fuels reduction throughout the Mad River Ranger District.

Through a partnership with the CAL FIRE Humboldt-Del Norte Unit the Six Rivers NF began utilizing an air curtain burner to reduce fuels across the landscape in 2019. This is one example of repurposing the aircurtain burners which were originally utilized to address the beetle kill in the Sierra-Nevada Mountain Range. An air curtain promotes a secondary burn in which the particles rising in the smoke are trapped under the air curtain and cycled through to reburn. The air curtain burner results in a very clean burn and produces biochar which can be sold as an agricultural ammendment. Air curtain burners can reduce up to 80% of greenhouse gas and particulate matter emissions. This system is one tool which allows land managers to continue burning outside the traditional burn windows.

INVASIVE SPECIES

Another threat to community fire safety is invasive and exotic species (Dombeck et al., 2004). The introduction of exotic plants has altered plant communities, subsequent fuel types, and fire regimes (Brooks et al., 2004). Himalayan blackberries (*Rubus armeniacus*) and other non-native plants such as yellow starthistle (*Centaurea solstitialis*), Scotch broom (*Cytisus scoparius*), tree of heaven (*Ailanthus altissima*) and spotted knapweed (*Centaurea maculosa*) can establish and quickly colonize disturbed or severely burned areas, all of which can be found in the 2017 Helen Fire burn scar. The young regrowth of Himalayan blackberry with higher fuel moisture content can retard fire spread, but old patches with dead canes and foliage may cause higher intensities. Exotic grasses cure earlier in the summer fire season and increase fine flashy fuels across the landscape. Star thistle and Scotch broom can increase presence and abundance of exotic invasive species. As a result of suppression efforts, the establishment, abundance and spread of invasive plants has been promoted, which due to limited travel routes and steep terrain, had no invasive plant occurences prior to the fires. Exotic pathogens, such as *Phytophthora lateralis* (Port Orford-cedar root rot) and *Phytophthora ramorum* (sudden oak death) present the greatest threat to modifying vegetation community composition and structure possibly resulting in an increase in fuel load and wildland fire danger.

CULTURAL RESOURCES

Culturally sensitive areas are sites and regions of special importance to Native Americans. These areas can include, but are not limited to, burial sites, village sites, gathering areas, and travel routes. Many acres within the planning area are designated as culturally sensitive, with notable concentrations along the Trinity River and its many tributaries. Many artifacts and structures are at risk to incidents of high-intensity wildfire; which also poses a threat to oak woodlands that provide acorn-gathering sites. At the same time, low-intensity fire can clean an area of litter and ground fuel, reducing insect damage to mast crops, enhancing grassland sites for basket making materials, and freeing ceremonial gatering places from conifer encroachment. In addition, frequent low-intensity fire can improve yields and help with regeneration of oak trees, hazel, elderberry and huckleberry for nut and berry gathering.

Post-settlement assets (historical) are abundant within the county. The California Gold Rush of the late 1840's contributed greatly to the kind and number of historical assets that are found within the County. Water ditches, can dumps, homesteads, and other mining-era artifacts can be found throughout much of the County. High-intensity fire poses a threat to these assets as well as historic downtown areas and valued historical buildings (such as barns, schools, and churches).

IV. THE UPDATE PROCESS

The purpose of the original planning effort (1999 -2001) was to initiate a coordinated fire management planning process in which the residents of Trinity County were involved from the beginning. The 2020 CWPP update process has honored that original purpose. In order to address this purpose, all available spatial data pertinent to fire in Trinity County including maps, aerial photos and Geographic Information Systems data layers were collected into a local data library. Then, in cooperation with the FSC and the local volunteer fire departments, residents throughout the County were invited to a series of public meetings. At the public meetings participants shared their experiences and knowledge regarding site-specific data for emergency response; identified primary values at risk from wildfire at the local level; made location-specific recommendations for pre-fire treatment projects and assisted in the development of Wildland Urban Interface boundaries for their communities.

AGENCY PLANNING MEETING

A special CWPP agency planning meeting was held on September 9, 2019, at the Weaverville Fire Department. Various agencies' representatives, local organizations that play an integral role in community wildfire protection, and groups participating in the Fire Safe Council such as the US Forest Service, CAL FIRE, Bureau of Land Management, Natural Resources Conservation Service, county planners, county officials, and volunteer fire chiefs participated in the process. Participation was crucial to insuring that the CWPP update process would be effective and result in a plan that would successfully encompass the full range of potential uses and ensure that the CWPP continues to be a useful planning tool. At this meeting feedback and information was gathered on how the CWPP has been used, what updates would be useful in future planning, and ways to improve the availability and access to the CWPP for community planning, USFS project planning, incident management teams, grant applications, and for CAL FIRE and private landowners.

DATA COLLECTION

A data collection process began immediately to update as much information relevant to fire management in the Trinity County landscape as possible from all available sources including state and federal agencies. This involved collecting all the most current Geographical Information System (GIS) layers including updates to infrastructure, recent management activity on public lands and implemented projects on private lands. Among other sources, data were drawn from the USFS, USGS, CAL FIRE, WRTC and TCRCD archives. There has been a high degree of continued cooperation in data sharing throughout the process. Compiled data can be accessed through an ArcGIS online portal on www.tcrcd.net/fsc (to be available by March 1, 2021). For access to specific data files please contact the TCRCD.

In the 2020 CWPP Update, linear projects such as ridgetop and roadside fuelbreaks were evaluated separately from polygon (landscape treatment) projects.

COMMUNITY INPUT MEETINGS

Using the 2010 update process as a template for the 2020 community meetings, maps were produced from the collected GIS data layers to use as a basis for working with community members in a series of meetings beginning during the winter of 2019. Community meetings were hosted by the local volunteer fire departments throughout the original 5 Trinity County Fire-Safe Divisions (Down River, Middle Trinity, North Lake, South Fork, and South County). Project organizers sought to work with as many members of the Trinity County communities and

agencies as possible to gather pertinent information. The process proceeded in several phases according to the type of information concerned.

Publicity to encourage broad participation was crucial. The meetings were publicized in the local newspaper, on social media and through several press releases about the fire planning process.

At the community meetings, organizers sought to accomplish the following goals:

- 1. Discuss the history and purpose of the CWPP and describe the update process to community members.
- 2. Raise local awareness about fire hazards and risks.
- 3. Identify values at risk:

Community members worked across maps of the local area as systematically as possible to gather information from residents about wildfire hazards, resources at risk, potential hazard reduction projects and infrastructure needs. Participants noted locations of such features as housing developments, favored campgrounds, creeks supplying drinking water, power supply lines, stands of old growth forest or endangered species habitat. Once an initial list of all values had been compiled, the values were consolidated into project areas to link them into the surrounding terrain and facilitate the process of recommending treatments. For example, there could be a whole series of values at risk in and around a particular housing development. The development and its immediate surroundings became one project area that might later have several recommended activities associated with it.

4. Identify and locate on the maps recommendations for landscape vegetation treatments to protect values at risk:

After project areas had been identified, recommendations for treatments to protect these values at risk were made for each area. Recommendations might include fuels reduction work (thinning from below, ladder fuels reduction, controlled burning) or shaded fuelbreak construction. In some cases, as when an historic cabin is situated in a remote location, it was recognized that protection would not likely be feasible.

5. Raise awareness and knowledge about Wildland Urban Interfaces (WUI).

At each community meeting an overview of the Fire Safe effort was presented; then participants reviewed maps of the local terrain developed from the GIS. Participants added missing information by marking reference points on the maps and explaining issues of concern to organizers who recorded the information. Typical data gathered included water sources, inadequate bridges, road maintenance needs, and locked gates. After each meeting the new data was entered into the GIS database and maps were produced reflecting the new input.



WILDLAND URBAN INTERFACE (WUI)

The 2010 update developed a Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) definition for Trinity County that is still current for the 2020 update. The Trinity County WUI builds off of compiling the BLM, USFS, and CAL FIRE WUI boundaries and incorporating Trinity County specific rules. Below, each agency used the following description to determine their WUI boundary:

BLM

BLM defined their Wildland/Urban Interface (WUI) areas using housing density. The areas they developed are those falling within the Redding Field Office area of responsibility as follows:

- Primary WUI areas 0.5-mile buffer of housing density layer.
- Secondary WUI areas 1.5-mile buffer of housing density layer.

The housing density layer was created using Urban/Rural Areas based on Census Block data from 2000 US Census. Rural is fewer than 20 Housing Units per acre. Urban is greater than or equal to 20 Housing Units per acre.

USFS

SHASTA-TRINITY NATIONAL FOREST

Using GIS, the Shasta-Trinity National Forest developed their WUI which created four zones, using the following methodology:

- Improvement Zone (Zone 1):
 - Plotted currently known structures
- Reduced Fuel Zone (Zone 2):
 - Create a 100-foot buffer around each structure which aligns with PRC 4291
- Defense Zone (Zone 3):
 - Create 0.25 mile buffer around each structure
- Threat Zone (Zone 4):
 - Create 1.5 mile buffer around each structure. The Districts were then asked to either extend or reduced the 1.5 mile buffer to a place on the map that made sense (regarding fire movement, topography, weather, suppression areas such as roads, rivers and ridges, etc.).

CAL FIRE

Utilizing a Geographic Information System (GIS) approach, CAL FIRE used three main components in the assessment of threat from wildland fire to Wildland-Urban Interface areas:

- Ranking fuel hazard.
- Assessing the probability of wildland fire.
- Defining areas of suitable housing density that lead to Wildland-Urban Interface fire protection strategy situations.

These three independent components were then combined using GIS to identify wildland interface areas threatened by wildfire. In addition to mapping these areas, a list of communities was developed that summarized a non-spatial assessment of key areas within the vicinity of significant threat from wildland fire. A subset of that list was made that includes those communities that have a significant fire threat from nearby federal lands. A buffer distance of 1.5 miles was used in the analysis to define "nearby" federal lands. More information regarding this approach was previously available at http://frap.fire.ca.gov/projects/wui/525_CA_wui_analysis.pdf.

TRINITY COUNTY METHODOLOGY

In the previous CWPP updates the three agency-developed WUI boundaries were combined using the outer most reaches of each. In 2010, these maps here presented to the communities for adaptation according to local community knowledge. Community members expanded and reduced the draft WUI boundaries to incorporate the following:

- Geography (used major ridges and roads as boundary lines)
- Climate conditions
- Weather patterns
- Local areas of concern such as watersheds that provide municipal water sources
- Ingress/egress (communities decided to include a buffer around major arterial roads because in many areas the major roads are the only ingress and egress available. The definition of *major arterial* roads as defined by the Trinity County Road Department was used.)

The WUI boundary information gathered at community meetings was digitized into a GIS database and refined WUI boundary maps were created for review during the revision and review/comment period.

In the 2020 CWPP Update, the TCRCD expanded the 2010 WUI boundaries to account for population growth and residential expansion. For this update, BLM, CAL FIRE, and USFS WUI boundaries were again reviewed. It was identified that there were a few stand-alone sites that the USFS had designated WUI that were not contiguous the rest of the WUI polygon, those sites were removed. Then all the verified residences were added to the map and buffered by ½ a mile. When three or more of the ½ mile buffers overlapped then those areas were added to the WUI boundary. Then the buffers were smoothed out to the nearest ridge, road, or river. Roads were then analyzed to be included into the WUI to provide safe ingress and egress to residential areas disconnected from WUI boundaries.

Intermix is defined as an area with more than one house within 40 acres. Address points were buffered by 40 acres, if the buffers overlapped they were included in the Intermix. These areas were then buffered out to the nearest ridge, road, or river to develop the intermix footprint.

WUI Caveats

- The WUI boundary as defined by the community is to be used for assistance in planning for forest health related projects and fire safe activities.
- The WUI boundary is based on current conditions and land use and should be updated as needed, using community input and the most current science.
- The boundary is not intended to be used for community planning such as zoning, building codes and subdivision requests.

- The boundary is not intended to be used by insurance agencies as a means for determining rates.
- Embedded in the boundary is the concept of 4 different zones as defined by Jack Cohen's work with an emphasis on the first 0.25 miles.
- These zones are based on infrastructure densities as described in a variety of papers and other recent CWPPs. These will be included in the literature cited.
- The boundaries take advantage of topographic features and include community water sources identified by communities.
- The purpose of the WUI is to help guide identification of fuels reduction/forest health projects, their design and prioritization, recognizing that there always will be more work to do than available funding.
- The WUI boundary needs to be "elastic" with periodic reviews and updates (a 5-year interval was recommended).
- The WUI boundary is simply a spatially explicit tool to help visualize potential strategies for reducing wildfire risk to communities and to track progress in meeting the goals of the CWPP.

The following description is important to keep in mind when discussing the WUI boundary:

The Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) is a general term derived from the Healthy Forest Restoration Act (HFRA) to describe the area where homes and wildland meet. The Federal Register (Region 5. January 4, 2001. Vol. 66, No.3. Pp. 751-754) defines the WUI as the "line, area, or zone where structures and other human development meet or intermingle with undeveloped wildland or vegetative fuel." The WUI boundaries established in this Trinity County CWPP update were developed to help prioritize project planning and funding for pre-fire (prevention) projects to help aid in protecting communities at risk for wildfire. These boundaries and the progress in implementing priority projects will be reviewed regularly, and no less frequently than every 5 years, and the WUI boundaries amended as needed to reflect changes in conditions (e.g. new land development, recent wildfires, and new infrastructure such as community water systems).






V. PROJECT PRIORITIZATION

The 2020 CWPP Update methodology diverges from previous updates as it moves to analyze the landscape and prioritize projects objectively through GIS processing techniques. This process assigns scores of 1-5 (1 having the highest priority) for the following categories: for a proposed project's proximity to the WUI, recent fire history, proximity to essential infrastructure, past project continuity, wildfire hazard potential, and for projects along roadways an ingress/egress score. The score for each of these factors is summed to generate the final score for each project and determine the priority rank. Projects with lower overall scores will have a higher priority.

WUI PROXIMITY

The proximity of a proposed project is considered to prioritize projects within the WUI. Projects were analyzed and given points ranging from 1 to 5 depending on their relative position and proximity to the WUI.

- 1: > 75% in WUI
- 2: 51- 75% in WUI
- 3: 26- 50% in WUI
- 4: 1- 24% in WUI
- 5: Outside of WUI



FIRE HISTORY

Fire history of an area can reflect the overall fuel loading but also indicate what the relative fire return interval is within an area. For this analysis areas without recent fire history are given priority. Fire history was determined using FRAP 2020 Fire Perimeter data, and each project was ranked, with the most recent fires being given the lowest score. The ranking scheme is as follows:

- 1: Prior to 2000 or no history
- 2: 2000-2004
- 3: 2005- 2009
- 4: 2010- 2014
- 5: 2015- 2020

Methods:

Linear projects were buffered to a distance based on community recommendations. When no buffer was assigned, a default of 150' was applied. *Linear projects were* assigned the lowest number fire history ranking when the line was adjacent to (2) different fire history categories.

When a *linear* or *polygon* project is located within one or more categories, the project was assigned a rank according to the majority of the project. For example, if 40% of a project lands inside the most recent August Complex boundary with a rank of 5, and 60% lands outside of the boundary with a rank of 3, then the project is assigned the lower rank of "3".

WILDFIRE HAZARD POTENTIAL (WHP) DATASET

The Landfire Wildfire Hazard Potential dataset is incorporated to address the concern of high severity fire impacts from wildfires. This dataset is utilized to prioritize projects that would treat areas with higher severe fire potentials. *"To create the 2018 version, spatial estimates of wildfire likelihood and intensity were generated in 2016 with the Large Fire Simulation system (FSim), as well as spatial fuels and vegetation data from LANDFIRE 2012 and point locations of fire occurrence from FPA (ca. 1992 – 2013). With these datasets as inputs, we produced an index of WHP for all of the conterminous United States at 270-meter resolution. We present the final WHP map as five WHP classes of very low, low, moderate, high, and very high. On its own, WHP is not an explicit map of wildfire threat or risk, but when paired with spatial data depicting highly valued resources and assets such as structures or powerlines, it can*

approximate relative wildfire risk to those specific resources and assets. WHP is also not a forecast wildfire or outlook for any particular season, as it does not include any information on current or forecasted weather or fuel moisture conditions. It is instead intended for long-term strategic fuels management" (USDA Forest Service, Fire Modeling Institute).



Trinity County Community Wildfire Protection Plan Update 2020

Methods:

From the original WHP raster, which was classified into the above 7 values: very low, low, moderate, high, and very high WHP classes, the re-classified system (below) was developed to meet our project prioritization ranking objectives. The WHP data Re-Classification was further divided into 5 ranks for consistency with this analysis, and the median score was used for the final ranking.

- 1: Very High Priority
- 2: High Priority
- 3: Moderate Priority
- 4: Low & Very Low Priority



INFRASTRUCTURE PROXIMITY (IP)

Protecting the County's infrastructure before a wildfire will support safety, communication, and supply chain during wildfire and improve the County's resiliency after the wildfire.

Proximity to infrastructure was ranked as follows:

- 1: > 75% Within 100' of buffer
- 2: > 75% Within 100-500' of buffer
- 3: > 75% Within 1000' of buffer
- 4: > 75% Within 1 mile of buffer
- 5: > 1 mile

Methods:

Buffers of 100 ft., 500 ft., 1000 ft., and 1 mile were applied to the public infrastructure points layer. For areas that fell into multiple buffer ranges, an average of the two rankings was chosen, with a higher weighting going towards the lowest score. When there is an equal area that falls into more than one buffer, the lowest rank was chosen. Some of the difficulties with this method, are that a project area might only have a



small portion in the lowest ranking area (for example), but the purpose of the project is to protect infrastructure nearby.

The following infrastructure types were included in this analysis:

Airport	Employer	Lookout	School
Airport Safe Zone Water	Fire Truck Accessible Bridge	Park	Senior Center
Ambulance	Fisheries	Police Stations	Shopping
Bridge	Culvert- Ford	Pond	Fire Station
Campgrounds	Gas Pipeline	Ponds for Helicopter	Tank Trap
Cell Tower	Gate	Post Office	Telephone
Cemetery	Guard Station	Power Lines	Telephone Poles
Church	Health Clinic	Power Poles	Water Drafting
Cistern	Helicopter Pad	Public Building	Water Facilities
Clean Air Facility	Helispot Access	Pump Houses	Water Feature
College	Hospital	Rest Area	Water Pump
Community Center	Hydrants	Restaurant	Water Source
Dams	Law Enforcement	Repeater	Water Standpipe
Dry Water Source	Library	Restrooms	Water Tank
Electrical Substations	Lodging	Safety Zone	

PROJECT CONTINUITY

The goal for this factor is to prioritize projects returning to a recently treated area for continued maintenance, or to build upon existing projects, and also to prioritize starting new project areas. Proposed projects will receive the following score when they fall within a past project boundary using the following criteria:

1: Within ¼ mile of a project completed within the last 5 years or is in a new project area

2: Within ½ mile of a project completed within the last 5 years

3: Within ¼ mile of a project completed over 5 years ago4: Within ½ mile of a project completed over 5 years ago

Proposed projects are assigned the lowest project area value.



Previous Project Types

Biomass Removal	Jackpot Burning	Road Work
Broadcast Burn	Landscape Thinning	Roadside Fuelbreak
Burn Piles	Machine Pile Burn	Roadside Fuels Management
Chemical	Maintain Transition Zone	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak
Chipping	Mastication	Safety Zone Access
Commercial Thin/ Biomass Removal	Mastication/Mowing	Shaded Fuelbreak
Compacting/Crushing of Fuels	Noxious Weeds	Thin/Prune/Pile
Control of Understory Vegetation	Precommercial Thin / Understory Veg. Control	Thinning
Defensible Space	Prescribed Burn	Thinning and Hand Piling Hazardous Fuels
Escape Route	Prescribed Fire	Tree/ Veg Removal
Evacuation Route	Prune/Thin/Chip	Vegetation Management
Fuelbreak	Pruning	Understory
Fuels Management	Pruning to Raise Canopy Height and Discourage Crown Fire	Underburn
Fuel Reduction	Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Upland- Heavy Thin / Light Pruning
Hand Pile	Ridgetop Shaded Fuelbreak	Wildfire - Fuels Benefit
Hand Thinning/Chipping	Riparian- Light Thin / Heavy Pruning	Wildlife Habitat
Impassable Road	Road Maintenance - Vegetation Reduction	Yarding- Fuels Removal

INGRESS/EGRESS RANKING

The ingress/egress ranking is derived from the CAL FIRE Shasta-Trinity Unit roads inventory for Trinity County and only applies to *linear* road projects.

Factors with the most complete datasets that were included in this assessment were:

Fuel Rating Flame Length Slope Class Road Position on Slope Length of Road Residences Access Road Rating Road Speed

Methods:

For scoring the total CAL FIRE factors sum was converted to a 5-point scale. Roads lacking data from the CAL FIRE surveys were ranked as a 3. When a *linear* project involves multiple roads, then a score based on an average rank was used.



The linear projects which are not ingress/ egress are ranked using the same scale as *polygon* projects.

As an example:

SF016 is located on both:	
Sunshine Meadow Way	Barker Valley Rd
3,800 ft.	11,423 ft
Rank= 4	Rank= 1
25%	75%
3,800/15,223ft= 25%	11,423/ 15,223= 75%

Sunshine Meadow Way & Barker Valley Rd Rank total= 5

3,800+ 11,423 ft= 15,223 ft .75*1= .75 .25*4= 1 1+ .75= 1.75 Total rank= <u>1.75= 2</u>

PUBLIC SCORE

Community members were also given the opportunity to rank the project identified at the public meetings. The scores assigned by the community members are presented in this report but not included in the overall ranking of a projects. This allows land managers to identify projects that may have high community support, but may not have been identified as a priority in the GIS ranking process.

Community members were asked to identify their top 5 projects. Projects will receive scores based on the following criteria, and then the total number accumulated for each project is reported as the public score. The projects with larger values for public score are a higher priority to the participants of the community meetings.

- 1: Fifth Priority
- 2: Fourth Priority
- 3: Third Priority
- 4: Second Priority
- 5: First Priority





Figure 10. Community members identify projects and essential infrastructure in Burnt Ranch (top) and Mad River (left) during 2020 *CWPP Update* public meetings.

VI. RESULTS - SUMMARIES AND RECOMMENDATIONS

For the 2020 CWPP update, community meetings were held in Trinity Center for the North Lake Division; Weaverville, Lewiston, Junction City and Douglas City for the Middle-Trinity Division; Big Flat, Burnt Ranch, Hawkins Bar, and Salyer for the Down River Division; Hayfork and Hyampom for the South Fork Division; and Zenia/Kettenpom and Mad River for the South County Division.

The purpose of the community meetings was to:

- Provide educational information to residents about living in a wildfire environment;
- Explain the Community Wildfire Protection Plan (CWPP) process; and
- Gather information about wildfire hazards, resources at risk, fire protection resources, and potential hazard reduction projects.

The intended outcomes were:

- The identification of local concerns and hazard mitigation projects on maps that could be used for capturing future project implementation funding;
- A basic understanding of fire safety and defensible space so that residents would be equipped to implement these concepts on their property and throughout their community;
- A basic understanding of local fire protection services available in each community; and
- Broad-based community participation in the CWPP process.

The results from the community meetings are summarized in this section. For each meeting the values at risk and activities proposed to protect these values are presented. A table displaying the ranking of proposed projects follows.

Several general recommendations emerged from the meetings that are relevant to the County as a whole. These additional recommendations for Fire Safe activities are also discussed.

A substantial amount of fire planning information was gathered at these workshops. The community identified fire planning features such as areas proposed for fuels reduction treatment. Protection resources were digitized into a GIS database. Furthermore, an online portal will include projects identified in the 2010, 2015, and 2020 CWPP processes as well as fire history, past projects, and future projects.

During the 2010 CWPP update process, a second set of workshops was held bringing community members back together to review the GIS maps generated from community input at the first workshop. Due to the stable WUI boundaries and the limited amount of new projects updated to the maps, a second set of community workshops was not held during the 2015 and 2020 CWPP update process. A survey was conducted in 2020 which provided the opportunity for individuals to review the proposed projects and add any additional items.

2020 prioritization factors defined in the previous section include WUI Score, Fire History, infrastructure proximity (IP), wildfire hazard potential (WHP), ingress/egress rank (IE), project continuity (PC) and public score. In the 2020 *CWPP Update*, linear projects such as ridgetop and roadside fuelbreaks were evaluated separately from polygon (landscape treatment) projects.

Roadside shaded fuelbreaks are defined for the use of everyday roads that can function as evacuation routes and may also need roadwork. Escape routes are community identified alternative routes to evacuate the community or

neighborhoods that will need roadside shaded fuelbreaks and roadwork with maintenance to be considered accessible evacuation routes.

If community is listed as All then it is determined that all communities in Trinity County can benefit from the proposed project. If community is listed as multiple it is determined that those projects will benefit multiple of the neighboring communities.

Projects for the South County area were developed in 2019 and have not reflected changes in community input since the 2020 August Complex Fire. The August Complex was factored in to the fire history ranking system.

NORTH LAKE



Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	IE	РС	Cumulative Score	Public Score
1	NL033	S Derrick Flat Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Coffee Creek	1	1	1	1	3	1	8	0
2	NL004	SR 3	Roadside Fuelbreak	Multiple	1	1	1	2	3	1	9	4
2	NL020	Long Canyon Rd Private	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Covington Mill	1	1	3	2	1	1	9	8
2	NL034	Coffee Creek Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Coffee Creek	1	1	1	2	3	1	9	0
5	NL019	Long Canyon Rd SPI Develop Shaded Fuelbreak	Maintenance/ Re- Open	Covington Mill	1	1	3	3	1	1	10	9
5	NL028	East Fork Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Trinity Center	1	1	1	3	3	1	10	0
5	NL032	Carville Loop	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Coffee Creek	1	1	1	2	4	1	10	0
5	MT031	Trinity Dam Blvd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Lewiston	1	1	2	2	3	1	10	6
9	NL009	Trinity Center Knolls	Roadside Fuelbreak	Trinity Center	1	1	2	1	3	3	11	0
9	NL021	SPI Rd off of Long Canyon Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Covington Mill	1	1	4	2	1	2	11	3
9	NL025	Greenhorn Dr	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Covington Mill	1	1	1	3	2	3	11	3
9	NL030	Eagle Creek Loop / SR 3	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Coffee Creek	1	1	1	2	5	1	11	0
9	NL035	Lake Forest Dr	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Covington Mill	1	1	1	3	4	1	11	0
14	NL008	Trinity Meadows	Roadside Fuelbreak	Trinity Center	1	1	2	2	3	3	12	10
14	NL014	Mule Creek Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Covington Mill	1	1	4	2	3	1	12	6

Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	IE	PC	Cumulative Score	Public Score
14	NL016	SPI Roads in Trinity Center Fire District	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Trinity Center	1	1	1	3	5	1	12	0
14	NL024	Connect Greenhorn Dr to SR 3	Escape Route	Covington Mill	1	1	2	3	2	3	12	4
14	NL026	Strope Creek Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Covington Mill	1	1	2	4	3	1	12	0
14	NL029	SR 3	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Multiple	1	1	1	3	5	1	12	0
14	NL031	Eagle Creek Loop	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Trinity Center	1	1	1	3	5	1	12	0
21	NL002	Private Timber Land Rd	Escape Route	Trinity Center	1	1	2	3	3	4	14	16
21	NL013	Shaded Fuelbreak around School/Water Tanks	Maintenance/ Re- Open	Trinity Center	1	1	2	3	3	4	14	2
21	NL022	USFS Long Caynon Trailhead Rd 35N10	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Covington Mill	1	1	4	2	3	3	14	0
21	NL023	Hayward Flat Rd	Defensible Space	Minersville	1	1	4	2	3	3	14	0
21	NL027	East Side Rd	Escape Route	Trinity Center	1	1	1	5	5	1	14	0
26	NL005	Airport Rd	Landscape Thinning	Trinity Center	1	1	4	3	3	3	15	20
26	MT030	Buckeye Ridge	Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Lewiston	2	1	4	2	3	3	15	0



Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	PC	Cumulative Score	Public Score
1	NL029	Carville Loop	Defensible space	Coffee Creek	1	1	1	1	1	5	0
2	NL021	Coffee Creek Village	Defensible Space	Coffee Creek	1	1	1	2	1	6	0
3	NL001	Trinity Center Village	Defensible Space	Trinity Center	1	1	1	3	1	7	26
3	NL018	Bowerman Boat Ramp	Safety Zone Access	Covington Mill	1	1	1	3	1	7	5
3	NL028	East Fork Rd	Defensible space	Trinity Center	1	1	1	3	1	7	0
6	NL003	Private Timber Land along Swift Creek	Landscape Thinning	Trinity Center	1	1	1	2	3	8	9
6	NL011	Trinity Center Knolls	Defensible Space	Trinity Center	1	1	2	1	3	8	13
6	NL015	Summer Camping Ridgeville Rd	Landscape Thinning	Minersville	1	1	3	2	1	8	8
9	NL010	Hatchet Creek	Shaded Fuelbreak	Trinity Center	1	1	2	2	3	9	0
9	NL012	River Bar Safety Zone	Safety Zone Access	Trinity Center	1	1	1	3	3	9	1
9	NL017	Hwy 3 and Guy Covington Dr.	Fuel Reduction	Covington Mill	1	1	2	4	1	9	9
12	NL006	KOA to Swift Creek	Landscape Thinning	Trinity Center	1	1	3	3	3	11	9
13	NL007	Between Airport and Trinity Lake	Fuelbreak	Trinity Center	1	1	3	4	3	12	15

MIDDLE TRINITY



Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	IE	РС	Cumulative Score	Public Score
1	MT060	Reo Ln/Bridge Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	1	2	1	1	7	0
1	MT110	B Bar K Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	1	2	1	1	7	2
3	MT008	Senger Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Junction City	1	1	2	2	1	1	8	3
3	MT015	Red Hill Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Junction City	1	1	1	1	3	1	8	9
3	MT059	Poker Bar Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	2	2	1	1	8	45
3	MT059A	Poker Bar Rd Widening	Road Work	Weaverville	1	1	2	2	1	1	8	0
3	MT059B	Poker Bar Rd Annual Dead Tree Removal	Maintenance/ Re- Open	Douglas City	1	1	2	2	1	1	8	35
3	MT084	Vitzthum Gulch Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	1	1	3	1	8	5
3	MT089	Deerlick Springs Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	2	2	1	1	8	3
3	MT095	Blanchard Flad Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	1	3	1	1	8	0
3	MT104	Little Browns Creek Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Weaverville	1	1	1	1	3	1	8	26
3	MT118	Indian Creek Rd E	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	1	1	3	1	8	0
3	SF019	SR3	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Multiple	1	1	1	1	3	1	8	11
14	MT007	Lake Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Junction City	1	1	2	1	3	1	9	13
14	MT013	USFS on Red Hill Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Junction City	1	1	1	1	4	1	9	19
14	MT068B	Shady Creek Ln	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	2	1	3	1	9	0

Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	IE	РС	Cumulative Score	Public Score
14	MT074	Steiner Flat Road	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	3	2	1	1	9	10
14	MT107	East Weaver Creek Rd	Defensible Space	Weaverville	1	1	1	2	3	1	9	17
14	MT114	Oregon St: Back road	Escape Route	Weaverville	1	2	1	1	3	1	9	12
20	MT026	Rush Creek Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Lewiston	1	1	1	1	3	3	10	14
20	MT031	Trinity Dam Blvd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Lewiston	1	1	2	2	3	1	10	6
20	MT036A	First Left Rd	Roadside Fuelbreak	Junction City	1	1	2	2	3	1	10	0
20	MT053	Browns Mountain Rd	Escape Route	Multiple	1	1	2	2	3	1	10	2
20	MT063	Old Poker Bar Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	2	1	4	1	10	0
20	MT114B	Oregon St: In Weaverville	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Weaverville	1	1	1	3	3	1	10	0
20	MT116	Reading Creek Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	1	3	3	1	10	0
27	MT034A	Deadwood Road	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Lewiston	1	1	3	2	3	1	11	3
27	MT061	White Ball Rd	Escape Route	Lewiston	1	1	2	3	3	1	11	26
27	MT077	Marshall Ranch Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	2	2	4	1	11	8
27	MT085	Indian Creek Ranch Rd and Wilson Mountain Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	2	3	3	1	11	0
27	MT098	Tucker Hill Road	Escape Route	Weaverville	1	1	3	1	4	1	11	3
32	MT005	Canyon Creek Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Junction City	1	5	1	1	3	1	12	14
32	MT054	Old Highway to Poker Bar Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	4	2	3	1	12	7

Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	IE	РС	Cumulative Score	Public Score
32	MT056	Ridge east of Trinity House Gulch	Ridgetop Shaded Fuelbreak	Lewiston	1	1	4	2	3	1	12	0
32	MT079	Ridge on Tucker Hill Rd	Ridgetop Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	4	1	3	2	12	6
32	MT080	SR299	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	3	3	3	1	12	0
32	MT081A	Steel Bridge Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	1	3	5	1	12	0
32	MT091	Deerlick Springs Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	3	5	1	1	12	0
32	MT093	Indian Creek Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	3	5	1	1	12	0
32	MT108	Democrat Gulch 4	Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Weaverville	1	1	4	1	4	1	12	9
41	MT009A	Hocker Meadow Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Junction City	1	5	2	1	3	1	13	16
41	MT042	Old Fuelbreak off of Lewiston Rd	Maintenance/ Re- Open	Lewiston	1	1	3	1	3	4	13	5
41	MT046	BLM Lewiston Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Lewiston	1	1	4	3	3	1	13	7
41	MT049	Trinity Dam Blvd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Lewiston	1	3	1	2	5	1	13	0
41	MT052	Lewiston Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Lewiston	1	1	2	5	3	1	13	1
41	MT092	Indian Creek Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	4	3	3	1	13	0
41	MT114A	Oregon St: Housing	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Weaverville	1	2	2	4	3	1	13	12
48	MT022	Soldier Creek Rd	Escape Route	Junction City	1	2	4	1	3	3	14	0
48	MT034	Deadwood Road	Escape Route	Lewiston	1	5	2	2	3	1	14	3

Middle Trinity Linear Projects

Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	IE	PC	Cumulative Score	Public Score
48	MT087	Reading Creek Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	4	4	3	1	14	0
51	MT006	Power House Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Junction City	1	5	1	4	3	1	15	1
51	MT030	Buckeye Ridge	Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Lewiston	2	1	4	2	3	3	15	0
51	MT050	Rush Creek Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Lewiston	1	1	1	5	3	4	15	0
54	MT004	Rich Gulch to Valdor Gulch Spur	Ridgetop Shaded Fuelbreak	Junction City	1	5	4	3	3	1	17	0
55	MT014	Chimariko Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Junction City	1	5	4	1	4	3	18	0
56	MT055	Lewiston Turnpike	Escape Route	Lewiston	4	5	3	1	5	1	19	0



Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	PC	Cumulative Score	Public Score
1	MT090	Deerlick Springs Rd	Defensible Space	Douglas City	1	1	1	1	1	5	0
1	MT094	Eagle Ln	Defensible Space	Douglas City	1	1	1	1	1	5	0
1	MT117B	Canyon Creek Hazard Tree Removal	Other	Junction City	1	1	1	1	1	5	0
4	MT037	BLM at Poker Bar Rd	Fuelbreak	Multiple	1	1	1	2	1	6	5
4	MT058A	Frendship Dr Old Airstrip	Safety Zone Access	Lewiston	1	1	1	2	1	6	0
4	MT076	Tucker Hill Community	Landscape Thinning	Douglas City	1	1	2	1	1	6	9
4	MT081	Steel Bridge Rd	Defensible Space	Douglas City	1	1	2	1	1	6	0
4	MT082	Top of the Grade	Defensible Space	Douglas City	1	1	2	1	1	6	0
9	MT020	Junction City	Noxious weeds	Junction City	1	3	1	1	1	7	3
9	MT029	Rush Creek Estates	Defensible Space	Weaverville	1	1	1	3	1	7	0
9	MT035	SR3 and Rush Creek	Landscape Thinning	Weaverville	1	1	3	1	1	7	0
9	MT038	Lewiston Rd Absentee Owner Parcels	Landscape Thinning	Lewiston	1	1	2	2	1	7	0
9	MT041	Bureau of Reclamation on Trinity Dam Blvd	Landscape Thinning	Lewiston	1	1	2	2	1	7	5
9	MT043	Mountain View Dr Ridge	Landscape Thinning	Lewiston	1	1	2	2	1	7	0
9	MT062	Poker Bar Rd	Defensible Space	Douglas City	1	1	2	2	1	7	2
9	MT065	Powerline Acces Rd Ridgeline above Poker Bar Rd	Ridgetop Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	3	1	1	7	9
9	MT066	Reo Ln	Defensible Space	Douglas City	1	1	1	3	1	7	0
9	MT068	Shady Creek Ln	Defensible Space	Douglas City	1	1	2	2	1	7	1
9	MT078	SR3 Dead Tree Removal	Other	Douglas City	1	1	1	3	1	7	8
9	MT083	Campground above Poplar Ln	Landscape Thinning	Douglas City	1	1	3	1	1	7	0

Middle Trinity Polygon Projects

Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	РС	Cumulative Score	Public Score
9	MT096	China Gulch Rd Stand	Landscape Thinning	Douglas City	1	1	3	1	1	7	0
9	MT105	Garden Gulch Riparian Cooridor to Sydney Gulch	Defensible Space	Weaverville	1	1	1	3	1	7	41
9	MT116	Weaverville Defensible Space	Defensible space	Weaverville	1	1	1	3	1	7	0
9	MT120	Fuelbreak around Rocky Rd and Quail Dr	Shaded Fuelbreak	Weaverville	1	1	2	2	1	7	24
25	MT001	Grasshopper Flat	Shaded Fuelbreak	Junction City	1	1	3	2	1	8	0
25	MT003	Junction City VFD on Canyon Creek Rd	Fuelbreak	Junction City	1	1	2	1	3	8	0
25	MT036	First Left Rd	Defensible Space	Weaverville	1	1	3	2	1	8	0
25	MT044	Lewiston Road Grasslands	Prescribed Burn	Lewiston	1	1	2	3	1	8	4
25	MT071	Douglas City School	Landscape Thinning	Douglas City	1	1	2	2	2	8	20
25	MT072	Reading Creek Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	4	1	1	8	0
25	MT075	Between SR299 and Tucker Hill Rd	Landscape Thinning	Douglas City	1	1	2	3	1	8	9
25	MT097	Panwauket Gulch Stand	Wildlife Habitat	Douglas City	1	1	3	2	1	8	0
25	MT101	Weaverville Elementary	Landscape Thinning	Weaverville	1	1	1	4	1	8	5
25	MT106	North of Ransom Rd Remove Slash	Landscape Thinning	Weaverville	1	1	4	1	1	8	0
25	MT117A	Indian Creek Fuelbreak	Fuelbreak	Douglas City	2	1	2	1	2	8	0
36	MT028	Lost Bridge Rd Neighborhood	Fuelbreak	Lewiston	1	1	3	1	3	9	0
36	MT032	BLM on Rush Creek Rd	Prescribed Burn	Lewiston	1	1	2	1	4	9	10
36	MT033	Musser Hill Ridge	Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Multiple	1	1	4	2	1	9	23
36	MT039	Goose Ranch Rd Landscape Treatment	Landscape Thinning	Lewiston	1	1	2	2	3	9	5
36	MT048	Ridge at Poker Bar Rd	Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	4	2	1	9	0

Middle Trinity Polygon Projects

Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	PC	Cumulative Score	Public Score
36	MT058	Friendship Dr	Defensible Space	Lewiston	1	1	1	2	4	9	0
36	MT064	BLM along Old Highway	Landscape Thinning	Multiple	1	1	4	2	1	9	18
36	MT103	Ridge northeast of Weaverville	Ridgetop Shaded Fuelbreak	Weaverville	1	1	3	3	1	9	8
36	MT112	Ridge at Mill Street	Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Weaverville	1	1	4	2	1	9	15
45	MT047	Ridge at Lewiston Rd	Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Lewiston	1	1	4	3	1	10	2
45	MT057	Ridge east of China Gulch	Ridgetop Shaded Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	3	3	2	10	6
45	MT069	Douglas City Campground	Landscape Thinning	Douglas City	1	1	4	3	1	10	17
45	MT070	Steiner Flat Campground	Landscape Thinning	Douglas City	1	1	4	3	1	10	21
45	MT073	Douglas City School Ridgetop Fuebreak	Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	4	3	1	10	7
45	MT086	Tucker Hill/Lorenz Ranch Dead Tree Removal	Other	Douglas City	1	1	4	3	1	10	5
45	MT088	Ridge above Smith Ln	Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Douglas City	1	1	3	4	1	10	0
45	MT121	Democrat Ridge oak stand	Landscape Thinning	Weaverville	1	1	5	2	1	10	6
53	MT010	Helena Fire Dozer Line	Maintenance/ Re- Open	Junction City	1	3	4	2	1	11	23
53	MT011	Helena Fire Dozer Line (2)	Maintenance/ Re- Open	Junction City	1	3	4	2	1	11	10
53	MT016	Lime Point Rd	Safety Zone Access	Junction City	1	5	1	1	3	11	0
53	MT040	Trinity Dam Blvd and Bear Creek Trail	Landscape Thinning	Lewiston	1	1	3	5	1	11	3
53	MT051	Lewiston Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Lewiston	1	3	1	3	3	11	0
53	MT115	Thinning at Trinco Rd	Landscape Thinning	Weaverville	1	2	4	3	1	11	22
59	MT009	Hocker Meadow Rd and Ridge	Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Junction City	1	4	4	2	1	12	16

Middle Trinity Polygon Projects

Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	PC	Cumulative Score	Public Score
59	MT017	Chimariko Rd north to Hocker Meadow Rd	Landscape Thinning	Junction City	1	5	4	1	1	12	8
59	MT018	Glenninson Gap Ridge	Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Junction City	1	3	4	3	1	12	0
59	MT027	Rush Creek Rd Dead Tree Removal	Other	Lewiston	1	3	1	4	3	12	1
59	MT045	Carr Fire Fuelbreak	Maintenance/ Re- Open	Lewiston	3	2	4	2	1	12	4
64	MT012	McKinney Gulch	Landscape Thinning	Junction City	1	3	4	2	3	13	31
64	MT021	Bear Springs Rd Neighborhood Fuelbreak	Maintenance/ Re- Open	Junction City	1	5	3	3	1	13	2
64	MT023	Soldier Creek Ridge	Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Junction City	1	2	4	3	3	13	6
64	MT027A	Rush Creek Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Lewiston	1	1	4	4	3	13	0
68	MT019	Jamie Ln Handline	Maintenance/ Re- Open	Junction City	1	5	4	3	3	16	0
68	MT025	Helena fire dozer line	Maintenance/ Re- Open	Junction City	1	3	5	4	3	16	0

DOWN RIVER



	Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	IE	РС	Cumulative Score	Public Score
1		DR012	Pattison Ranch Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Big Bar	1	1	1	2	1	1	7	28
2		DR021	Denny Rd (Bridge to Wallen Ranch Rd)	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Hawkins Bar	1	1	2	2	2	1	9	15
2		DR022	SuzyQ Rd	Roadside Fuelbreak	Hawkins Bar	1	1	1	2	3	1	9	8
2		DR027	Ammon Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Hawkins Bar	1	1	1	2	3	1	9	0
2		DR047	South Fork Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Salyer	1	1	1	1	1	4	9	14
2		DR050	Oden Flat	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Salyer	1	1	1	2	3	1	9	4
2		DR052	Connect Peach Orchard Rd to Sharber Creek Rd	Road Work	Salyer	1	1	2	1	3	1	9	13
2		DR058	USFS Rd Between Pattison Ranch and Big Bar Dump	Fuel Reduction	Downriver	1	1	2	1	3	1	9	0
9		DR024	Madrone Ln	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Hawkins Bar	1	1	2	2	3	1	10	6
9		DR044	Campbell Ridge Rd	Escape Route	Salyer	1	1	2	2	3	1	10	3
11		DR006	Friedrich Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Cedar Flat	1	1	2	1	3	3	11	1
11		DR023	Fisher Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Hawkins Bar	1	1	2	2	4	1	11	3
11		DR028	Jakes Mailbox Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Hawkins Bar	1	1	1	3	3	2	11	2
14		DR004	Moss Old Mill Rd to Underwood Mountain Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Burnt Ranch	1	1	4	2	3	1	12	1
14		DR005	SR299	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	All	1	3	1	1	5	1	12	18

Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	IE	РС	Cumulative Score	Public Score
14	DR008	Hennessey Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Burnt Ranch	1	1	2	1	3	4	12	9
14	DR010	Underwood Mountain Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Burnt Ranch	1	1	2	2	3	3	12	0
14	DR015	Clement Rd	Prescribed Burn	Big Bar	1	3	1	1	5	1	12	8
14	DR049	USFS 06N31	Ridgetop Shaded Fuelbreak	Hawkins Bar	1	1	4	2	3	1	12	6
14	DR056	Wheel Gulch	Fuel Reduction	Big Flat	1	1	1	3	5	1	12	0
21	DR002	Hennessey to SR299	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Burnt Ranch	1	1	2	1	5	3	13	14
21	DR009	Burnt Ranch School Rd and Pony Express Wy	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Burnt Ranch	1	1	1	3	4	3	13	7
23	DR041	Fountain Ranch Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Salyer	1	1	2	5	4	1	14	38
23	DR051	Wood Ln	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Salyer	1	1	3	3	3	3	14	0
25	DR032	Wallen Ranch Rd to USFS 07N04 - 07N02 Escape Route	Escape Route	Hawkins Bar	2	1	4	2	3	3	15	7
26	DR001	Hennessey to Underwood	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Burnt Ranch	1	1	3	2	5	4	16	7
27	DR010A	Underwood Mountain Rd	Escape Route	Multiple	1	5	5	1	5	1	18	0



Down River Polygon Projects

Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	PC	Cumulative Score	Public Score
1	DR013	Pattison Ranch Neighborhood	Defensible Space	Big Bar	1	1	1	2	1	6	16
1	DR029	Trinity Village Undeveloped Lots	Fuel Reduction	Hawkins Bar	1	1	1	2	1	6	3
1	DR042	Salyer Community Border	Fuelbreak	Salyer	1	1	1	2	1	6	39
4	DR007	USFS around Burnt Ranch	Landscape Thinning	Burnt Ranch	1	1	1	1	3	7	9
4	DR053	Salyer Loop Rd to Cherry Tree Ln	Prescribed Burn	Salyer	1	1	2	2	1	7	7
6	DR011	Private Land in core of Burnt Ranch	Defensible Space	Burnt Ranch	1	1	1	2	3	8	14
6	DR026	Ridgetop at Hawkins Bar	Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Hawkins Bar	1	1	3	2	1	8	4
8	DR003	SR299 to Hennessey Rd	Shaded Fuelbreak	Burnt Ranch	1	1	4	2	1	9	3
8	DR011A	Swede Creek Rd	Defensible Space	Del Loma	1	3	1	1	3	9	13
8	DR046	Salyer Old Fuel Break	Maintenance/ Re- Open	Salyer	1	1	2	4	1	9	8
11	DR045	07N15 Roadside Shaded Fuel Break	Maintenance/ Re- Open	Salyer	1	1	4	1	3	10	12
11	DR057	SR299 Historical	Fuelbreak	Big Bar	1	3	1	4	1	10	
13	DR018	Old USFS Fuel Break	Maintenance/ Re- Open	Big Bar	1	3	1	5	1	11	1
14	DR019	Ridgetop at Big Bar	Ridgetop Fuelbreak	Big Bar	1	3	4	2	3	13	2
15	DR017	Old USFS Fuel Break	Maintenance/ Re- Open	Big Bar	1	3	4	4	3	15	2
16	DR016	Trinity Alps Wilderness WUI Transition	Fuel Reduction	Big Bar	3	3	5	3		17	17

SOUTH FORK



Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	IE	PC	Cumulative Score	Public Score
1	SF008	CO 311 / Lower S Fork Rd.	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Hyampom	1	1	1	1	3	1	8	0
1	SF019	SR3	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Multiple	1	1	1	1	3	1	8	11
1	SF015	300 ft ridgetop fuel break	Ridgetop Shaded Fuelbreak	Hayfork	1	1	4	1		1	8	0
4	SF005	Corral Bottom Rd	Escape Route	Multiple	1	3	1	1	3	1	10	0
4	SF022	SR3	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Multiple	1	1	3	1	3	1	10	6
4	SF027	Highland Dr	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Hayfork	1	1	1	5	1	1	10	0
4	SF044	N Meadow/ Sunshine Meadow	Road Work	Hayfork	1	1	1	3	3	1	10	0
8	SF037	Brady Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Hayfork	1	1	2	5	1	1	11	0
8	SC031	Hastings Tie Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Mad River	1	1	1	2	3	3	11	12
10	SF007	CO 301 / Hyampom Rd.	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Multiple	1	1	1	2	4	3	12	0
10	SF025	Wildwood Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Mulitple	1	4	2	3	1	1	12	0
12	SF011	02N10 / Indian Valley Rd.	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Post Mountain	1	1	4	2	2	3	13	0
12	SF016	Baker Valley Rd	Roadside Fuelbreak	Hayfork	1	1	3	3	2	3	13	13
12	SF017	SR 3	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Mulitple	1	4	1	3	3	1	13	1
12	SF018	Baker Creek Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Hayfork	1	1	4	3	1	3	13	4
12	SF024	Rattlesnake Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Peanut	1	1	4	1	3	3	13	2
12	SF031	McAlexander Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Hayfork	1	1	4	3	3	1	13	12

Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	IE	РС	Cumulative Score	Public Score
12	SF039	North Vista Ln	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Hayfork	1	1	4	3	3	1	13	0
19	SF010	Pelletreau Ridge Rd. / South Fork Mountain Rd.	Escape Route	Hyampom	1	5	3	1	3	1	14	0
19	SF028	SR3	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Hayfork	1	5	1	3	3	1	14	2
19	SF035	Morgan Hill Rd	Fuel Reduction	Hayfork	1	4	3	2	3	1	14	0
19	MT022	Soldier Creek Rd	Escape Route	Junction City	1	2	4	1	3	3	14	0
23	SF003	St. John Rd	Roadside Fuelbreak	Hyampom	1	1	3	4	3	3	15	0
23	SF048	Limedyke Lo Rd.	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Hyampom	1	1	4	3	5	1	15	0
25	SF023	USFS 30N61	Ridgetop Shaded Fuelbreak	Peanut	1	5	4	2	3	1	16	3
26	SF009	03N14 / Kerlin Creek Rd.	Escape Route	Hyampom	1	5	5	1	3	3	18	0
26	DR010A	Underwood Mountain Rd	Escape Route	Multiple	1	5	5	1	5	1	18	0


South Fork Polygon Projects

Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	РС	Cumulative Score	Public Score
1	SF040	Reservoir Rd	Defensible Space	Hayfork	1	1	2	1	1	7	0
2	SF004	Pvt rd off USFS 03N10	Landscape Thinning	Hyampom	1	1	4	1	1	8	0
2	SF021	Summit Creek Rd	Defensible Space	Hayfork	1	1	2	3	1	8	0
2	SF030	McAlexander Rd / Shangri La Ln	Defensible Space	Hayfork	1	1	2	3	1	8	12
2	SF032	Hayfork High School	Landscape Thinning	Hayfork	1	1	1	4	1	8	0
6	SF014	BLM in Duncan Gulch	Landscape Thinning	Hayfork	1	1	3	3	1	9	3
7	SF002	Corral Bottom	Landscape Thinning	Hyampom	1	1	3	4	1	10	0
7	SF026	Duncan Ranch R	Prescribed Burn	Hayfork	1	3	1	2	3	10	5
9	SF012	St. Johns Rd	Landscape Thinning	Hyampom	1	4	4	1	1	11	0
9	SF020	Baker Creek Private Timber	Landscape Thinning	Hayfork	1	1	3	3	3	11	18
9	SF038	Mogran Hill Rd	Defensible Space	Hayfork	1	1	3	2	4	11	0
9	SF042	USFS near Cedar Gulch Rd	Shaded Fuelbreak	Hayfork	1	1	4	2	3	11	4
13	SF029	USFS Cedar Gulch	Landscape Thinning	Hayfork	1	2	4	2	3	12	0
13	SF041	Bean Gulch Rd	Defensible Space	Hayfork	1	1	4	3	3	12	9
13	SF047	Oak Ridge Rd	Landscape Thinning	Hayfork	5	3	1	2	1	12	0
16	SF033	Fox Ln And Cooperative Wy	Defensible Space	Hayfork	1	1	2	2	3	13	0
16	SF034	Connect Morgan Hill Rd to East Rd	Escape Route	Hayfork	1	1	4	3	1	13	3

SOUTH COUNTY

Projects for the South County area were developed in 2019 and have not reflected changes in community input since the 2020 August Complex Fire. The August Complex was factored in to the fire history ranking system.



Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	IE	PC	Cumulative Score	Public Score
1	SC004A	Ruth-Zenia to Zenia- Lake Mountain Rd	Roadside Fuelbreak	Kettenpom	1	1	1	1	5	1	10	8
2	SC020	Van Duzen Rd	Roadside Fuelbreak	Hettenshaw Valley	1	1	4	3	1	1	11	6
2	SC031	Hastings Tie Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Mad River	1	1	1	2	3	3	11	12
4	SC010	Peak Rd to Alder Point Bridge	Escape Route	Kettenpom	1	1	2	4	3	1	12	1
4	SC015A	SC01 USFS Fuels reduction	Roadside Fuelbreak	Ruth	2	3	1	2	3	1	12	0
4	SC016	Zenia Lake Mountain Rd to Covelo	Ridgetop Shaded Fuelbreak	Kettenpom	1	1	1	3	5	1	12	4
4	SC017	502 to Hettenshaw Valley	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Hettenshaw Valley	1	1	1	3	5	1	12	0
4	SC018	515 East & West	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Hettenshaw Valley	1	1	1	3	5	1	12	0
9	SC014	Bluff Creek Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Kettenpom	1	1	4	3	3	1	13	0
9	SC022	SR36 East	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Mad River	1	1	1	4	3	3	13	0
9	SC026	Connect USFS 01S40 to 95th St	Escape Route	Mad River	1	1	4	3	3	1	13	5
12	SC040	Mad River Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Ruth	1	4	1	2	5	1	14	16
13	SC015H	SC01 USFS Fuels reduction	Roadside Fuelbreak	Kettenpom	3	5	1	2	3	1	15	0
13	SC023	SR36 West	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Mad River	4	1	1	5	3	1	15	18
13	SC030	County Line Creek Rd	Landscape Thinning	Mad River	3	1	4	3	3	1	15	14
16	SC002	USFS 04S39	Road Work	Kettenpom	1	5	5	2	3	1	17	0
16	SC005	USFS 04S33	Ridgetop Shaded Fuelbreak	Kettenpom	1	5	4	3	3	1	17	0
16	SC013	USFS 04S15	Ridgetop Shaded Fuelbreak	Kettenpom	1	5	4	3	3	1	17	0

South County Linear Projects

Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	IE	РС	Cumulative Score	Public Score
16	SC033	Hale Creek Road network	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Mad River	1	5	4	3	3	1	17	0
20	SC001A	USFS 05532	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Kettenpom	1	5	5	3	3	1	18	0
20	SC004	Zenia - Lake Mountain Rd	Roadside Fuelbreak	Kettenpom	1	4	4	5	3	1	18	0
20	SC008	USFS 05S30	Roadside Shaded Fuelbreak	Kettenpom	1	5	5	3	3	1	18	4
20	SC035	Mad River Ridge	Roadside Fuelbreak	Hettenshaw Valley	1	5	5	2	3	2	18	13
24	SC001	USFS 05S32	Road Work	Kettenpom	1	5	5	4	3	1	19	15
24	SC012	Long Ridge Rd	Ridgetop Shaded Fuelbreak	Kettenpom	1	5	4	3	5	1	19	0
24	SC015D	SC01 USFS Fuels reduction	Roadside Fuelbreak	Kettenpom	2	5	5	3	3	1	19	0
24	SC032	Connect County Line Creek Rd to Humboldt 01N44	Escape Route	Mad River	5	1	4	5	3	1	19	9
24	SC036	USFS Ridge	Roadside Fuelbreak	Hettenshaw Valley	1	5	4	3	5	1	19	4
29	SC015F	SC01 USFS Fuels reduction	Roadside Fuelbreak	Hettenshaw Valley	4	5	4	4	3	1	21	0
30	SC015C	SC01 USFS Fuels reduction	Roadside Fuelbreak	Mad River	4	5	5	2	3	3	22	0



South County Polygon Projects

Rank	Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	Community	WUI Score	Fire History	IP	WHP	PC	Cumulative Score	Public Score
1	SC029	Lamb Crk to 94th and to Ruth Dam	Landscape Thinning	Mad River	1	1	1	3	1	7	25
2	SC025	USFS near Van Duzen	Landscape Thinning	Mad River	1	1	1	2	3	8	5
3	SC028	USFS land County Line Creek Rd	Landscape Thinning	Mad River	1	1	4	2	1	9	10
4	SC021	Van Duzen Rd	Defensible Space	Mad River	1	1	1	4	3	10	15
5	SC003	USFS land at Long Ridge Rd	Landscape Thinning	Kettenpom	1	5	4	3	1	14	15
6	SC027	Picket Peak	Landscape Thinning	Ruth	1	5	4	2	3	15	2
6	SC038	502 Logging Slash Fuels	Landscape Thinning	Hettenshaw Valley	1	5	4	4	1	15	3

VII. COUNTY-WIDE ISSUES AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The following recommendations made in the 2010 community meetings are relevant to the fire management process throughout the County in 2015 and beyond:

- Work to integrate fire management planning explicitly into the National Forest Management Act mandated planning process on the national forests and across jurisdictional boundaries to allow for landscape-scale prioritization and implementation of pre-fire treatments. Agencies should also look at areas of concern based on their land use plans.
- Immediate areas for coordination include:
 - a. Linking the Six Rivers and Shasta-Trinity National Forests' Road Management Plans to ensure that roads critical for access in case of fire are being maintained. Further, encourage cooperation among all jurisdictions along any and all roadsides to reduce fuels;
 - b. Identifying and publicizing, for each community, safety zones in case of catastrophic fire; and
 - c. Coordinating between fire prevention programs or personnel and land management organizations, and local VFDs to address wildfire issues.
- Coordinate with staff on the Mad River and Lower Trinity Ranger District, Six Rivers National Forest on fuels reduction treatments. Projects should take advantage of topographic features, including ridgeline shaded fuelbreaks, especially those with multiple access points.
- Considerable expense has gone into plantations, which have been neglected. Existing plantations are both important resources and, if untended, fire hazards. Consider proactive thinning and fuels reduction of plantations during their period of greatest vulnerability to fire.
- Continue to expand volunteer fire departments' capacities throughout the county.
- Work with volunteer fire departments to increase needed items such as fire protection equipment, community outreach tools, and firefighting water sources (and ensure access).
- Ensure that the increased amount of fuel resulting from fire, windfall, insect and disease outbreaks, and other events, should be used as a factor to focus priority fuel treatments.

Building upon the recommendations of the *CWPP Update 2010*, the following recommendations were added in 2015:

- Prescribed Fire- controlled burning has become an important tool in Trinity County over the last 5 years.
- General Plan- In November 2014, Trinity County adopted an update to the Safety Element. Wildfire and Structures were addressed in the plan and this CWPP reinforces the Safety Element including the following recommendations:
 - Fire Hazard Planning reviewed and conducted by the Trinity County Fire Safe Council and Trinity County Fire Chiefs' Association.

- Coordinating with CAL FIRE in the development of policies regarding wildfire and review of the CWPP.
- Use of Local Area Advisors as a resource during fire incidents.
- Protecting and maintaining transportation network is critical to public safety.
- Continue to use the national Firewise Program to educate and improve community awareness of what every community can do to make communities more fire adapted.
- Hazard Mitigation Plan- Table 4.2 Trinity County Mitigation Actions of the Hazard Mitigation Plan needs to be implemented. Wildfire specific actions include the following:
 - Centralized GIS mapping of water sources for firefighting, structure location, bridges, and all county infrastructure and services necessary for emergency response.
 - Improve watershed and forest health through actions to reduce illegal water diversions, fire hazards and unsustainable agricultural practices.
 - Identify, develop and secure funding to bring existing repeater sites up to current standards.
- Fire Borrowing- Trinity County should encourage Congress to take two actions. First, Congress must allow the firefighting spending to be scored as an adjustment to discretionary spending caps in bad fire seasons, in keeping with the treatment of other federal disaster response activities, instead of transferring resources from non-fire programs, including timber sale and fuels reduction projects, research and monitoring efforts, recreation and wildlife activities, and trail and visitor facility maintenance. Second, Congress must do this in a way that does not harm the agencies' ability to invest in fuels management and forest and rangeland restoration to make these lands less vulnerable and more resilient to catastrophic wildfire. Both of these actions are consistent with how the nation treats other natural disasters (June 7, 2016 Trinity County Board of Supervisors' letter to U.S. Senator Maria Cantwell).
- Build Local Capacity- There is a need to increase local capacity for integrated forest and wildfire management. Federal and state agencies need to work with local organizations to increase the capacity to reduce hazardous fuels. Examples include:
 - Long-term service contracts with federal and state agencies for fuels reduction that supports the development of a skilled workforce.
 - Contracting rules that allow for the local agencies to participate in wildfire suppression activities without penalizing project work.
- Trinity County Collaborative Group- Support the Trinity County Collaborative Group's (TCCG's) efforts to serve as an inclusive and successful natural resources, land management and economic development advisory group that supports safe and vibrant communities, thriving economies, and ecological resilience, through sustainable resource use and stewardship practices.

The following recommendations were made during the CWPP 2020 Update:

• Post Fire Resources – as the size and destruction of wildfires increase across California it is more pertinent than ever to prepare and educate the public about post fire clean-up actions and local government on available resources. Topics of special concern include, but are not limited to, hazard tree removal, water

quality, hazardous waste clean-up, restoration of essential infrastructure, and erosion control. Local entities should continue to develop capacity to support the County's actions on private lands and support agencies' actions on public lands.

- Strategically-placed Landscape Area Treatments continue to utilize and develop more accurate data sets to predict where shaded fuelbreaks may provide the most effective impact on the landscape to prevent catastrophic wildfires and promote healthy prescribed burning.
- Shortening Burning Windows continue to demonstrate the value of air curtain burners to extend the burning window and remove fuels from the landscape. Partner with CAL FIRE Shasta-Trinity Unit to bring an air curtain burner for projects in North Lake, Middle Trinity, Down River, and South Fork divisions of Trinity County. Continue partnership with CAL FIRE Humboldt – Del Norte Unit to utilize air curtain burner in the South County division. Explore the opportunities to use air curtain burners in post fire clean-up.
- Increase Pace and Scale support increasing pace and scale of fuel treatments throughout the County
 through multiagency and multijurisdictional projects. Increase education efforts to promote the use of
 prescribed fire throughout Trinity County as an effective tool in managing the landscape. Land managers
 should educate landowners on the benefits of the smoke and risks associated with prescribed fire in
 contrast to wildfire.
- Maintenance continue to educate landowners on the importance of maintaining fuel reduction projects to extend the lifetime of the benefits. Work to develop funding for FSC Coordinator to work one-on-one with neighborhoods to develop safety zones and fuel reduction plans. Continue to seek funding and opportunities to revisit project areas to maintain and expand the treated area.
- Forest Health Management continue to utilize the most current scientific research to develop projects and drive land management decisions. Support the development of holistic projects addressing both watershed and forest health issues in a changing climate to encourage water storage and forest resilience.

ONGOING EXTERNAL EFFORTS

Hyampom Fire Safe Council has partnered with the Shasta-Trinity National Forest to develop the Hyampom Fire Resilience Project.

Trinity County Fire Safe Council supports the Hyampom Fire Safe Council in their efforts to develop fuel reduction projects with the Shasta-Trinity National Forest.

Trinity Public Utilities District is proposing to expand their power line right of ways to 130 feet.

Trinity County is going through a General Plan Update.

Trinity County Collaborative Group

Data for project treatments can be found within the <u>CWPP online portal</u> or <u>www.tcrcd.net/fsc/</u>.

VIII. CONCLUSIONS AND NEXT STEPS

The results of this effort to capture recommendations from Trinity County communities and professional fire managers can be used by the FSC to provide the basis for a fire management plan for the Trinity County landscape. This draft report will be circulated throughout the county for comments that will be incorporated in the final report. The Fire Safe Council will present this report to the Fire Chiefs' Association, the Trinity County Board of Supervisors and CAL FIRE. This is a living document and will be updated to incorporate new strategies and policies addressing the development of fire safe landscapes.

Over the last 5 years California has continually been victim to increasing severity of wildfires in burn severity, rate of spread, acres burned, and property destroyed. The wildfire fire season is approximately one month longer than fire seasons in the 1990s due to changing climates producing drought and high wind conditions. The USFS, BLM, CAL FIRE, and local entities such as the TCRCD and WRTC have worked to increase pace and scale of the fuel reduction treatments in Trinity County. It is time for similar efforts on the neighborhood scale to increase pace and scale of individuals creating and maintaining fire adapted communities.

The Trinity County Board of Supervisors may find this report valuable as it seeks to ensure that the voice of the county is heard in public land managers' decisions about fire management. Further it is hoped that the USFS and BLM will find this report useful as they gather community input to their fire planning process. The community recommendations may assist the Trinity County Planning Department in future updates to the County's General Plan. The Fire Safe Council, including the TCRCD and the WRTC, will continue with its fire management coordination efforts using the results to systematically promote implementation of the projects recommended by the community participants. Further, it will encourage public land management agencies to carry out the necessary pre-work such as National Environmental Protection Act (NEPA) Environmental Assessments and California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Environmental Compliance required before many recommended activities can be carried out. Trinity County VFDs and the FSC may also find the information helpful in the next phases of county level coordination of emergency response such as sharing equipment to implement projects.

This CWPP update also will help inform and the Trinity County Collaborative Group as it continues its landscapescale efforts to increase the pace and scale of work being done on forested lands. In support the mission of the TCCG, to create and recommend for implementation, natural resources, land management and economic development strategies driven by local values and goals that:

- acknowledge the interrelation between community, economy, and ecology,
- provide solutions for sustainable and resilient economic and ecological practices and projects,
- foster a culture of stewardship,
- improve our community, economy, and ecology, and
- create a better place for future generations.

Wildfire Protection 2019 Community Meetings In Trinity County

Big Bar/Del Loma/Big Flat		And and an other states of the	Trade And
Hawkins Bar	Oct. 14	5:30pm	Volunteer Fire Hall
Salyer	Oct. 15	6:30pm	Volunteer Fire Hall
Burnt Ranch	Oct. 16	5:30pm	Burnt Ranch School
Trinity Center	Oct. 17	6:00pm	IOOF Hall
Zenia/Kettenpom	Oct. 22	4:00pm	Volunteer Fire Hall
Mad River	Oct. 24	6:00pm	Community Hall
Douglas City	Nov. 6	6:30pm	Volunteer Fire Hall
Lewiston	Nov. 7	3:30pm	Volunteer Fire Hall
Junction City	Dec. 3	6:00pm	North Fork Grange
Hayfork	Dec. 9	6:00pm	TC Fairgrounds
Weaverville	Dec. 10	6:00pm	Volunteer Fire Hall
and the second s		State of the second	

The Trinity County Resource Conservation District and Fire Safe Council are updating the Community Wildfire Protection Plan which identifies and prioritizes hazardous fuel reduction projects throughout Trinity County.





For more information contact Amelia info@tcrcd.net or (530)623-6004 ext 4 This project is funded by CAL FIRE.

EXAMPLE OF COMMUNITY MEETING PRESENTATION









Community Wildfire Protection Plan Process

- 1. Community Meetings
- Prioritization Process and Mapping
- Write the CWPP
- 4. Review
- 5. Finalize

How prepared is your community for a wildfire?

- DO YOU HAVE FUEL BREAKS AROUND THE COMMUNITY Y
- DO THE MAJORITY OF THE PROPERTIES MEET STATE CLEARANCE REGULATIONS?
- DO YOU HAVE AN ALERT PLAN THAT DOES NOT NEED POWER?



















Rate your community from 1-5 for wildfire preparedness.

1 LEAST PREPARED 5 MOST PREPARED









Evening Stations Activity

1. Neighborhood Groups

- 2. You will travel around to the stations.
- * Mapping future fuel reduction projects.
- . Mapping new water sources and values at risk.
- Enrollment in CodeRED and emergency preparedness.
- Local preparedness discussions with local VFD.
- At the end, each participant will vote on the top 5 fuel reduction projects in order of importance established at this meeting.

Thank you! Questions?



SURVEY RESPONSES

Trinity County Community Wildfire Protection Plan 2020 Update Survey https://docs.google.com/forms/d/III6IR0XRiO2t4xm2ex39L2mGWBi92...



The responses to the question above are not included to preserve the privacy of our participants.







This content is neither created nor endorsed by Google. Report Abuse - Terms of Service - Privacy Policy



PRIORITIZATION PRESENTATION







Community Wildfire Protection Projects

- Overview of meeting process
- · Mapping project priorities · Identifying new assets at risk
- Types of projects that accomplish community protection objectives Defensible space - home ignition zone
 - Shaded fuelbreaks roads and ridges
 - Strategic landscape thinning
 - · Prescribed fire
- Maintenance of fuels reduction treatments











D	lown Riv								
-	Il fane	Project Table	WLI Practerity	Infrastructure Provinity		Hazard Potential	1.	Score	
1000	South Fork Rd	Roadinde Shaded Fuel Break							
04012	Patthee Ranch Rd	Relignop Shaded Fuel Break		4	4	2			12
14056	Friedrich Rd	Ridgetop-Shaded Fuel Break	τ.	2			3		- 3
104012	Hennessey Rd Enac. Ro	Relightop Shaded. Fuel desuit		2		,	-3		- 3
11080	Denny Rd Fuel briesk/bridge to Cost Creek Rd	Readside Shaded Fuel Break		1		2	7		3
99077	SurryQ Rd	Roadolde Fuel Break	1		1	2	3		3
08077	Ammon Rd	Roaduide Shaded Fuel Break	,	1		7			3
04050	Oden Flat Area	Roadside Shaded Fuel Small	,			,	3		3
340957	Peach Tree to Sharp Creek	Evacuation Route		,					

Down River												
Veject D	IC Name	Project Type	M.S. Provinsity	nitestructure Previosity		wildfen Hanard Panantai	1	Score				
10147	South Fork Rd	Roaduide Shaded Fuel Nreek						5				
M012	Pattien Ranch Rd	Ridge top Shaded Fiel Streak				2			2			
1000	Freedrich Rd	Ridgetop Shaled Fiel fewali		2				-				
-			1.1		1	1			1			
9621	Denny Rd Puel break/bridge to Coon Creek Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuel Brook		,	T		2		1			
	Surry Q Rd	Roadskie Fuel Braak			1	2	2		3			
#827	Annua M	Roadolde Shaded Fuel Break	,			2	2		3			
#050	Oden Flat Area	Roaduide Shaded Fuel Break				7	7		7			
AUS2	Peach Tree to Shatp Creek	Evecuation Route		1	1	1	3		2			



	D		
- WI II	Provi	murv.	
	Proxi		

WUI Proximity:

Projects were analyzed and given points ranging from 1 to 5 depending on their relative position & proximity.

1: > 75% in WUI 2: 51-75% in WUI 3: 26-50% in WUI

4: 1-24% in WUI

5: Out of WUI

D	lown Riv	er							
miject 10	10 Harre	Product Type	WUB Procession	Infrastructure Provinsity	-	Hatard Hatard	1	Score. Tetals	
24047	South Fack Rd	Readolde Shaded Fuel Break				÷	1		
10012	Pattien Ranch Rd	Ridgetop Shaded Fuel Break		¥		7			2
1000	Friedrich Rd	Ridgetop Shaded Fuel Break		2		÷			3
mode	Hennessey Rd Cvac Rs	Ridgetop Shaded Fuel Break		2		÷			3
08031	Denny Rd Fuel break/bridge to Coor Creek Rd	Readside Shaded Fuel Break	1	2	÷	2	2		3
100073	SurvQ Rd	Readvide Fuel Break	1	1	1	3	3		3
98027	Ammon Rd	Readyide Shaded Fuel Dreak		1	1	2	3		3
04054	Oden Plat Area	Roadside Shaded Fuel Break	.1	1	1	2	3		3
24052	Peach The to Sharp Creak	Evacuation Route	-	2	1	T.	3		1

Infrastructure Proximity	
Proximity to infrastructure was ranked as follows:	
1, +75% within 100° of buffer 2, +75% within 100-500° of buffer	per la constante de
3. +75% within 1000° of buffer 4. +75% within 1 mile of buffer	20
5. +1 mile	20
Infrastructure include: airports, ambulances, bridges, celi towers, clean air facilities, community centers, electrical substations, gas pipeline, guard	2m
stations, fire station, health clinic, helicopter pads, hospital, law	10
enforcement, police stations, post office, power lines, public buildings, safety zones, schools, senior centers	10
Additions: national and state historic infrastructure, water district. Infrastructure and gas stations and stores	

vn Riv	er					ſ		
	Power Taxa	Wa	Infrastructure Residute	-	Hazant	1		
		- Providence		Committy of	Concession of the local division of the loca			
Fark Rd	Fuel Break	1	1			1	5	1
un Ranch Ral	Ridgetop Shaded Fuel Break		1	1	2	4		2
rich Rd	Radgetup Shaded Fuel Break	1	2		1	3		3
ectary Rd Evoc	Ridgetop Shaded Fuel Smak		2			3		2
/bridge to	Readside Shaded Fuel Break					2		,
Rd	Rostskie Fuel Break		fall of	1		3		
Status .	Readside Shaded Fuel Break		1	1	1	3		1
Flat Arma	Roadside Shaded Fiail Break				2	3		3
Thee to Sharp								
	n Pork Rd was Ranch Rd exch Rd excep Rd Evoc y Rd Poel Creek Rd 2 Rd creek Rd 2 Rd con Rd Plat Area	Readition Shaded Fault Real Religning Shaded min Ranch Rid Religning Shaded Fault Real Religning Shaded Fault Break Religning Shaded Fault Break Religning Shaded Fault Break Readitide Shaded Fault Break	me Procest Type With Provint of Provintion Studied Provint Rid Provintion Studied In Provintion Provintion Studied International Provintion Studied Provintion Provintion Studied Provintion Provintion Provintion (Create Rid Provintion Studied Create Rid Provintion Studied Create Rid Provintion Provinti Provintion Provintion	WLX Infrastruction Project Type Products Staded Provide Read- ProvideRead- ProvideRead- ProvideRead- ProvideRead- Provi	WAA Indiffusionation File mme Propert Type Presidently Presidently Presidently Roadcodo Shaded 1 1 1 Providently Presidently Presidently <t< td=""><td>Wild Infrastructure me Project Type Wild/fee Readood Shaded Testimuty Presidently Park Rd Free Type Testimuty Readood Shaded 1 1 T Park Rd Free Type 1 1 T Readood Shaded 1 1 T T Readood Shaded 1 1 T Z Readood Shaded 1 1 T Z Readingtong Shaded 1 1 T Z Readood Shaded 1 2 T T Park Rdgtong Shaded 1 2 T T Ratary Rdgtong Shaded 1 2 T T Vid Fuel Readood Shaded 1 1 T Vid Fuel Readood Shaded 1 1 2 Vid Fuel Readood Shaded 1 1 2 Readood Shaded 1 1 1 2 Readood Shaded 1</td><td>WA: Inflastructure Pre- me Wildfire Ingress Readous Diaded 1 T Filters Pre- membring Pre- train Transmission Pre- membring Pre- membring Wildfire Ingress Pre- membring Pre-</td><td>Wild Indication Wild Indication Procession <</td></t<>	Wild Infrastructure me Project Type Wild/fee Readood Shaded Testimuty Presidently Park Rd Free Type Testimuty Readood Shaded 1 1 T Park Rd Free Type 1 1 T Readood Shaded 1 1 T T Readood Shaded 1 1 T Z Readood Shaded 1 1 T Z Readingtong Shaded 1 1 T Z Readood Shaded 1 2 T T Park Rdgtong Shaded 1 2 T T Ratary Rdgtong Shaded 1 2 T T Vid Fuel Readood Shaded 1 1 T Vid Fuel Readood Shaded 1 1 2 Vid Fuel Readood Shaded 1 1 2 Readood Shaded 1 1 1 2 Readood Shaded 1	WA: Inflastructure Pre- me Wildfire Ingress Readous Diaded 1 T Filters Pre- membring Pre- train Transmission Pre- membring Pre- membring Wildfire Ingress Pre- membring Pre-	Wild Indication Wild Indication Procession <



D	own Riv	er	Down River											
mact ID	10 Nate	Project Type	WLS Proceedings	Infrastructure Residently	Fire many	Nation Record	ingres / Ignes	Score I Totals						
9647	South Fark Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuel Break						5						
19012	Pattison Ranch Rd	Ridgstop Shaded Fuel Break	1		1	2			1					
14006	Friedrich Rd	Ridgetop Shaded Fuel Break		2					1					
1000	Hennessey Rd Evac Rt	Relatop Shaded Fuel freuk		2			3		3					
10025	Denny Rd Fuel break/bridge to Coon Creek Rd	Roadskie Shaded	1	2			,							
8072	SecyC M	Roadiate Fuel. Brauk		1		2								
98027	Ammon Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuel Break	T.	14	1	2	1		7					
10050	Oden Flat Area	Roadside Shaded Fuel Break	1		1	2	3		3					
08052	Peach Tree to Sharp Crock	Evacuation Route		7			1		1					



Down River									
hoject 10	0 Name	Project Type	WLS Presidentry	Infrastructure Providently	/se missory	Haterd Potentia	1	Scare!	
19047	South Fark Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuel Areak		14	14			5	
14012	Pattern Ranch Rd	Ridgetop Shaded		1					2
19005	Friedrich Rd	Ridgetop Shaded Fuel Steak		2			3		3
2008	Hennessey Rd Evac At	Ridgetop Shaded Fuel Break	Ť	- 2	1	14	3		3
19021	Denny Rd Puel break/bridge to Coop Creak Rd	Roadside Shaded		2	,	2			1
98872	ServQ Rd	Roadskie Fuel. Break	T	1	1		3		3
18027	Amman Rd	Roadside Shaded Fuel Break		1	1	2	3		3
0000	Oden Flat Area	Roadtide Shaded . Fuel Break		1	1	2	1		1
94052	Peach Tree to Sharp Creek	Evacuation Route		7			1		. 7



D	own River								
Project ID	ID Name	Project Type	WU8 Providentity	Infrastructure Proximity		Wildfire Hazard Potential	1	Score	Privett Rack
08047	South Fork Rd	Roadside Shaded	4	191	1	191		5	1
04012	Pattinon Ranch Rd	Ridgetop Shaded		1	1	2			2
1R006	Friedrich Rd	Ridgetop Shaded Fuel Break	4	2	1	1	3		3
ROOM	Hennessey Rd Evac Rt	Ridgetop Shaded Fuel Break	4	2	1	14			2
04021	Denny Rd Puel break/bridge to Coon Creek Rd	Roadtride Shaded	4	2	4	2	2		,
38072	SurvQ Rd	Roadskie Fuel Break		1	1	2	3		3
38027	Ammon Rd	Roadside Shaded	14	1	1	2	3		3
08050	Oden Flat Area	Roadside Shaded	4	4	,	2	3		3
04052	Peach Time to Sharp Creak		4	2	4	14	1	1	1





Down River									
Togect	ID Harns	Tere	Project Type	WLS.	Infrastructure Provinsity	Tim.	Wildfire Hazard	Scare	Princip
	USPS around Bernt		Frencribed						
moer	Ranch		Burn Roadside Shaded Fuel	1	- 1: 			•	
R007	Hernessey is 299	Fuel Break	Break.	1	7		1	5	2
-	Private Land in core of Burnt Ranch		Defensible Space	1	1	1	2		2
-	Pattison Ranch Rd Community		De ferratole Space		1	1	7		2
8079	Trinty Village Undeveloped lots		Tree / Veg removal	1	1	1	2		2
	Salyer Community border		Fuel Break						



















Additional Projects? Comments?

Complete a survey: https://forms.gle//CesTWgPazYTTHW37

Email or call Amelia: afleitz@tcrcd.net 530-623-6004 x 208



APPENDIX B – DISTRIBUTED EDUCATIONAL MATERIALS

OUTSIDE 🖪 🖻 🖾 🗹

Design/Construction

- (For new Wildland Urban Leterface Construction or Remobile) Use ignition resistant construction (effective January 1, 2008) for mellorauf assemblies, gutters, vents, desks, exterior walls, exterior windows.
- G Enclose the anderside of exves, balanties and above ground docks with fire resistant materials
- Show your 100 feet Defensible Space on plot plan.
- Baild your home away from ridge tops, canyons and areas between high points of a ridge
- Consider installing residential sprinklers
- 3 Make sure that electric service lines, fore boxes and circuit breaker panels are installed and maintained per code
- Contact qualified individuals to perform electrical maintenance and repairs

2Access

- Make sure that your street name sign is visibly posted at each street intersection
- Post your house address so it is easily visible from the strort, especially at night.
- Address mashers should be at least 3 inches tall and on a contrasting background
- Identify at least two cuit routes from your neighbarbout
- Clear flammable vegetation at least 10 feet from reads and five feet from driversitys
- Q Cut back overhanging tree branches above access ronds
- 2 Construct roads that allow two-way traffic
- Make sure dead end roads, and long drive ways have turn around areas wide enough for emergency vehicles
- Design bridges to carry heavy emergency ve-
- Post clear road signs to show traffic restrictions such as dead-end rands, and weight and height. limitations

3 Roof

- Install a fire resistant roof. Contact your local fire department for current roofing requirements
- Itemore dead leaves and needles from your roof and putters
- Remove dead branches overhanging your roof and keep branches 10 feet from your chimney
- Cover your chimney outlet and stevepipe with a nonflummable screen of 1/2 inch or smaller mesh

March 2009

4 Landscape

- Create a Defensible Space of 100 fest around your home. It is required by law
- Crente a "LEAN, CLEAN and GREEN ZONE" by removing all flagamable segetation within feet immediately surrounding your home
- Then create a "REDUCED FUEL ZONE" in the remaining 70 feet or to your preperty line You have two options in this area:
 - A. Create horizontal and vertical spacing between plants. The amount of space will depend on how steep your property is and the size of your plants.
- B. Large trees do not have to be removed as long as all of the plants beneath them are removed.
- Bemove lower tree branches at least six feet from the ground
- Landscape with fire resistant plants
- Maintain all plants with regular water, and keep dead braches, leaves and needles removed.
- When clearing vegetation, use care when operating equipment such as lawampwers. One small spack may start a fire; a string trimmer is much sider

5 Yard

- 3 Stack woodpiles at boast 36 feet from all structures and remove vegetation within 10 feet of woodpiles
- C Above ground Laquetted Petroleum Gas (LP-gas) containers (500 or less water gallous) shall be located a minimum of 10 feet with respect to buildings, public ways, and int lines of adjoining property that run be built upon. - CFC 3804.3
- Benove all stacks of construction materials, gine needles, leaves and other debris from your yard
- Contact your local fire department to see if debris burning is allowed in your area; if so, obtain a burning permit and follow all local air quality restrictions

Emergency Water Supply

- Maintain an emergency water supply that meeta fire department standards through our of the
- following: · a community waterbydrant system
- a cooperative emergency storage tank with neighbors
- a minimum storage supply of 2,500 gallon on your property (like a good or pool)
- Clearly mark all emergency water sources D Create easy Erelighter access to your closest.
- entropying water source 11 If your water comes from a well, consider an
- nmergency generator to operate the pump during a power failure

California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection,

Homeowners Checklist



How To Make Your Home Fire Safe





1 Kitchen

- Keep a working fire extinguisher in the kitchen
- Maintain electric and gas stores in good operating condition
- Keep baking sode on hand to estinguish store-top grouse fires
- I Turn the handles of pets and pans away from the front of the store
- Install curtains and towel holders away from stoveburners
- Store matches and lighters out of reach of children
- 3 Make sure that electrical outlets are designed to hundle appliance loads.

2Living Room

- Install a screen in front of fireplace or wood stave
- Store the ashes from your fireplace (and harbs-cae) in a metal container and dispose of only
- when cold Clean fireplace chimneys and floes at least more a year

3 Hallway

- Install smoke detectors between living and alexp
- nu areas Test amplie detectors monthly and replace
- batteries twice a year, when clocks are changed in the spring and fall
- Replace electrical cords that do not work property, have loose connections, or are frayed

4 Bedroom

- If you sleep with the door closed, install a smoke detector in the bedroom
- D Turn off electric blunkets and other electrical appliances when not in use
- De not smoke in hed
- If you have secarity hars on your windows or doors, he sure they have an approved quick re-lease mechanism as you and your family can get out in the event of a fire.

5 Bathroom

- Disconnect appliances such as carling irons and hair dryvers when done; store in a safe location until cosl
- Keep items stack as toweds away from wall and floor heaters

6Garage

- Mount a working fire extinguisher in the garage
- Have tonis such as a shovel, hos, rake and bocket. available for use in a wildfire emergency I Install a solid door with self-closing hinges be-
- tween living areas and the garage
- Dispose of oily rags in C Underwriters Laborato-rice approved metal containers
- Store all combastibles away from ignition acurces such as water heaters.
- Disconnect electrical tools and appliances when most im case
- Allow hot tools such as glue guns and soldering irons to cool before storing
- Properly store finamable liquids in approved containers and away from ignition accress such as pilor lights.

*Disaster Preparedness

- Maintain at least a three-day supply of drinking writer, and food that does not require refrigera-tion and generally does not need cooking
- Maintain a partable radio, flashlight, emergency rooking equipment, lanterns and batteries
- Outdoor cooking appliances such as barbecues should never be taken indoors for use as benters.
- Minimizin first aid supplies to treat the injured until help arrives
- Keep a list of valuables to take with you in an emergency, if possible, store these valuables together
- For safety, securely attach all water heaters and furniture such as cabinets and besitshelves to walls
- Have a contingency plan to earbie family mem-bers to contact orch other. Eatabliat a family/ friend plane true
- Designate an emergency meeting place satside your home
- а. Practice emergency exit drills in the house (EDITH) regularly
- Make sure that all family members understand how to STOP, DROP AND ROLL of their clothes should catch fire 3

WILDFIRE IS COMING. ARE YOU...

DEFENSIBLE SPACE AND HARDENING YOUR HOME



THOUSANDS OF WILDFIRES STRIKE CALIFORNIA EVERY YEAR. IT'S NOT A MATTER OF IF YOUR HOME IS AT RISK, BUT WHEN.

ReadyForWildfire.org

PLANT AND TREE SPACING

The spacing between grass, shrubs, and trees is crucial to reduce the spread of wildfire. The spacing needed is determined by the type and size of the shrubs and trees, as well as the slope of the land. For example, a property on a steep slope with larger plant life will require greater spacing between trees and shrubs than a level property that has small, sparse vegetation.

VERTICAL SPACING

Remove all tree branches at least 6 feet from the ground.

If shrubs are under trees, additional vertical space is needed. Lack of vertical space can allow a fire to move from the ground to the shrubs to the treetops like a ladder.

FIRE-SAFE LANDSCAPING

Fire-safe landscaping isn't necessarily the same thing as a well-maintained yard. Fire-safe landscaping uses fire-resistant plants that are strategically planted to resist the spread of fire to your home.

6 FOOT MINIMUM CLEARANCE

The good news is that you don't need to spend a lot of money to make your landscape fire-safe. And fire-safe landscaping can increase your property value and conserve water while beautifying your home. For more information on fire-safe landscaping, visit: **Read yForWildfire.org/landscaping**.

MINIMUM VERTICAL SPACING BETWEEN TREES AND SHRUBS

To determine the proper vertical space between shrubs and the lowest branches of trees, use the formula below.

Example: A five-foot shrub is growing near a tree.

 $3 \times 5 = 15$ feet of clearance needed between the top of the shrub and the lowest tree branches.

MINIMUM HORIZONTAL SPACING FOR TREES AND SHRUBS

Horizontal spacing depends on the slope of the land and the height of the shrubs or trees. Check the diagrams below to determine spacing distance.



DEFENSIBLE SPACE

Creating and maintaining defensible space is essential for increasing your home's change of surviving a wildfire. It's the buffer that homeowners are required to create on their property between a structure and the plants, brush and trees or other items surrounding the structure that could catch fire. This space is needed to slow the spread of wildfire and improves the safety of firefighters defending your home.

Two zones make up the required 100 feet of defensible space:

ZONE 1-Extends 30 feet out from buildings, decks, and other structures

- 1 Remove all dead plants, grass and weeds.
- 2 Remove dead or dry leaves and pine needles. from your yard, roof and rain gutters.
- 3 Trim trees regularly to keep branches a minimum of 10 feet from other trees.
- 4 Remove dead branches that hang over your roof. And keep branches 10 feet away from your chimney.
- 5 Relocate exposed woodpiles outside of Zone 1 unless they are completely covered in a fire resistant material.
- 6 Remove or prune flammable plants and shrubs near windows.
- 7 Remove vegetation and items that could catch fire from around and under decks.
- 8 Create a separation between trees, shrubs and items that could catch fire, such as patio furniture, swing sets, etc.

ARE YOU DOING THE RIGHT THING-THE WRONG WAY?

Each year, CAL FIRE responds to hundreds of fires started by Californians using equipment the wrong way. If you live in a triemajupe Ib pera braibling must be used with extreme contion

Lawn mowers, metal-bladed trimmers, chain saws, grinders, welders, and tractors can all start a wildland fire if not used properly. Do your part to keep your community fire-sofe.

HERE'S HOW TO DO IT THE RIGHT WAY:

Mowing

Metal blades striking rocks can create sparks and start fires in dry grass. Use caution.

Spark Arresters

In wildland areas, spark arresters are required on all

- tractors, harvesters, chainsaws, weed-trimmers and mowers.
- system, spork crreaters and mower in proper working order and free of carbon buildup.
- Use the recommended grade offuel, and don't top it off.

- bortable, gasoline-bowered equipment. This includes

ZONE 2-Extends 30 to 100 feet from

10 Create horizontal spacing between shrubs and trees. (See diagram)

12 Remove fallen leaves, needles, twigs, bark,

cones, and small branches. However, they

may be permitted to a depth of 4 inches if

Create vertical spacing between grass, shrubs and trees. (See diagram)

buildings and other structures

maximum height of 4 inches

erosion control is an issue.

windy or excessively dry.

14 Protect water quality. Do not clear vegetation near waterways to bare

BOTH ZONES-0 to 100 feet from buildings and other structures

13 Mow before 10 a.m., but never when it's

soil Vegetation removal can cause soil

erosion—especially on steep slopes.

9 Cut or now annual grass down to a

Keep the exhaust



HARDENING YOUR HOME

FLYING EMBERS CAN DESTROY HOMES UP TO A MILE AHEAD OF A WILDFIRE. PREPARE (HARDEN) YOUR HOME NOW BEFORE FIRE STARTS.

SOME THINGS YOU CAN DO TO HARDEN YOUR HOME:

Roof: Your roof is the most vulnerable part of your home. Homes with wood or shingle roofs are at high risk of being destroyed during a wildfire.

with ayour root of teroor with materials such as composition, metal or tile Black any spaces to prevent embers from entering and starting a fire.

Vents: Vents on homes create

- Cover all vent openings with 1/8-inch to 1/4-inch metal mesh. Do not use fiberalass or plastic mesh because they can melt and
- cornices with baffles to

Eaves and Soffits: Eaves and soffits should be protected with ignitionresistant or non-combustible materials

Windows: Heat from a wildfine can cause windows to break even before the home walls with ignition-resis ignites. This allows burning embers to enter and start fires inside. Single-paned and large windows are particularly at risk.

- Install dual-paned windows with one cane of tempered a ass
- Consider limiting the size and number of windows that face large areas of no itoteper

Decks: Surfaces within 10 feet of the building should be built with ignition-resistant. non-combustible, or other approved materials.

 Remove all combustible items from underneath your dack.

Exterior Walls: Wood

products such as boards. panels or shingles are common siding materials. However, they are combustible and not acad choices for fire-prone areas.

walls with ignition-resistant building materials, such as stucco, fiber or cement siding, fire-retardant-treated wood, or other approved materials

- Be sure to extend materials from the foundation to the roof.

Rain Gutters: Screen or enclose rain gutters to prevent occumulation of plant debris

Patio Cover: Use the same ignition-resistant materials for patio covers as a roof.

Fences: Consider using combustible fence materials to protect your home during a wildfire.

READY, SET, GO! PREPARATION GUIDES

Preparing for a wildlire starts with three simple steps: Ready, Set, Gol Keep all three wildfire preparation guides on hand as a quick reference for helping your family and property be sale in the event of a wildfire.

WILDFIRE IS COMING PREPARATION GUIDES:



Is Your Home Ready?

Creating defensible space

and hardening your home

Step 1:

again st wildfire



STREET, STREET

Developing a Wildfire

Step 2: Are You Set?

Action Plan



Step 3: Are You Ready to Go?

A quick-reference evacuation guide.



Additional Home Fire Safety Steps:

Go to ReadyForWildfire.org/hardening for more important information on the following:

 Driveways and Access Road Information

· Garage Safety

- Address Visibility
- Water Supply Access
- Equipment Use Safety
- Ignition-Resistant Materials

Go to ReadyForWildfire.org for more detailed information on all three guides to prepare for and survive a wildfire.
HOME SAFETY CHECKLIST

SIMPLE STEPS FROM ROOF TO FOUNDATION TO MAKE A HOME SAFER FROM EMBERS AND RADIANT HEAT

HOME SAFETY CHECKLIST

- Clean roofs and gutters of dead leaves, debris and pine needles that could catch embers
- Replace or repair any loose or missing shingles or roof tiles to prevent ember penetration
- Reduce embers that could pass through vents in the eaves by installing 1/8 inch metal mesh screening
- Clean debris from exterior attic vents and install I/8 inch metal mesh screening to reduce embers
- Repair or replace damaged or loose window screens and any broken windows
- Screen or box-in areas below patios and decks with wire mesh to prevent debris and combustible materials from accumulating
- Move any flammable material away from wall exteriors - mulch, flammable plants, leaves and needles, firewood plies - anything that can burn
- Remove anything stored underneath decks or porches

VISIT FIREWISE, ORG FOR MORE BETAILS



- Landscape with fire-resistant plants
- Create fuel breaks

FOR MORE INFORMATION about how to protect your home and property visit firewise.org.

Talk to your local forestry agency or fire department to learn more about the specific wildfire risk where you live.



Firewise[®] is a program of the National Fire Protection Association. This publication was produced in cooperation with the USDA Forest Service, US Department of the interior and the National Association of State Foresters. NFPA is an equal opportunity provider. Firewise[®] and Firewise USA[®] are registered trademarks of the National Fire Protection Association, Quincs, MA 20169, FWC22017

PREPARE YOUR HOME

HOW TO

FOR WILDFIRES

WILDFIRE RISK REDUCTION STEPS THAT CAN MAKE YOUR HOME SAFER DURING A WILDFIRE





FIREWISE.ORG

WILDFIRE PREPAREDNESS

ORDER A REDUCING WILDFIRE RISKS IN THE HOME IGNITION ZONE CHECKLIST/POSTER AT FIREWISE.ORG

VEGETATION MANAGEMENT

1. HOME IGNITION ZONES

Limiting the amount of fiammable vegetation, choosing fire-resistant building materials and construction techniques, along with periodic exterior maintenance in the three home ignition zones - increases the chances your home will survive a wildfire when exposed to embers and/or a surface fire. The zones include the **immediate Zone**: 0 to 5' around the home; **intermediate Zone**: 5 to 30' and the **Extended Zone** 30 - 100'. Visit www.nfpa.org for more details on the Home Ignition Zones.

2. LANDSCAPING AND MAINTENANCE

To reduce ember ignitions and fire spread, trim branches that overhang the home, porch and deck and prune branches of large trees up to (depending on their height) 6 to 10 feet from the ground. Remove plants containing resins, oils and waxes and replace mulch in the Immediate Zone of 0 to 5 feet with non-combustible mulch products like crushed stone and gravel. Maintain vegetation annually.

FIRE RESISTIVE CONSTRUCTION

3. ROOFING AND VENTS

Class A fire-rated rooting products offer the best protection. Examples include: Composite shingles, metal, concrete and clay tiles. Inspect shingles or root files and replace or repair those that are loose or missing to prevent ember penetration. Box-in eaves, but provide ventilation to prevent condensation and mildew. Roof and attic vents should be screened to prevent ember entry.

4. DECKS AND PORCHES

Never store flammable materials underneath decks or porches. Remove dead vegetation and debris from under decks/porches and between deck board joints.

5. SIDING AND WINDOWS

Embers can collect in small nooks and crannies and ignite combustible materials; radiant heat from flames can crack windows. Use fire-resistant siding such as brick, fiber-cement, plaster or stucco and dual-pane tempered glass windows.

BE PREPARED

6. EMERGENCY RESPONDER ACCESS

Ensure your home and neighborhood has legible and clearly marked street names and numbers. Driveways should be at least 12' wide with a vertical clearance of 15' for emergency vehicle access.

7. DISASTER PLAN

Develop, discuss and practice an emergency action plan with everyone in your home. Include details for pets, large animals and livestock. Know two ways out of your neighborhood and have a pre-designated meeting place. Always evacuate if you feel it's unsafe to stay - don't wait to receive an emergency notification if you feel threatened from the fire.

8. ANNUAL INSURANCE CHECK-UP

Conduct an annual insurance policy check-up to adjust for local building costs, codes and new renovations. Create/update a home inventory to help settle claims faster.





Creating Defensible Space to Help Survive a Wildfire Ember Storm

DURING AN EVIDER STORM, flying embers can ignite. anything combustible in their path, including your home and anything near it, such as plants or patio furniture.

Defensible homes should have nothing ignitable within the first 5 feet, and reduced fuels out to 100 feet or the property line (whichever is closer).

Creating and mainteining defensible space around a house-while hardening the home against wind- or heat driven embers, flames, and heat-will increase the likelihood that it survives a wildfire. Defendble space also helps firefighters be safer while protecting property.

If a home is difficult to find, is surrounded by dense vegetation, or down't provide shough safe space for firefighters to work, it may be too dangerous to attempt to save

This brochure is a guide to help you create your detensible space and first additional information and resources.

Home and Property

WE'VE LEARNED FROM RECENT FIRES. Hardening your home and keeping the 5 feet closest to your house clear of flammable materials greatly improves the chatce of surviving a fire.

Maintaining defensible space is the law within 100 feet of a home in wildfire-prone areas, and highly recommended elsewhere. If a parage, shed, your neighbor's house, or the property line is closer then 100 feet, it is expectally important a "harden" the home itself to reduce vehicrability to radient heat, and to work together with your neighbors to reduce mil-a great way to build community while protecting assets.

See the California File Safe Council, Home Hardening brochare for more information on structure protection



Lodder Fuels and Fuel Continuity

Fire noods fuel to ham. A fuel laditar occurs when grass or other surface fuel carries flamas. nto shrube or small trees and then the fire climbs into larger trees-a continuous vertical line of fuel. Surface and ledder fuel is almost always necessary to sustain fire in upper tree torarches. Defanable apece breaks up the continuity of fuel both horizontally and vertically. to interrupt the spread of five to your horns.

Continuous regetation reaches and approximate heardness providing at lation? In the fee to creak

How Homes Catch Fire



EMBER STORM	BADIANT HEAT	DRICT FLAME
Embors are avail private of turning meterial that can liarvel more than a within. They can when they fail on comboardiel when they fail on comboardiel waterials, such as leaves in your pather or plants under your metabas.	Redart treat generated from Learning instatures or plants can be Not ensuight an generative wheel there sortheat the parts and the challenging in densely populated arrais, abarre the Austriang home on Durite the next.	Depending on time and exposure, drive farms contact car light your home. The funning front of a wildfire is office too for example to ighter a house, but plants ander windlaws, ighted by embose or driver farms our break farms our break game, aboving free to enter the focus

Embers are responsible for most demage during uildfres. They can accumulate on your home, deck, nr porch and ignite plants, mulch, leaves, foncing, or furniture. They can also be forced into gaps in the home

laus, actor vents or an open or broken Embers cause the windowl and barn the home from the majority of wildfire Inside out. When this happens, there hame ignitions. can be little damage to the

surtrunding vegetation, leaving people puzzled as to what caused the home to harn.

Helpful Resources

The CALIFORNIA FIRE SAFE COUNCIL ICESCI helps coordinate a strong network of pertnerships with local, regional, state, and national organizations in order to help California residents acquire the education, resources, and soch they need to be better prepared for wildfre.

Detensible Space is the law in wildfire-prone areas. Contact CAL RRE or your local fire department for specific defensible space information and local ordinances. ReadyForWhithin urg/Defensible-Summ

Contact your local Fire Safe Council to get involved. England Counter and



Sign up for CAL FIRE Alerte: ReadyForW/dlive org/Ready-for-WildSre-App Look for an emergency alert system in your county.

ALWAYS CALL 911 FOR EMERGENCIES

(a) Microsov is present and doining for a province of all Microsov Sectors, Validation State or provided in Microsov. The Sector Microsov is not specific and provident the Sector Microsov is not specific and provident.

Recommendations for Creating Defensible Space

HOMES SURVIVE WILDFIRE THROUGH A COMBINATION OF THE FOLLOWING FACTORS:

1) Awareness and management of combustible materials on the property, especially within the first 5 leet of the home. 2) Incorporation of fire- and ember-resistant construction materials, installation details, and maintenance-

3) Careful landscape selection, placement, and maintenance.

For best practices to protect your home and other structures, see the California Fire Safe Council, Mardaned Homes brochure. Defensible Space is the law in wildfire proce areas. These condensed recommendations address

legal requirements and best practices for preparing and protecting your property. For more information contact CAL FIRE or your local fire department.

ZONE 0

0 feet - 5 feet from buildings, decks, and other structures

- The goal is to evoid home ignition from blowing embers.
- Use noncombustible materials such as took. stone perets, centent, bare earth, gravel, or sand
- Remose all plants and situate near windows.
- Personal leaves and needles from your roof and rain gutters
- Clear segetation and items that could catch file from around and under decks.
- C Remove dead branches that overhang or touch your roof. Keep branches
- 10 feat away from your channey.
- Remove all leaves, needles, or other debra that fail in this zone.

- 5 feet 30 feet from buildings, decks, and other structures. The goal is to reduce heat and movement of fieme.
- C Remove all dead plants, grass, and weeds.
 - C Actively prure live shrate
 - Relocate woodpiles outside of this zone.
 - Avoid extensive use of mulch, which can conver fire to the house.
 - C Limit fallen leaves, meedles, twigs, bark, corres; and small branches to a dwath of 2 stohes
 - U Move all gas and propane tanks outside of this zone.

ENTIRE PROPERTY

5 feet - 100 feet from buildings, decks, and other structures, or to the property line

- Create islands of vegetation with horizontal spacing between shubs and trees.
- Create vertical spacing between grass, shrubs, and trees. Choces low-growing, impared, non-woody plants such as vegetables, succulents, erosion-control granies, flowers, or leven to create landscaping in this zone.
- D Mow or remove dead or dried vegetation.
- [2] They many recoderly to maintain a minimum of 10 feet of character. between branches of adjoining trees or shrubs.
- Mowany crass to a maximum height of 4 inches.
- To protect water quality, maintain regetation near waterways; do not. clear to bare toil. Vegetation tertonal can cause soll erozon that damages streams, especially on steep slopes. Remove dead trees and shrubs, leaving the roots in place, if practical
- Break up dense shub cover on slopes by creating small islands of pruned thrubs staggered horizontaly.
- Prior to evacuation, pull patio furniture, play sets, and gas BBO tanks as far as possible from any structure, and bring cushions inside.

LANDSCAPING TIPS Proper Placement Makes A Difference

Remember, any plant can burn under the right conditions. For all plants, maintenance is key When choosing species to plant in your 5- to 30-foot defensible space zone, look for plants with these characterictics

- · Able to store water in leaves and stores. · Promiss Instantished over Every addited.
- · Marrian high rooman communally instead watering. + Low-glowing or open form
- * Open looss pranches with a low volume of total vegetation. · Unit kyide of whittin of a construction. · Staw growing with Kitle methods are reached. · Not considered insering

CALIFORNIA FINE SAFE COUNCE. / Probabilizations









Is Your Home Hardened to Survive a Wildfire Ember Storm?

FIRE HARDENED means your home is prepared for wildfire and an ember storm. It does not mean freproof. Nome hardening addresses the most vulnerable components of your house with building materials and installation techniques that increase resistance to heat, flames, and embers that accompany most wildfres.

Learning to live with wildfee includes taking steps to reduce the risk to homes. Homes built to modern (2008 or lated) building codes, with an adjacent and well-maintained defemible space, here a much better chance of surviving wildlim. Maintenance and upgrades to older homes can significantly improve the chance of your horis surviving a fire.

Part of learning to live with wildfire is understanding that we have some control in how we predere for and address this hazard, and how see manage fire in our individual communities.

This brochure can help you better understand options for hardening your home and where to find more information.

Home and Property

WE'VE LEARNED FROM RECENT FIRES. HARDENING YOUR HOME and keeping the 5 feet closest to your house clear of flammable materials lincluding patio furniture and decort greatly improves its chance of surviving a fire.

Maintaining defensible space is the law within 100 feet of a kome in wildfire-prone areas, and highly recommended elsewhere. If a garage, shed, your seighbor's house, or the property line is closer than 100

fest, it is especially important to harden your home to reduce visionariability to radiant heat and to work together with your neighbors to reduce risk-a great way to build community while protecting assets.

See the California Fire Sele Council Defensible Space brochure for more information

KEY ELEMENTS OF DEFENSIBLE SPACE

- Keep your gutters and roots clear of leaves and debris.
- V Mentain a 5-foot noncombustible zone around your home and deck.
- Break up fuel by creating space between plants. and between the ground and the branches of trees.
- Mow grass to a height of 4 inches.
- ✓ Keep multich away from the house. Bark muldt helps plants retain water but ignites and becomes flying embers during a send-driven fire.
- During a wildfive move envithing burnable—such as patio furniture or gas BSO tanks—30 feet away rom structures.

CALIFORNIA HIRE SAFE COUNCIL | Foolwhich are

How Homes Catch Fire



EMBER STORM HADIANT HEAT DRECTIGANE inchois an avial Waltare beat Destandant on th concerns of furneese antermined from missions dec weather that car Given constant kan travely shown that endered ber he unde your home a rosis alread of a weights. They lan at encough to lot me The Parting Frint of a latence is written a a house without mente spot the when they is not Read fame contact. nov the extended to No. or particularly aprille a freezon, that challonging in denenty populated arrival, which this on nowheating cleate ander natoreli, mich ndriften (grifted 2). ad Association and Association pression or depice putter or plants Anter Roze une Carrier risks hereide which plays daming fonta con plans aboring the Quality (Exploring) to writer the focus

Embers are responsible for most damage during wildfires. They can accumulate on your home, deck, or porch and ignite plares, mulch, leaves, fencing, or furniture. They can also be forced into gaps in the home

whichers

la.d. attic vents or an open or broken Embers cause the windowt and burn the horse from the majority of midfire inside out. When this happens, there home ignitions. can be little damage to the sumunding vegetation, leaving people puttled as to what

caused the home to born. services of the local process of the local process

Helpful Resources

The CALIFORNIA FIRE SAFE COUNCIL (CFSC) helps coordinate a strong network of partnerships with local, tegional, state, and national organizations in order to help California residents acquire the education, resources, and tools they need to be better prepared for alloffine.

For more information: ForeSafeCouncil org + ReadyForWildNee.org Contact your local Fire Safe Council to get involved.



For building codes in California, visit Office of the State Fire Marshalt OSFM Fire ca gos/CodeDevalupment WildFowProtectionBuildingConstruction

Additional Hardened Home Information: ReadyForWildfine.org/Handsring-Your Home DiseaserSelver.org/lohu/linha-Wildfow-Publications UCANR edu/Stru/Fre/Prepare/Ballalog

Sign up for CAL FIRE Alerte: ReadyForWildline org/Ready-for Wildline App Look for an emergency alert system in your county.

ALWAYS CALL 911 FOR EMERGENCIES Histophenetics is metropositive in coupling providence into USEA forest lenders, Nach Washerment Region Coupling for Program The Collowin File Metroposition and a spectrum strypercover.

Recommendations for Hardening Your Home to Better Survive Wildfire

EMBER-RESISTANT CONSTRUCTION RELIES ON BOTH MAINTAINING DEFENSIBLE SPACE AND HARDENING YOUR HOME. HERE ARE SOME THINGS YOU CAN DO TO HARDEN YOUR HOME TO MAKE IT MORE FIRE-RESISTANT.

> YOUR TOP 3 PRIORITIES SHOULD BE YOUR ROOF, VENTS, AND NEAR HOME VEGETATION, 1) Avoid combustible materials on the property, especially within the first five feet of the home. 2) incompose firm- and ember-restatent construction materials, installation details, and maintenance. 3) Be thoughtful about lemiscaping choices and maintenance.

THE ROOF has the greatest expressive to fee embers

Chapter and report to report pay confined: the netter applicit, or propine important will a Chapter to retry() C The productive rock and covering and clauding to presence covering. Constructed decorpolations age factory to the road edge. Chair Second to present bid resting.

VENTS can allow embers to artier's crowl space, the artic, soffs, or foursistion all obgrade sense with MS and investi-ment, or initial wints approved to main

ambors and flamos pace so on anoth EAVES AND SOFFITS with splant-wated construction frankit be repacted Whatsey possible without oper neuron

Call and plug pipe around septend where and process. WINDOWS can break from the heat, even before a home ignites, allowing burning embers or flames into the home Chinesel or cograde to multi-parts temple tel class. Control from in the segment of or other combined the materials on the billing of antidows.

Chippectallacing Pug Children takes of vertical and the second room

mitright co-would related Ut for weld being howe or extending the care that 30 last. the new locale threaders access or optimic watched materials

DECKS are individuality to finisfrom embies igniting vegetation or materials new or below them Contract that all increases which there no. Attaination model between or rest to your desk.

C Are extended at L and Sdrg

For best practices to protect your home and property, see the Cultomia Fire Safe Council, Defensible Space brathure

CALIFORNIA FIRE SAFE COUNCIL . FireSafeCounciliary

CHIMNEY Cover your throws and encopys calculated a construction that the very access

1

RAIN OUTTERS should be cleaned of leavest

and needlet that embers can easily ignite D impact and clean gutters regularly. Install a noncombustible gatter quard to enduce accurulated debra

> GARAGES are expectedly volverable to attribute and anh Embars-can enter a perspe as easily ac duit, potentially uprovid a house from the maile I total weather streams or protects, accurred and under the gamps door to I million day actory

Dirich all conformation and hermelike opsis need her opsischer anderes Children bier, by commen-

Invergenge door when there is no conver-FENCES:

Context to generative context, to solution without due representation methods in the 5 here of the fighting. to prevent the feature from the tring up to the structure

DRIVEWAYS AND ACCESS ROADS should be built and maintained according to state and local codes to that emergency vehicles can safely wach your torme

International states of the second states minimum of 10 loss of dearanta on aither side Di Fosura that al patiel can operwithing power to account middle errorgence etc. generit

D Temperaturg retrees up to 15 text from the processing inder to eithe emergency. advidentic pass.

ADDRESS D Mahamara your antibum is should stickly stickly from the man.

WATER SUPPLY can be enterced by having multiple gurden hores long enough to reach all areas of the structures on your property U if you have a poot or well oursed arguing a first powered starry. Q. Bent practice in to provide a 220 metwhere the trace is were three to a stranging the track with 100 work two brook trange to obtain a sour tool. the depictulent



to be to come the ground and the start of the siding. D Replace drings or make order:

Chipsenseriatis to be and shall-comply writes a

Fire is a Fact of Life

California is home to some of the most scenic vistas in the world. The natural beauty and mild, Mediterranean climate have attracted millions to settle in the foothills, deserts and coastal valleys.

But living in California means learning to live with fire. That's because our scenic vistas are fire-dependent. Fire cracks seed casings, allowing our native plants to thrive. And it clears out dead brash that can choke living plants and cut off food for wildlife.

So why are today's fires so devastating, destroying our neighborhoods, taking our homes, possessions and even lives?

The answer lies in our own backyards.

Your Best Defense Against Fire

Firefighters agree: It's not if, but when, fire will burn through an area. And there aren't enough fire engines to protect every house. Firefighters need your help to give your home a fighting chance.

The single most important feature that will help your home stand alone against fire and give tirefighters a base to battle the flames is A FIRE SAFE LANDSCAPE.

What is a Fire Safe Landscape?

A fire safe landscape uses fire resistant plants that are strategically planted to resist the spread of fire to your home.

The good news is, you don't need a lot of money to make your landscape fire safe. And you will find that a fire safe landscape can increase your property value and conserve water while beautifying your home.





chance of surviving a wildfire.

California Fire Safe Council P.O. Box 2106 Glendora, CA 91740 626/335-7426 www.firesafecouncil.org

Made possible by a National Fire Plan Grant through the USDI Bureau of Land Management (www.blm.gov) and in collaboration with the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (www.fire.ca.gov).



Fire Safe Landscaping

How to Protect Your Home Against Wildfire Destruction

DEFENSIBLE SPACE

Defensible space is the base around your home that will give finelighters e Eghting chance against fire. It means clearing all dry grass, brush and dead leaves at least 30 to 100 leet from your home.

The key here is "at least." Your local fire department may ask for greater clearance. Contact them for requirements in your area.

Defensible space and a fire safe landscape don't mean a ring of bare dirt around your hame. When establishing your landscape, keep trees furthest from your house, shrubs can be closer, and bedding plants and lawns are nearest the house.

Your home may be the biggest investment you over make. Protect that investment by following the steps in this brochure to areate a fire safe landscape.

PLANKING

- Assess your fire risk. Is your home on a hill? Are you near highly flammable native vegutation or droughdomaged annamental plants? If your answer is yes, your fire risk is gracter than average.
- Contact your local fire department for fire hazard ratings in your neighborhood.
- Plan your landscape to reduce the amount of liammable vegetation nearest your home. Establish defensible space.
- Consider consulting your local nursery or a landscape contractor to help plan your landscape.

SPACING

- Eliminate the "fire ladder." Fire needs fuel to burn. You can sap its strength by robbing it of the continuous sequence of vegetation that can carry flames from your landscape to your house.
- Group plants of similar height and water requirements to greate a "landscape mosaic" that can slow the spread of fire and use water most efficiently.
- Space trees at least 10 feet aport, and keep branches himmed at least 10 feet from your roof.
 For trees taller than 18 feet, prune lawer branches within six feet of the ground.



FIRE SAFE COUNCIL MEMBERS

- Allstate Insurance Company
- American Society of Landscape Architects
- Association of California Insurance Companies
- Association of Contract Counties
- Bureau of Land Management
- California Air Resources Board
- California Association of Nurservmen
- California Association of REALTORS®
- California Association of Resource Conservation. Districts
- California Board of Forestry and Fire Protection
- California Building Industry Association
- California Cattlemen's Association
- California Department of Conservation
- California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection
- California Department of Insurance
- California Department of Parks and Recreation
- California FAIR Plan Association
- California Farm Bureau Federation
- California Fire Chiefs Association
- California Integrated Waste Management Board
- California Landscape Contractors Association
- California State Association of Counties
- California State Automobile Association
- California State Fire Marshai's Office
- California State Firefighters' Association
- California Urban Forest Council
- · Chemco
- Chubb Insurance
- · Council for a Green Environment
- · Farmers Insurance Group of Companies
- Federal Emergency Management Agency
- Fire Districts Association of California
- Fireman's Fund Insurance Company
- Governor's Office of Emergency Services
- Insurance Information Network of California
- Insurance Services Office: Inc.
- League of California Cities Fire Chiefs
- National Audubon Society
- National Fire Protection Association
- · Pacific Gas and Electric Company
- Personal Insurance Federation of California
- Planning and Conservation League
- · Safeco Insurance
- Society of American Foresters
- · Southern California Edison Company
- State Farm Insurance Companies
- · Thermo-Gel
- USAA Property and Casualty Insurance
- USDA Forest Service
- 21st Century Insurance

FIRE SAFE INFORMATION RESOURCES

FIRE SERVICE Colif. Dept. of Forestry & Fine Protection 1416 Ninth Steel Sacramento, CA 94244 916/653/5123

Calif. Fire Chiefs Assn. 15 Musion Olive Ct. Oroville, CA 94966 \$30/589-469

www.fire.cls.iddv

www.calchiefs.org Calif. State Firefighters' Assn.

www.csfa.linadect.net

2701 K Smith, Sulle 201 Sacamento, CA 95816/5113 800/451-2732

Calif. State Fire Marshal's Off. 916/484/3848

1131 5 Sheut Sociamento, CA 94244 916/445-8200 www.fim.co.pov

Fire District's Assn. of Calif. 1215 K Street, Suite 930 Socramento, CA 95814 916/329/9307

www.idac.org U.S.D.A. Forest Service 3735 Neely Way Mather, CA 95655

916/364/2800 www.fs.fmd.us

BUILDING/REAL ESTATE Calif. Building Industry Assn.

1215 K Steet, Suite 1200 Sociamiento, CA 95814 916/443/7933 www.cbia.org

Calif. Assn. of REALTORS* 980 Ninfh Sheet, Suite 1430 Saciamento, CA 95814

916/444-2045 www.cor.org

INSURANCE INDUSTRY Insurance Information Network of Colifornia 3530 Wilshire Bhd., Suite 1610

tos Angeles, CA 90010 800/397-1679 www.linc.org

PUBLIC UTILITIES Pacific Gas & Electric Co. P.O. Box 770000, H12A Son Francisco, CA: 04177 800/743-5000 www.pae.com

Southern California Edison 8631 Rosh Street

Rosemend, CA 91770 626/3027413 www.sce.com

LANDSCAPE/NURSERY

INDUSTRY Am. Soc. of Landscape Architects 3550 Wolt Ave., Suite 8 Sociamento, CA 95821

www.asla.org Calif. Assn. of Nurservmen 3947 Lennarie Drive, Suite 150

Socramento, CA 95834-1957 800/748-6214 www.congc.org

Colifornia Londscope Contractors Assn. 1491 River Park Drive, Suite 108

Saciamento, CA 95815 916/830-2780 www.clog.ppg

Council for a Green

Environment 926 J Street, Suite 815 Sacramenta, CA 95814

ENVIRONMENTAL GROUPS National Auduban Society 555 Audubon Flace

Sociamiento, CA 95825 Q16/481-5332 www.audubon.org

The Wilderness Society P.O. Box 29241 Sen Francisco, CA. 94129-0241

415/501-0041 www.widemess.org

AGRICULTURE Colif. Form Bureau Federation. 2300 River Plaza Drive Sociamente, CA 95833 916/561-5500 www.cftif.com

COUNC

PUBLIC AND PRIVATE PARTNERS WORKING TOGETHER

To Create A "Fire Safe California"

916/442-7195

WHO IS THE FIRE SAFE COUNCIL?

The California Fire Safe Council is a broadbased partnership mobilizing Californians through education and action programs because we believe fire prevention and loss reduction are everyone's business.

MISSION

The California Fire Safe Council's mission is to preserve and enhance California's manmade and natural resources by providing leadership and support that mobilizes all Californians to protect their homes, communities and environment from wildfires.

OBJECTIVES

- Unite Council members to speak with one voice on fire safety.
- Empower grass roots organizations and individuals to create fire safe communities.
- Unite Council members to increase distribution of fire safe education materials.
- 💟 Evaluate fire safe-related legislation.

A Council In Your Community

There are more than 100 Councils in California and other states.

To find the Council nearest you, or learn how to start your own, visit www.firesafecouncil.org.

WHY DOES CALIFORNIA NEED THE FIRE SAFE COUNCIL?

Development has created wildland-urban interface communities amid fire-dependent landscapes.

Living in these communities means learning to live with fire by creating communities that can stand against wildfire.

The California Fire Safe Council has more than 10 years of leadership in bringing together private individuals, local organizations, industry groups, government agencies and others for effective preventive action against wildfire. Prevention creates savings for everybody because for every ten cents spent preventing fire, one dollar is saved in costs of suppression and damage to homes, businesses, communities and our natural resources.

www.firesafecouncil.org

The Fire Safe Council hosts one of the best online resources for fire safety in California:

Set up your Council site and visit other Councils'.

Links Link to members and other sites with fire safe information.

Fire Safe Council Handbook The definitive guide on how to form a Council.

Fire safe Inside and Out Fire safety tips and strategies for inside and outside the home.

V Fire Safe Landscaping

Highlights four keys to a fire safe landscape: planning, spacing, watering and maintenance.

Fire Safe Council Brochure Online version of this brochure.

Fire Safe California Community Action Kit Complete community fire safety guide.



California Fire Safe Council P.O. Box 2106 Glendora, CA 91740 626/335-7426 www.firesafecouncil.org

Wildfire Safety

California's beautiful scenery and warm climate create some of the most severe wildfire conditions in the world. This Wildfire Survival Checklist will help you protect your home and family when a wildfire is threatening.

If you see a fire approaching, dial 9-1-1. Remember to stay on the phone to answer the emergency dispatcher's questions.

Dress to prevent burns and life long scars. Wear cotton or wool long pants, long-sleeve shirts or jackets. Gloves and a damp cloth provide added protection. Do not wear short sleeve shirts or synthetic fabrics.

If there is time before the fire arrives, take the steps included in this brochure.

You can make your home safe before fire season begins.

For more information on how to prepare early for fire season, please call your local fire department. For current wildfire information, please visit:

www.fire.ca.gov



Wildfire Survival Checklist

Courtesy of: California Department of Forestry & Fire Protection

Wildfire Survival Checklist

Preparing to Evacuate

- Park your car in the garage, facing out, with windows closed and keys in the ignition.
- Close the garage door but leave it unlocked; disconnect the automatic garage door opener in case of power failure.
- If you do evacuate, use your pre-planned route, away from the approaching fire front.
- Keep a flashlight and portable radio with you at all times.
- If you are trapped by fire while evacuating in your car, park in an area clear of vegetation, close all vehicle windows and vents, cover yourself with a blanket or jacket and lie on the floor.
- If you are trapped by fire while evacuating on foot, select an area clear of vegetation along a road, or lie in the road ditch. Cover any exposed skin with a jacket or blanket. Avoid canyons that can concentrate and channel fire.

Outside Your Home

- Move combustible yard furniture away from the house or store it in the garage; if it catches fire while outside, the added heat could ignite your house.
- Cover windows, attic openings, eave vents and sub-floor vents with fire-resistance material such as 1/2-inch or thicker plywood. This will eliminate the possibility

of sparks blowing into hidden areas within the house. Close window shutters if they are fire-resistant.

- Attach garden hoses to spigots and place them so they can reach any area of your house.
- Fill trash cans and buckets with water and put them where firefighters can find them.
- If you have an emergency generator or a portable gasoline-powered pump that will supply water from a swimming pool, pond, well or tank, clearly mark its location and make sure it is ready to operate.
- Place a ladder against the house on the side opposite the approaching fire to help firefighters swiftly onto your roof.

Inside Your Home

- Close all windows and doors to prevent sparks from blowing inside.
- Close all doors inside the house to slow the spread of fire from room to room.
- Turn on a light in each room of your house, on the porch and in the yard. This will make the house more visible in heavy smoke or darkness.
- Fill sinks, bathtubs and buckets with water. These can be important extra water reservoirs.
- Shut off liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) or natural gas valves.

Staying at Home During a Fire

- Move furniture away from, windows and sliding glass doors to keep it from igniting from the heat of fire radiating through windows.
- Remove your curtains and drapes. If you have metal blinds or special fire-resistant window coverings, close them to block heat radiation.
- Stay inside your house, away from outside walls.
- Close all doors, but leave them unlocked.
- Keep entire family together and remain calm. Remember: if it gets hot in the house, it is many times hotter and more dangerous outside.

After the Fire Passes

- Check the roof immediately, extinguishing all sparks and embers. If you must climb onto the roof, use caution, especially if it is wet.
- Check inside the attic for hidden burning embers.
- Check your yard for burning woodpiles, trees, fence posts or other materials.
- Keep the doors and windows closed.
- Continue rechecking your home and yard for burning embers for at least 12 hours.



 Dispose of stove or fireplace ashes and charcoal briquets only after soaking them in a metal pail of water for 24 hours.

2. Store gasoline in an approved safety can away from occupied buildings.

 LPG tanks should be far enough away from buildings for valves to be shut off in case of fire. Keep area clear of fiammable vegetation.

 All combustibles such as firewood, picnic tables, boats, etc. should be kept away from structures.

5. Garden hose should be connected to outlet.

 Clean roof surfaces and gutters regularly to avoid accumulation of flammable materials.

7. Remove portions of any tree extending within 10 teet of the flue opening of any stove or chimney.

 Maintain a screen constructed of non-trammable material over the flue opening of every chimney or stovepipe. Mesh openings of the screen should not exceed 1/2 inch.

9. Shrubs should be spaced at least 15 feet apart.

10. Remove branches from trees to a height of 15 feet.

11. A fuel break should be maintained around all structures.

 Have fire tools handy such as: ladder long enough to reach the roof, shovel, raike, and bucket for water.

13. Each home should have at least 2 different ontrance and exit routes.

14. Names of roads should be indicated at all intersections.

15. Names and addresses of occupants should be posted at driveway entrance.

 All roads and driveways should be at least 16 feet in width.

for U.5. Department of Agriculture (UEBA) problem functional feature time to be program as its basis of monotonic status, mission (wight, etc., miggine, age, datability, political brack, and methods or but fail around the eff published basis apply on any program.) Provem with shall be the sequence time protribution of the second status of the SAA Office of the second status of the second status of the second status of the SAA Office of the second status of the second status of the second status of the second status of the SAA Office of the second status of the second

To the a complete, with the forgatory of Agoindows, U.S. Department of Agoinstrate, Washington, DO 20200, or and (2020 120-752) tonight or [192) 120-127 (1920). URDA is no regular septencement







Every year many families lose their homes and possessions to the ravages of wildfire. These losses can be minimized if homeowners take the time and trouble to become aware of safety measures to help protect their homes. By observing the precautions and procedums described in this folder, you can reduce the risk of losing your home to wildfire. Only you can decide if it's worth the affort.

USE FIRE RESISTANT BUILDING MATERIAL

The roof and exterior structure of your dwelling should be constructed of non-combustible or fire resistant materials such as asphalt roofing shingles, tile, state, sheet iron, aluminum, brick, or stone. Wood skilling, cedar shakes, exterior wood paneling, and other highly combustible materials should be treated with fire retardant chemicals.

BURN SAFELY

Check local laws on burning debris. Some communities allow burning only during specified hours: others forbid it entirely. Make sure you have a valid permit shall not be valid for any day in which agriculture burning is prohibited by the Air Pollution Control District. If debris burning is allowed in your locale, take the following procautions:

- Clear the ground of all flammable materials for at least 10 feet.
- Have adequate water and fire tools available in case the fire escapes.
- Burn only during those hours specified on your permit.
 Don't burn on dry, windy days.
- . Have an adult attend the fire until it is completely out.

CLEAN YOUR ROOF

Clean root surfaces and gutters regularly to avoid accumulation of leaves, twigs, pine needles, and other flammable materials.

KEEP YOUR CHIMNEY CLEAN

At least twice a year, inspect your chimney or have it inspected for an accumulation of soot or creosote. Clean your chimney at least once a year, or more often if necessary. Keep the dampers in good working order.

STORE FIREWOOD AWAY FROM YOUR HOME

All combustibles such as firewood, picnic tables, boats, etc., should be stored away from structures.

USE ONLY APPROVED WOODBURNING DEVICES

Install only approved woodburning devices and be sure they are installed according to manufacturer's recommendations and local regulations. When you dispose of your stove or fireplace ashes, take the following precautions: place ashes in a safe container, let at for two days until all not embers are completely extinguished, then dispose of cold ashes in a deared area free of all flammable material.

INSTALL A SPARK ARRESTER

Every home and cabin built in a wooded area should have a spark arrester on its chimney. It should be constructed of non-flammable, corrosive-resistant material similar to stanless steel. The openings in the mesh should be no larger than 1/2 inch in diamotor. Inspect your spark arrester annually for broken mesh and secure installation.



CONTROL VEGETATION

A fuel break at least 30 feet wide should be established and maintained around all structures. Wider fuelbreaks are needed around buildings located on steep slopes or in areas of dense, highly flammable fuels.

The fuel break area may contain single shade trees and ornamental shrulds that do not provide means of rapidly transquiting fire from native vegetation to buildings. Shrubs and trees should be at least 15 feet apart. Remove branches from trees to a height of 15 feet apart. Remove branches from trees to a height of 15 feet apart. These and vagetation should be kept at least 10 feet away from a chimney or stove pipe. Foundation plant ing should be of the non-resincus, fire resistant variety and be free of dead and dying vogetation.

DEVELOP A WATER SUPPLY

An adequate and reliable water supply is essential to protect structures and natural areas from fires. Water can be supplied in rural areas by wels with high volume pumps. A plan should be developed to locate and note nearby creeks, rivers, lakes and ponds so that firefighters can obtain additional water if needed. Swimming poils may also be considered a source of additional water supply. A garden hose outlet should be installed on the exterior of each dwelling. One hundred feet of hose should be racked and connected to the outlet to be available to protect all sides of the house and notif. It is recommended that additional outlets be installed at least 50 feet from the house for firefighter use.

PLAN ADEQUATE ACCESS AND ESCAPE

Each home should have at least two different entrance and exit routes. All roads leading to your property should be at least 16 feet wide to allow for easy entrance of fire trucks and the passage of vehicles evacuating the area. Roads should not be located in areas with grades in excess of 12%. Dead- end roads terminating in a culde-sac should have a minimum turn-around radius of 60 feet. Names of roads should be clearly indicated at all intersections, and the name and address of the occupants should be prominently posted at the driveway entrance. Bridges should be constructed to support a minimum gross vehicle weight of 30,000 pounds to accommodate firefighting equipment. Plan a safe retreat route for you and your family before forest fire occurs, and make sure everyone knows the plan. Emergency phone numbers should be posted.

HAVE FIRE TOOLS HANDY

Your nome should have a cache of the tools including the following: a ladder long enough to reach the root in case of a root line; 100 feet of preconnected garden hose; a shovel, a rake, and a bucket. These tools should be kept in an easily accessible place, and all occupants of the house should know where they are.



IF A FIRE OCCURS

- Back car into garage and close garage door. Leave keys in ignition.
- Close windows and doors to the house and close at inside doors. Take down drapes and cur tains.
- · Place water in containers to fight fire.
- · Place ladder against front of house.
- If you have a combustible roof, wet it down or turn on roof sprinklers.
- . Turn off gas at the meter and butane tank.
- Evacuate family and pets to a safe location.

After you've done everything on your checklist and the fire is close - it is time to evacuate.

If law enforcement and fire authorities permit, and it is safe to do so, an able bodied member of the household may remain to protect the house.

If the fire cannot be stopped and passes over your home, the safest place for protection is inside the house with all the doors and windows closed.

Immediately after the fire passes, check for hot spots for at least six to ten hours.

In a major conflagration, fire protection agencies may not have enough equipment and manpower to be at every home. Taking all proper precautions before a wildfand fire will be your best dernse against it.







READY, SET, GO! Wildfire Action Plan

Saving Lives and Property through Advance Planning

We latter is a sense threat to liver, property and natural resources in California. The men and vernees of GAL (FIE make counteen preparations and trust traduently in order to be ready for all types of emergencies, including withins. Residents need to do the same.

This can dramatically introveyse year sately and the survivality of your property by preparing well in attended of a widther. This brackness provides ourdestreases information on now to improve your tomer's resistance to widthers and prepare your temps to be ready to large early in a sate manner we call this process. "Teady Sat, (or'

The galax ituations the importance of having definitions ispace around your feature and it will have estuate you accurate preparations you need to make a system make every and iterational well answed of workthe. This bestumete and provides information is in two to retain your norme with aphticial waterbank materials to access the mend of hang emders that can have an in all a mise shared of a farme form.

Fire is, and alweigh has been, a heliural part of the beautiful blade-we we chosin to leve in. Widther, toeled by a build-up of any weaktaction and arrien by het, any weak, an exhibiting updangendua and any orhweaking for findighters to address This publication will help you prepare your home to you can know early, confident is the fact that you've done weapting you reasonable can be protect your home from diversitions weathing you reasonable can be protect your home from diversitions.

I have you'l'indithe information on the next pages height, As aways, Flyou need more information about propering for writtine or any other disector, contact your nearest fire station or visit us on the web at www.fire.cs.gov

Chief Der Weiters Director, GAL FIRE

> All suggestions and requirements are based on their Octors and Pequations, specificate the Chiferent Building Orac Oracles 7A, Octors fire Cales, and Take 14 Fire Data Regulations. Directs says lead the next backs are department for specific Argumenents or recommendations for sear contrauting.



The client Within Action Num 11.
The advances on any provide the sectors of the s

Printy Set, Set is supported by



Living in the Wildland Urban Interface

Ready. Set. Gol begins with a house that firefighters can defend.



Defensible space works!

If you live next to a natural area, the Wildland Urban interface, you must provide firefight eras with the definable space they need to protect your home. The buffer you create by removing weeds brush and other vegetation helps to keep the fire away from your home and reduces the rake from fying embers.





A home within one mile of a natural area is at task of flying embers. Wind-driven embers can attack your home. You and your home must be prepared well before a fire occurs. Ember fires can destroy homes or neighborhoods far from the actual fiame from of the wildfire



What is Defensible Space?



Defensible space is the required space between a structure and the wildland area that under normal conditions, creates a sufficient turfler to slow or hait the spread of wildfire to a structure. It protects the home from ighting due to direct flame or radiant heat. Defensible space is essential for structure survivability during wildfire conditions and for the protection to firefighters defending your home.

ZONE ONE Zone O

Zone One extends 30 feet out from buildings, structures, decks, etc.

- · Remove all dead or dying vegetation.
- Trim tree canopies regularly to keep their branches a minimum of 10 feet from structures and other trees.
- · Remove leaf litter (dry leaves/pine needles) from yard, roof and rain gutters.
- · Relocate woodpiles or other combustible materials into Zone Two.
- · Remove combustible material and vegetation from around and under decks.
- · Remove or prune vegetation near windows.
- Remove "ladder fuels" dow-level vegetation that allows the fire to spread from the ground to the tree cancey; Create a separation between low-level vegetation and non-vegetative materials such as patio fumiture, wood piles, swing set, etc. from tree branches. This can be done by reducing the height of low-level vegetation and/or trimming low tree branches.
- ZONE TWO Zone Two extends 30 to 100 teet out from buildings, structures and decks. You can minimize the chance of fire jumping from plant to plant or other non-vegetative combustible, by removing dead material and removing, separating, and/or thinning vegetation. The minimum spacing be
 - tween vegetation is three times the dimension of the plant or other non-vegetative combustible.
 - Remove "ladder fuels."
 - Out or more annual grass down to a maximum height of 4 inches.
 - . Trim tree canopies regularly to keep their branches a minimum of 10 feet from other trees.
 - Loose surface litter, normally consisting of fallen leaves or needles, twigs, bark, cones, and small branches, shall be permitted to a depth of 3 inches if erosion control is an issue.

What is a Hardened Home?

Construction materials and the quality of the defensible space surrounding it are what gives a home the best chance to survive a wildfire. Embers from a wildfire will find the weak link in your home's fire protection scheme and gain the upper hand because of a small, overlooked or seemingly inconsequential factor. However, there are measures you can take to safeguard your home from wildfire. While you may not be able to accomplish all the measures listed below, each will increase your home's, and possibly your family's safety and survival during a wildfire.



ROOFS

Roofs are the most vulnerable surface where embers land because they can lodge and start a fire. Roof valleys, open ends of barnel tiles and rain gutters are sil points of entry.

EAVES

Embers can gather under open eaves and ignite exposed wood or other combustible material.

VENTS

Embers can enter the lattic or other concested spaces and ignite combustible materials. Werth in eaves and comices are particularly vulnerable, as are any unscreened vents. New writs have been developed that prevent fame and embers from getting through to the attic.

WALLS

Combustible siding or other combustible or overlapping materials provide surfaces or crevices for embers to nestle and ignite.

WINDOWS and DOORS

Embers can enter gaps in doors, including garage doors. Plants or combustible storage near windows can be ighted from embers and generate heat that can break windows and/ or melt comustible fammes.

BALCOHIES and DECKS

Embers can collect in or on combustible surfaces or the undersides of decks and balconies, ignite the material and enter the home through walls or windows.

To harden your home even further, consider protecting your homes with a residential fire sprinkler system. In addition to extinguishing a fire started by an ember that enters your home, it also protects you and your family year-round from any fire that may start in your home.

All suggestions and requirements are leaded on State Claims and Regulations, specific care the claims and angle prove Chapter 1.4 Claims Pao Does and 106 (24 Pao Serie Regulations, Cartect, your local two and building department for salectic requirements or incommondered prove contrast to the second se

6

8

Tour a Wildfire Ready Home

Nones Site and Yant: Simular you have at least a 1.00-four reduce of orderships appear cleaned weak-above anotal year human future that even more cleaned weak-above a weak-above transmin weaker hazard weak. This means toolong gaid what you one to determine the impact a common scope or resplayed you will have an year property during a weather Call dry weath and grass before 30 a m when temperatures

are cooler to reduce the chance of spanning a fire Landscape with the minimum plants that time a high most like containt and are low-growing.

Noop wood plen, propose taxes and other nor weathput consumities mathematic away from your home and other structures such as gamples, but to and shall. Simulation that takes are fait away from power taxes.

Real: Your root is the most vulnerable part of your norms because it can easily calculate the transmitblow embers. Hence with wood-blows or shingle roots are at high row of being destroyed during a webtine.

Build your roof or re-roof with grintion exertient, materials such as composition, materials to be Boos any operant meters into f declarge and covering to prevent moment into fail of the root of the second Clear prive revealses, service and other debits from

your root and patiens. Cut any two branches within ten teet of your root.

Vestic Verts us formers are particularly value able to fixing encodes. All vent openings should be covered with 16 min

to 1/4 ison matai mesh. Do not use Reactions or cleater mean because they can meth and burn Attic write in eavier or conners should be traffed or otherwere protocoled to prevent ember antisecen (mean a not arrough).

Windows: Heat from a wildlife can cause wordcom a to treate team before the nome upness. This slope ourner encers to enter and itant internal free Single-paned and large windcase are particularly withorable.

install due paved windows with one pare of tempered ginzs to reduce the chance of breakage in a true.

Consider limiting the side and number of windows at your horse that have large areas of wegstation. Inside: Herp working the estinguishers on herd. Install simple alimma an each level of your home and in betwooms. Test them monthly and change the between twee a your.





Decise: Builtoon within 30 twot of the full drig should be built with grid too resultant, nor consultative, or other spoked most risk. Drivere that all consultative terms are remained from unterventify consultative terms are remained from



Now that you've done everything you can to protect your house. It's time to prepare your family. Your Wildfire Action Plan must be prepared with all members of your household well in advance of a free.

Use these checklists to help you prepare your Wildfire Action Plan. Each family's plan will be different, depending on their situation.

Once you finish your plan, practice it regularly with your family and keep it in a safe and accessible place for guidk implementation.

Prepare Your Family

- Create a Family Disaster Plan that includes meeting locations and communication plans and practice it regularly include in your plan the evecuation of large animals such as horses.
- Have fire extinguishers on hand and train your family how to use them.
- Ensure that your femily knows where your gas, electric and water main shut-off controls are and how to use them.
- Plan several different evacuation routes
- Designate an envergency meeting location outside the fire hazard area.
- Assemble an emergency supply kit as recommended by the American Red Cross.
- Appoint an out-of-area friend or relative as a point of contact so you can communicate with family members who have relocated.
- Maintain a list of emergency contact numbers posted near your phone and in your emergency supply kit.
- Keep an extra emergency supply kit in your car in case you can't get to your home because of fire.
- Have a portable radio or scanner so you can stay updated on the fire.

GET SET As the Fire Approaches

- Evecuate as soon as you are set!
- Aiert family and neighbors.
- Dress in appropriate clothing (i.e., clothing made from natural fibers, such as cotton, and work boots). Heve goggles and a dry bandana or particle mask handy
- Ensure that you have your emergency supply kit. on hand that includes all necessary items, such as a bettery powered radio, spare batteries, emergency contact numbers, and ample drinking water
- Stay tuned to your TV or local radio stations for updates, or check the fire department Web site.
- Remain close to your house, drink plenty of water and keep an eye on your family and pets until you are ready to leave.

INSIDE CHECKLIST

- Shut all windows and doors, leaving them unlocked
- Remove flammable window shades and ourtains and close metal shutters.
- Remove lightweight ourtains.
- Move flammable furniture to the center of the room, away from windows and doors.
- Shut off gas at the meter. Turn off pilot lights.
- Leave your lights on so firefighters can see your house under smoky conditions.
- Shut off the sir conditioning



OUTSIDE CHECKLIST

- Gather up fammable items from the exterior of the house and bring them inside (e.g., patio furniture, children's toys, door mats, etc.) or place them in your pool
- Turn off propone tanks.
- Don't leave sprinklers on or water running they can weste critical water pressure.
- Leave exterior lights on
- Beck your car into the driveway. Shut doors and roll up windows
- Have a ladder available.
- Petrol your property and extinguish all small fires until you leave.
- Seal attic and ground vents with pre-cut plywood or commercial seals if time permits.
- IF YOU ARE TRAPPED: SURVIVAL TIPS Shelter away from outside walks.
- Dring garden hoses inside house so embers don't destroy them.
- Patrol inside your home for spot fires and extinguish them.
- Wear long sleeves and long pants made of
- Ensure you can exit the home if it oatches fire
- Fill sinks and tubs for an emergency water supply.
- Place wet towels under doors to keep smoke and embers out.
- After the fire has passed, check your roof and extinguish any fres, sparks or embers.
- Check inside the attic for hidden embers.
- Patrol your property and extinguish small fires.
- If there are fires that you can not extinguish. with a simplif amount of water or in a short period of time, call 9-1-1.



By leaving early, you give your family the best chance of surviving a wildfire. You also help firefighters by keeping roads clear of congestion, enabling them to move more freely and do their job.

WHEN TO LEAVE

Leave early enough to avoid being caught in fire, smoke or road congestion. Don't wait to be told by authorities to leave. In an intense wildfire, they may not have time to knock on every door. If you are advised to leave, don't hesitatel

WHERE TO GO Leave to a predetermined location (it should be a low-risk area, such as a well-prepared neighbor or relative's house, a Red Cross

shelter or evacuation center, motel, etc.)

HOW TO GET THERE

Have several travel routes in case one route is blocked by the fire or by emergency vehicles and equipment. Choose an escape route away from the fire.

WHAT TO TAKE

Take your emergency supply kit containing your family and pet's necessary items.



EMERGENCY SUPPLIES

The American Red Cross recommends every family have an emergency supply kit assembled long before a wildfire or other emergency occurs. Use the checklist below to help assemble yours. For more information on emergency supplies, visit the American Red Cross Web site at www.redcross.org

- Three-day supply of water (one galion per person per day).
- Non-perishable food for all family members and pets (three-day supply).
- First aid kit.
- Flashlight, battery-powered radio, and extra batteries.
- An extra set of car keys, credit cards, cash. or traveler's checks.
- Sanitation supplies.
- Extra eyeglasses or contact lenses.
- Important family documents and contact. numbers
- Map marked with evacuation routes.
- Prescriptions or special medications.
- Family photos and other irreplaceable items
- Easily carried valuables.
- Personal computers information on hard drives and disks)
- Chargers for cell phones, laptops, etc.
- Note: Keep a pair of old shoes and a flashlight. handy in case of a sudden evacuation at night.

- natural fibers such as cotton. Stay hydrated.
 - tremember if it's hot inside the house, it is four to five times hotter outside).

Write up your Wildfire Action Plan and post it in a location where every member of your family can see it. Rehearse it with your family.

My Personal Wildfire Action Plan

During High Fire Danger days in your area, monitor your local media for information on brush fires and be ready to implement your plan. Hot, dry and windy conditions create the perfect environment for a widfire.

Important Phone Numbers:

Out-of-State Contact		_ Phone	
Work:			
School			
Other			
Eversation Routes			
Where to go			
Location of Emergency Supply Kit			
Notes			
	California Department of J	orestry and Fire Protection	0





California Department of Forestry If you have an emergency, call 9 CAL FIRE 916-653-5123 Web site. http://www.fire.ca.gov

Trinity County Community Wildfire Protection Plan Update 2015

11

APPENDIX C – ACRONYMS

Alliance	California Fire Alliance
AED	Automated External Defibrillator
BLM	Bureau of Land Managment
BLS	Basic Life Support
CAL FIRE/CDF	California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection
СНР	California Highway Patrol
CSD	Community Services District
CWPP	Community Wildfire Protection Program
DOF	Depends on Funding
EMT	Emergency Medical Technician
FACA	Federal Advisory Committee Act
FLASH	Fire-adapted Landscapes and Safe Homes
FPD	Fire Protection District
FRA	Federal Responsibility Area
FRAP	Fire and Resource Assessment Program
FSC	Fire Safe Council
GIS	Geographic Information System
HazMat	Hazardous Materials
HFRA	Healthy Forests Restoration Act
LAL	Lightning Activity Level
LOS	Level of Service
LT	Long Term
MOU	Memorandum of Understanding
MFPP	Master Fire Protection Plan
MTWA	Mainstem Trinity Watershed Analysis
NEPA	National Environmental Policy Act
NF	National Forest
NFPA	National Fire Protection Association

OES	Office of Emergency Services
OG	Ongoing
OSHA	Occupational Safety and Health Administration
PPE	Personal Protective Equipment
RAC	Resource Advisory Committee
RTE	Route
SAFE	Safe Alternatives for the Environment
SR	State Route
SRA	State Responsibility Area
SRNF	Six Rivers National Forest
ST	Short Term
TCRCD	Trinity County Resource Conservation District
TCS	Traffic Accidents
USFS	United States Forest Service
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
VFD	Volunteer Fire Department
VMP	Vegetation Management Program
WCK	Willow Creek
WRTC	Watershed Research and Training Center
WUI	Wildland Urban Interface

APPENDIX D – GLOSSARY

Apparatus: Fire apparatus includes various types of firefighting vehicles. For the purposes of the Humboldt County Master Fire Protection Plan, fire apparatus includes wildland fire engines, rescue vehicles, ladder and aerial trucks, engines, and water tenders.

Aspect: The compass direction toward which a slope faces.

Automatic Aid Agreement: An agreement between two or more agencies whereby the agencies are automatically dispatched simultaneously to predetermined types of emergencies in predetermined areas.

Benefit Assessment: An assessment of taxes levied on the property owners in a district who enjoy a "special benefit". Proposition 218 establishes a strict definition of "special benefit." For the purposes of all assessment acts, special benefit means "a particular and distinct benefit over and above general benefits conferred on real property located in the district or the public at large. General enhancement of property value does not constitute 'special benefit." In a reversal of previous law, a local agency is prohibited by Proposition 218 from including the cost of any general benefit in the assessment apportioned to individual properties. Assessments are limited to those necessary to recover the cost of the special benefit provided the property.

Brush: A collective term that refers to stands of vegetation dominated by shrubby, woody plant, or low-growing trees.

Brushfire: A fire burning in vegetation that is predominantly shrubs, brush, and scrub growth.

Community at Risk. Wildland interface (see definition below) communities in the vicinity of federal lands that are at high risk from wildfire. (See list in Federal Register, January 4, 2001).

CSD: Community Services District. CSDs are sometimes called "junior cities" and are authorized under §61000 of the Government Code. CSDs can provide a broad range of municipal services including fire protection to unincorporated areas. CSDs are governed by a five member elected Board of Directors and receive revenue from taxes and fees. In cases where a CSD is responsible for fire protection in Humboldt County, services are provided by a volunteer fire department with facilities and funding provided by the CSD.

Dead Fuels: Fuels with no living tissue in which moisture content is governed almost entirely by atmospheric moisture (relative humidity and precipitation), dry-bulb temperature, and solar radiation.

Debris Burning: Any fire originally set for the purpose of clearing land or for burning rubbish, garbage, range, stubble, or meadow burning.

Defensible Space: An area, either natural or manmade, where material capable of causing a fire to spread has been treated, cleared, reduced, or changed in order to provide a barrier between an advancing wildland fire and the loss to life, property, or resources. In practice, defensible space is defined as an area with a minimum of 100 feet around a structure that is cleared of flammable brush or vegetation. Distance from the structure and the degree of fuels treatment vary with vegetation type, slope, density, and other factors.

Detection: The act or system of discovering and locating fires.

Direct Attack: Any treatment of burning fuel, such as by wetting, smothering, or chemically quenching the fire or by physically separating burning from unburned fuel.

Direct Protection Area: Fire protection responsibility areas as delineated for state, federal, and local agencies.

Dispatch: The implementation of a command decision to move a resource or resources from one place to another.

Extreme Fire Behavior: "Extreme" implies a level of fire behavior characteristics that ordinarily precludes methods of direct control action. One or more of the following is usually involved: high rate of spread, prolific crowning and/or spotting, presence of fire whirls, strong convection column. Predictability is difficult because such fires often exercise some degree of influence on their environment and behave erratically and/or dangerously.

Federal Responsibility Area: Areas within which a federal government agency has the financial responsibility of preventing and suppressing fires (see also State Responsibility Area and Local Responsibility Area).

Fine (Light, Flash) Fuels: Fast-drying fuels, generally with a comparatively high surface area-to-volume ratio, which are less than ¼-inch in diameter and have a time-lag constant of one hour or less. These fuels readily ignite and are rapidly consumed by fire when dry.

Fire Behavior: The manner in which a fire reacts to the influences of fuel, weather, and topography. Common terms used to describe behavior include: smoldering, creeping, running, spotting, torching, and crowning.

Fire Hazard: What will happen when a fire occurs based on fuel loading, resistance to control, vegetation types, etc. A high hazard is indicated by dens, flammable vegetation, e.g. thickets of second growth, untreated plantations, and brush fields.

Fire Management Plan (FMP): A strategic plan that defines a program to manage wildland and prescribed fires. The plan is supplemented by operational plans such as preparedness plans, preplanned dispatch plans, prescribed fire plans, and prevention plans.

Fire Regime: The combination of fire frequency, predictability, intensity, seasonality, and size characteristics of fire in a particular ecosystem.

Fire-Return Interval: The number of years between two successive fire events at a specific site or an area of a specified size.

Fire Risk: The Likelihood of a fire starting based on slope, position, past history of lightening strikes, places near recreational populations

Fire Safe: Action(s) that moderate the severity of a fire hazard to a level of "acceptable risk". In a broader context this term describes the state of lessened severity or action(s) that moderate the severity of a fire hazard or risk, while protecting structures and surrounding property from fire, whether fire is inside the structure or is threatening the structure from exterior sources.

Fire Season: 1) Period(s) of the year during which wildland fires are likely to occur, spread, and affect resource values sufficient to warrant organized fire management activities. 2) A legally enacted time during which burning activities are regulated by state or local authority.

Fire Severity: The effect of fire on plants. It is dependant on intensity and residence of the burn. An intense fire may not necessarily be severe. For trees, severity is often measured as percentage of basal area removed.

Fire Safe Standards: Standards adopted by ordinance for the purpose of establishing a set of standards that will result in fire safe development within a specified area.

Firewise: An interagency program designed to encourage local solutions for wildfire safety by involving homeowners, community leaders, planners, developers, firefighters, and others in the effort to protect people and property from the risk of wildfire (www.firewise.org).

FPD: Fire Protection District. Districts authorized under §13800 of the California Health and Safety Code to provide fire protection and emergency medical services. Fire Protection Districts are generally governed by a five member elected Board of Directors.

Fuel: Combustible material. Includes vegetation such as grass, leaves, ground litter, plants, shrubs, and trees that feed a fire. (See Surface Fuels.)

Fuel Bed: An array of fuels usually constructed with specific loading, depth and particle size to meet experimental requirements; also commonly used to describe the fuel composition in natural settings.

Fuel-break: A natural or constructed barrier used to stop or check fires that may occur, or to provide a control line from which to work.

Fuel Load: The amount of available and potentially combustible material, usually expressed as tons/acre.

Fuel Loading: The volume of fuel present expressed quantitatively in terms of weight of fuel per unit area.

Fuel Moisture (Fuel Moisture Content): The quantity of moisture in fuel expressed as a percentage of the weight when fuel is thoroughly dried at 212 degrees Fahrenheit.

Fuel Reduction: Manipulation (including combustion and/or removal of fuels) to reduce the likelihood of ignition and/or to lessen potential damage and resistance to control.

Fuel Type: An identifiable association of fuel elements of a distinctive plant species, form, size, arrangement; or other characteristics that will cause a predictable rate of fire spread or difficulty of control under specified weather conditions.

Ground Fuel: All combustible materials below the surface litter (including duff, tree or shrub roots, punchy wood, peat, and sawdust) that normally support a glowing combustion without flame.

Hazard Reduction: Any treatment of a hazard that reduces the threat of ignition and fire intensity or rate of spread.

Hazardous Fuels Reduction: Any treatment that reduces the amount of hazardous fuels.

Healthy Forests Restoration Act (HFRA): A portion of the 2003 President's Healthy Forests Initiative intended to reduce hazardous fuels on public and private lands. Establishes Community Wildfire Protection Plans and sets standards for those plans.

Heavy Fuels: Fuels of large diameter (such as snags, logs, and large limb wood) that ignite and are consumed more slowly than flash (fine, light) fuels.

Home Ignition Zone: This zone principally determines the potential for home ignitions during a wildland fire; it includes a house and its immediate surroundings within 100 to 150 feet.

Ignition Management: A program that includes fire prevention program activities that are aimed at preventing the ignition of wildland fires and/or reducing damage from fires. Components include law enforcement, public education, engineering, fuels modification, and fire-safe planning.

Incident: A human-caused or natural occurrence, such as wildland fire, that requires emergency service action to prevent or reduce the loss of life or damage to property or natural resources. Incident management teams also handle other non-fire emergency response, including tornadoes, floods, hurricanes, earthquakes, and other disasters or large events.

Initial Attack: The actions taken by the first resources to arrive at a wildfire in order to protect lives and property and prevent further extension of the fire.

Interface Community. (Defined in the Federal Register, January 4, 2001) The Interface Community exists where structures directly abut wildland fuels. There is a clear line of demarcation between residential, business, and public structures and wildland fuels. Wildland fuels do not generally continue into the developed area. The development density for an interface community is usually three or more structures per acre, with shared municipal services. Fire protection is generally provided by a local government fire department with the responsibility to protect the structure from both an interior fire and an advancing wildland fire. An alternative definition of the interface community emphasizes a population density of 250 or more people per square mile.

Intermix Community: (Defined in the Federal Register, January 4, 2001) The Intermix Community exists where structures are scattered throughout a wildland area. There is no clear line of demarcation; wildland fuels are continuous outside of and within the developed area. The development density in the intermix ranges from structures very close together to one structure per 40 acres. Fire protection districts funded by various taxing authorities normally provide life and property fire protection and may also have wildland fire protection responsibilities. An alternative definition of intermix community emphasizes a population density of between 28–250 people per square mile.

Ladder Fuels: Fuels which provide vertical continuity between strata and allow fire to carry from surface fuels into the crowns of trees or shrubs with relative ease. They help initiate and assure the continuation of crowning.

Large Fire:

1) CAL FIRE defines a fire burning more than 300 acres as a large fire.

2) A fire burning with a size and intensity such that its behavior is determined by interaction between its own convection column and weather conditions above the surface.

Level-of-service standard (LOS standard): Quantifiable measures against which services being delivered by a service provider can be compared. Standards based upon recognized and accepted professional and county standards, while reflecting the local situation within which services are being delivered. Levels-of-service standards for fire protection may include response times, personnel per given population, and emergency water

supply. LOS standards can be used to evaluate the way in which fire protection services are being delivered, for use in countywide fire planning efforts.

Light Fuels: See Fine Fuels.

Litter: Top layer of the forest, scrubland, or grassland floor, directly above the fermentation layer, composed of loose debris of dead sticks, branches, twigs, and recently fallen leaves or needles, little altered in structure by decomposition.

Live Fuels: Living plants, such as trees, grasses, and shrubs, in which the seasonal moisture content cycle is controlled largely by internal physiological mechanisms, rather than by external weather influences.

Local Agency: Pursuant to Government Code §56054 means a city, county, or district. For the purposes of the Fire Plan, a Local Agency refers to a city or special district that provides fire protection.

Local Responsibility Area: Lands in which the financial responsibility of preventing and suppressing fires is primarily the responsibility of the local jurisdiction.

Mutual Aid Agreement: A reciprocal aid agreement between two or more agencies that defines what resources each will provide to the other in response to certain predetermined types of emergencies. Mutual aid response is provided upon request.

National Fire Protection Association (NFPA): An international non-profit organization whose mission is to reduce the worldwide burden of fire and other hazards on the quality of life by providing and advocating scientifically-based consensus codes and standards, research, training and education.

Peak Fire Season: That period of the fire season during which fires are expected to ignite most readily, to burn with greater than average intensity, and to create damage at an unacceptable level.

Personal Protective Equipment (PPE): Equipment and clothing used and worn by all firefighting personnel in order to mitigate the risk of injury from, or exposure to, hazardous conditions encountered while working.

Structure PPE, or Bunker Gear, includes NFPA/OSHA compliant helmet, goggles, hood, coat, pants, boots, gloves, pocket tools, and Self Contained Breathing Apparatus.

Wildland PPE_includes 8-inch laced leather boots with lug soles, fire shelter, hard hat with chin strap, goggles, ear plugs, aramid shirts and trousers, leather gloves, and individual first aid kits.

Prescribed Fire: A fire ignited under known conditions of fuel, weather, and topography to achieve specific objectives.

Prevention: Activities directed at reducing the incidence of fires. Include public education, law enforcement, personal contact, and reduction of fuel hazards.

Resistance to Control: How much time and effort it will take to control a fire, can be based on flame length, heat per unit (BTU), fuel loading and arrangement, vegetation type and slope

Stand-Replacing Fire: A fire that kills most or all of the trees in a section of forest.

State Responsibility Area: Defined in California Public Resources Code § 4125 – 4127 as lands in which the financial responsibility of preventing and suppressing fires is primarily the responsibility of the state. State Responsibility Areas are defined by code:

§ 4126. The board shall include within state responsibility areas all of the following lands:

(a) Lands covered wholly or in part by forests or by trees producing or capable of producing forest products.

(b) Lands covered wholly or in part by timber, brush, undergrowth, or grass, whether of commercial value or not, which protect the soil from excessive erosion, retard runoff of water or accelerate water percolation, if such lands are sources of water which is available for irrigation or for domestic or industrial use.

(c) Lands in areas which are principally used or useful for range or forage purposes, which are contiguous to the lands described in subdivisions (a) and (b).

§ 4127. The board shall not include within state responsibility areas any of the following lands:

(a) Lands owned or controlled by the federal government or any agency of the federal government.

(b) Lands within the exterior boundaries of any city, except a city and county with a population of less than 25,000 if, at the time the city and county government is established, the county contains no municipal corporations.

(c) Any other lands within the state which do not come within any of the classes which are described in Section 4126.

Structure Fire: Fire originating in and burning any part or all of any building.

Suppression: All the work of extinguishing or containing a fire, beginning with its discovery.

Surface Fuels: Loose surface litter on the soil surface, normally consisting of fallen leaves or needles, twigs, bark, cones, and small branches that have not yet decayed enough to lose their identity; also grasses, forbs, low and medium shrubs, tree seedlings, heavier branchwood, downed logs, and stumps interspersed with or partially replacing the litter.

Vegetation Type: A standardized description of vegetation. The type is based on the dominant plant species and the age of the forest. It also indicates how moist a site may be and how much fuel is likely to be present.

Wildland Agency: Any federal, tribal, state, or county government organization participating in wildland fire protection with jurisdictional responsibilities.

Wildland Fire: Any non-structure fire, other than prescribed fire, that occurs in the wildland.

Wildland-Urban Interface (WUI): The zone where structures and other human developments meet, or intermingle with, undeveloped wildlands.

Woody biomass: Trees and woody plants, including limbs, tops, needles, leaves, and other woody parts, grown in a forest, woodland, or rangeland environment, that are the by-products of management, including restoration and hazardous fuel reduction treatments.

APPENDIX E - REFERENCES

Agee, J. "Fire Effects on Vegetation." Fire Ecology of Pacific Northwest Forests, Island Press, 1996, pp. 113–136.

Agee, James K. Steward's Fork, UC Press 2007.

- Agee, J.K.; Bahro, B.; Finney, M.; Omi, P.; Sapsis, D.; Skinner, C.; Wagtendonk, J.; Weatherspoon, C. 2000. "The Use of Shaded Fuelbreaks in Landscape Fire Management." *Forest Ecology and Management* 127: p. 1; Pp. 55–66; p. 56; p. 60.
- Agee, J.K. and Carl N. Skinner. *Basic Principles of forest fuel reduction treatments*. Forest Ecology and Management 2005.
- Agee, J.K. Fire Ecology of Pacific Northwest Forests. 1993. Island Press Pg 493.
- American Lung Association. *State of the Air Report 2020.* p. 24; p. 54. https://www.stateoftheair.org/assets/SOTA-2020.pdf
- Anderson, Hal E. *Predicting Wind-driven Wild Land Fire Size and Shape.* Res. Pap. INT-305. 1983. Ogden, UT. Intermountain Forest and Range Experiment Station. p. 26.
- Anderson, Hal E. *Aids for Determining Fuel Models for Estimating Fire Behavior*. General Technical Report INT-122. 1982. USDA Forest Service Intermountain Forest and Range Experiment Station. p. 3.
- Anderson, M.K. *Tending the Wild: Native American Knowledge and the Management of California's Natural Resources.* 2005. University of California Press, Berkeley. p. 136.
- Anderson, M.K. "The Use of Fire by Native Americans in California." 2006. In: N.G. Sugihara, J. van Wagtendonk,
 K.E. Shaffer, J. Fites-Kaufman, and A.E. Thode, editors. *Fire in California's Ecosystems*. Berkeley: University of California Press. p. 417.
- Anderson, R. "Montane Hardwood-Conifer" In: Mayer, K.E., W.F. Laudenslayer Jr., ed. 1998. A Guide to Wildlife Habitats of California. p. 166.
- Baldwin, Kenneth. Down River Fire & Fuel Management Plan. Prepared for Trinity County RCD 2005
- Baldwin, K.. Grass Valley Fire Management Plan. Prepared for BLM 2003.
- Baldwin, K. East Fork Fire Management Plan. Prepared for Trinity County RCD 2000.
- Barkley, Yvonne C. "After the Burn. Assessing and Managing Your Forestland After a Wildfire." University of Idaho. https://www.fs.usda.gov/rmrs/sites/default/files/documents/Yvonne%20C.%20Barkley.pdf
- Bey, Marko. Lomakatsi Ecological Services, Inc. <u>www.lomakatsi.org</u>.
- Biswell, Harold H. *Prescribed Burning in California Wildlands, Vegetation Management.* 1989. Berkeley: University of California Press, London. p. 255.
- Braxton-Little. Quincy Library Group. 1998. High Country News. Vol 30, No. 21.

- Brookings Institution. *The Mega-Fire Phenomenon: Toward a More Effective Management Model. A Concept Paper.* 2005
- Brown, James K. et.al. *Coarse Woody Debris: Managing Benefits and Fire Hazard in the Recovering Forest*. USDA Forest Service Rocky Mtn. Research Station. Technical Report RMRS-GTR-105
- Brown, Richard T., James K. Agee, and Jerry Franklin. "Forest Restoration and Fire: Principles in the Context of Place." 2004. *Conservation Biology*. 18(4): Pp. 903–912.
- Brown, Rick. *Thinning, Fire and Forest Restoration. A Science-Based Approach for National Forests in the Interior Northwest.* 2000 Defenders of Wildlife.

Bureau of Land Management, Redding Resource Management Plan, June 1993

Bureau of Land Management, Redding Field Office Fire Management Plan, 2004.

California Air Pollution Control Officers Association (CAPCOA) Newsletter. Volume 19, Issue 9. September 2007.

California BOF and Department of Forestry & Fire Protection. The 2010 Strategic Fire Plan for California.

- California Board of Forestry (BOF). *Registered Professional Forester (RPF) Definition. Previously found at:* www.bof.fire.ca.gov/professional foresters registration/about registration.
- California BOF. General Guidelines for Creating Defensible Space. February 8, 2006. Previously found at: http://bofdata.fire.ca.gov/PDF/copyof4291finalguidelines9_29_06.pdf.
- California BOF. *Defensible Space, 2006*. Adopted February 8, 2006. Approved by Office of Administrative Law May 8th, 2006. <u>www.diablofiresafe.org/pdf/regulations.pdf</u>.
- California BOF. Forest Fire Prevention Exemption, 2008. Previously found at: www.bof.fire.ca.gov/regulations/proposed_rule_packages/.
- California BOF. Table of Current Fuel Hazard Reduction Permit Options. September 17, 2008. Previously found at: www.bof.fire.ca.gov/other board actions/permit options for fuel hazard reduction on private and s tate owned lands/finaldraftfhrtable.pdf.
- California BOF. Technical Rule Addendum No. 3–Brood Material.
- California BOF. *AB2420 Forest Fire Prevention Exemption. Previously found at:* <u>www.bof.fire.ca.gov/pdfs/AB242010_28_05.pdf</u>.
- California Council on Science and Technology. *The Costs of Wildfire in California*. Sacramento, CA; 2020. https://ccst.us/reports/the-costs-of-wildfire-in-california/
- California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE). The Resource Agency of the State of California. Before, During and After a Wildfire.
- CAL FIRE. California Forest Stewardship Program. Forestland Steward. Spring 2004. p. 1.

- CAL FIRE. California Forest Stewardship Program, Heather Morrison. "How to Burn Piles Properly." *Forestland Steward*. Spring 2002.
- CAL FIRE. California Forest Stewardship Program. "Prune trees for better health and higher value." *Forestland* Steward. Winter 2002. Previously found at: <u>http://calfire.ca.gov/foreststeward/pdf/newslettr21.pdf.</u>
- CAL FIRE. California Forest Stewardship Program (Spring 2004). "Post-Fire Response: Assess Your Situation." Forestland Steward. p. 1. Previously found at: <u>http://calfire.ca.gov/foreststeward/pdf/newsspring04.pdf</u>.
- CAL FIRE. California's Wildland-Urban Interface Code Information. Previously found at: www.fire.ca.gov/fire_prevention/fire_prevention_wildland_codes.php.
- CAL FIRE. Evacuation Tips. https://www.fire.ca.gov/media/5463/evacuation.pdf
- CAL FIRE. Fire and Resource Assessment Program (FRAP). *Metadata Record: Fire Threat.* 2005. *Previously found at:* <u>http://frap.fire.ca.gov/data/frapgisdata-sw-firethreat_download.</u>
- CAL FIRE. Fire and Resource Assessment Program (FRAP). Fuel Ranks Maps and Data. Previously found at: http://frap.fire.ca.gov/data/firedata-fuels-fuelsfr.
- CAL FIRE. Fire Hazard Severity Zone Re-mapping Project. Previously found at: http://frap.fire.ca.gov/projects/hazard/fhz.
- CAL FIRE. Homeowner's Checklist. Inside the Home. Previously found at: www.fire.ca.gov/communications/communications firesafety insidehome.php.
- CAL FIRE. Outside the Home. Previously found at: www.fire.ca.gov/communications/communications firesafety outsidehome.php.
- CAL FIRE. Homeowner's Summary of Fire Prevention and Loss Reduction Laws. PDF document. 2 pages. September 2007.
- CAL FIRE. Professional Foresters Examining Committee. *The Professional Foresters Law and the Role of the Registered Professional Forester in Managing California's Forests.* January 16, 2013. *Previously found at:* <u>http://bofdata.fire.ca.gov/professional foresters registration/about seebox/role rpf 2013.pdf.</u>
- CAL FIRE. Ready for Wildfire. https://www.readyforwildfire.org/.
- CAL FIRE. Why 100 Feet? Previously found at: www.fire.ca.gov/communications/communications firesafety 100feet.php.
- California Fire Alliance. Communities At Risk. Previously found at: <u>http://www.preventwildfireca.org/Communities-at-Risk/</u>.
- California Fire Alliance. *Community Wildfire Protection Plan (CWPP)*. *Previously found at:* www.preventwildfireca.org/Community-Wildfire-Protection-Plans/.

California Fire Alliance. Fire Planning and Mapping Tools. https://landfire.cr.usgs.gov/viewer/.

California Government Code 51176.

California Government Code 51189, section a.

California Health and Safety Code section 13108.5.

California Native Plant Society. *Inventory of Rare and Endangered Plants.* www.cnps.org/cnps/rareplants/inventory/.

California Natural Diversity Database (CNDDB) Quick Viewer. www.wildlife.ca.gov/Data/CNDDB.

- California, State of. Legislative Counsel. Public Resources Code 4290 and Public Resources Code 4291. <u>http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/.</u>
- Chang, C. "Ecosystem responses to fire and variations in fire regimes." Sierra Nevada Ecosystem Project, Final Report to Congress, Volume II, Assessments and Scientific Basis for Management Options. 1996. Davis: University of California, Centers for Water and Wildland Resources.
- Cohen, Jack. 2000. Wildland-Urban Fire, A Different approach. https://www.fs.fed.us/rm/pubs_journals/2001/rmrs_2001_cohen_j001.pdf
- Cohen, Jack. "The Wildland-Urban Interface Problem–A Consequence of the Fire Exclusion Paradigm." *Forest History Today.* Fall 2008. p. 22; p. 23; Pp. 22–23. p. 25.
- Community Wildfire Protection Plan (CWPP) Task Force and Wildland Fire Leadership Council. *Community Guide to Preparing and Implementing a Community Wildfire Protection Plan.* August 2008. p. 18; p. 22.
- Danks, C. Community Forestry Initiatives for Creation of Sustainable Rural Livelihoods: A Case for North America. 2000. Unasylva 51(202) 53-63.
- Davis, Emily Jane, et al. "The Community Economic Impacts of Large Wildfires: A Case Study from Trinity County, California." Society & Natural Resources, vol. 27, no. 9, 2014, pp. 983–993., doi:10.1080/08941920.2014.905812.
- Davis, Emily J.et.al. *The State of the Dry Forest Zone and its Communities.* University of Oregon Institute for Sustainable Environment. 2010
- Estes, Becky L., et al. "Factors Influencing Fire Severity under Moderate Burning Conditions in the Klamath Mountains, Northern California, USA." *Ecosphere*, vol. 8, no. 5, 2017, doi:10.1002/ecs2.1794.

ESRI Support Center. GIS Dictionary. October 2006. http://support.esri.com/other-resources/gis-dictionary.

- Finney, M. A. (2001). Design of regular landscape fuel treatment patterns for modifying fire growth and behavior. Forest Science, 47(2), 219–228. <u>https://www.fs.fed.us/rm/pubs/rmrs_gtr292/2001_finney.pdf</u>
- Firewise. Is Your Home Protected From Wildfire Disaster? A Homeowner's Guide to Wildfire Retrofit. 2001. p. 9. Previously found at: www.firewise.org.

Firewise. "Wildfire: Preventing Home Ignitions" video. 19 minutes. 2001. Previously found at: www.firewise.org.

- Fitzgerald, Stephen A. 2005. *Fire Ecology of Ponderosa Pine and the Rebuilding of Fire-Resilient Ponderosa Pine Ecosystems.* Gen. Tech Report PSW-GTR-198. Redmond, OR. Pacific Southwest Research Station, Forest Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture. p. 246.
- Fitzgerald, Stephen; Waldo, Amy J. *Fire-Resistant Plants for Oregon Home Landscapes*. April 2002. https://www.fs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/fsbdev3_035870.pdf
- Foote, Ethan. "Wildland-Urban Interface Ignition-Resistant Building Construction Recommendations." Community Wildfire Protection Plan Workshops. California Fire Alliance and the California Fire Safe Council. August 2004.
- Gearhart, Douglas. Lake County Air Quality Management District (LCAQMD). Air Pollution Control Officer. Personal Communication. May 1, 2009.
- Gearhart, Douglas. Lake County Air Quality Management District. Air Pollution Control Officer. LCAQMD Public Information Release. May 1, 2009.
- Graber, D.M. "Status of Terrestrial Vertebrates." Sierra Nevada Ecosystem Project, Final Report to Congress, Volume II, Assessments and Scientific Basis for Management Options. 1996. Davis: University of California, Centers for Water and Wildland Resources.
- Graham R T. et.al. *Science Basis for Changing Forest Structure to Modify Wildfire Behavior and Severity.* USDA Forest Service. Rocky Mtn. Research Station. Report RMRS-GTR-120 2004
- Green, Linda. California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE). Battalion Chief. Personal Communication. March 24, 2009.
- Green, L.R. "Fuelbreaks and other fuel modification for wildland fire control." USDA Agricultural Handbook 499. 1977.

Hann et al. 2008. Interagency and The Nature Conservancy Fire Regime Condition Class website.

- Hanson, Chad. *The Myth of 'Catastrophic' Wildfire. Anew Ecological Paradigm of Forest Health.* John Muir Project Technical Report 1 winter 2010.
- Holt, Steve. West Slope Sierra Nevada Placer County CWPP
- Hulbert, James. Community Wildfire Protection Plan for the City of Cascade Locks. 2005
- Hurteau Matthew D. and Matthew L. Brooks. *Short- and Long-term Effects of Fire on Carbon in US Dry Temperate Forests*.BioScience Feb 2011/Vol.61 No2.

Husari, S.; T. Nichols; N.G. Sugihara; S.L. Stephens. 2006. "Fuel Management." In: N.G. Sugihara, J. van

- Wagtendonk, K.E. Shaffer, J. Fites-Kaufman, and A.E. Thode, ed. *Fire in California's Ecosystems*. Berkeley: University of California Press. Pp. 444–465.
- Institute for Sustainable Forestry. *Safeguarding Rural Communities: Fire Hazard Reduction and Fuels Utilization.* Final Report. September 2001 to December 2002. p. 23.

- Katelman, Tracy, et. al. *Conservation Principles for Community Wildfire Protection in California's Sierra Nevada. Previously found at:* <u>www.forevergreenforestry.com/SierraConservationCWPP.html</u>.
- Keyes, Christopher & J. Morgan Varner. *Pitfalls in the Silvicultural Treatment of Canopy Fuels.* Fire Management Today Vol66. No.3 2006
- Lancaster, Mark. East Branch Fuels Reduction Project Final Report. Prepared for Trinity County RCD. 2000
- Lindenmayer, David B., and Jerry F. Franklin. *Conserving Forest Biodiversity: A Comprehensive Multi-Scaled Approach*. Island Press. Washington, D.C. 2002. p.184 and "Risk Spreading" chapter.
- Martinez, Dennis. "Canopy Retention for Fuel Modification Treatment in Douglas Fir Stands." Boulder Dumont Late Successional Reserve (LSR) Vegetation Management Project. 2003. Tiller Ranger District, Umpqua National Forest.
- Mckelvey, Kevin, S. et al. "An Overview of Fire in the Sierra Nevada." In: Sierra Nevada Ecosystem Project, A Final Report to Congress, Volume II, Assessments and Scientific Basis for Management Options. 1996. Davis: University of California, Centers for Water and Wildland Resources.
- Moritz, M.A. 2003. "Spatio-temporal analysis of controls of shrubland fire regimes: Age dependency and fire hazard." Ecology 84: Pp. 351–361.
- Moritz, M.A., J.E. Keeley, E.A. Johnson, and A.A. Schaffner. 2004. "Testing a basic assumption of shrubland fire management: How important is fuel?" *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 2: Pp. 67–72.
- Nakamura, Gary. Harvesting forest biomass reduces wildfire fuel. 1996. March-April California Agriculture pg 13-16.
- National Archives & Records Administration. Federal Register. Urban Wildland Interface Communities within the vicinity of Federal Lands that are at high risk from wildfire. Federal register Notice August 17, 2001
- NOAA National Centers for Environmental information, Climate at a Glance: County Time Series, published January 2021, retrieved on January 11, 2021 from <u>https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/cag/</u>
- North Coast Unified Air Quality Management District. (n.d.). *The Northcoast Air Basin*. <u>http://www.ncuaqmd.org/index.php?page=northcoast.airbasin.</u>
- Office of the Federal Register. "Implementation Direction for Identifying and Prioritizing Hazardous Fuel Reduction in Wildland-Urban Interface/Intermix," Region 5. Vol. 66, No. 3. January 4, 2001. Pp. 751–754.
- OSFM; University of California and the Interagency Engineering Working Group. *Structural Fire Prevention Field Guide for Mitigation of Wildland Fires*. April 2000. Pp. 15–16. p. 40.
- Pausas, Juli G, and Jon E Keeley. "Wildfires as an Ecosystem Service." *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, vol. 17, no. 5, 2019, pp. 289–295., doi:10.1002/fee.2044.
- Peppin, Donna, et al. *Post-wildfire Seeding in Forests of the West: Trends, Costs, Effectiveness, and Use of Native Seed. 2010.* Final Report to Joint Fire Sciences Program. Project ID 08-2-1-11.

- Pinchot Institute for Conservation. Ensuring Forest Sustainability in the Development of Wood-based Bio-energy in the Pacific Coast Region. Workshop Summary Davis California. 2010
- Rice, C. Urban-Wildland Fire: A Practical Guide for Local Governments, Fire Authorities, Developers, and Property Owners. 2007. Solano Press, Point Arena, CA.
- Rothermel, R. C. *How to Predict the Spread and Intensity of Forest and Range Fires.* USDA Forest Service General Technical Report INT-143. 1983. Intermountain Forest and Range Experiment Station. Ogden, UT.
- Salmon River Fire Safe Council. *Fire Planning & Fuels Reduction Program. Fuel Reduction Plans and Maps.* <u>http://srrc.org/programs/firefuels.php.</u>
- Sandberg, David, V.; Ottmar, Roger D.; Peterson, Janice L. Wildland Fire in Ecosystems: Effects of Fire on the Air.
 Gen.Tech. Rep. RMRS-GTR-42-vol. 5. 2002. Ogden, UT. US Department of Agriculture. Forest Service.
 Rocky Mountain Research Station. p. 79.
- Scholsser, William. Defining the Wildland-Urban Interface A Logic-Graphical Interpretation. Northwest management Inc. 2005
- Shasta-Trinity National Forest. Wildland Urban Interface Zones. Fuel Treatment Goals.
- Sierra Economic Development District. 2002. "Fuel Treatment Recommendations." Sierra County Fire Safe Council and Community Fire Safe Plan. Pp. 7–1.
- Sierra Nevada Ecosystem Project (SNEP). (1996a). "Fire and Fuels." Final report to Congress, Vol. I. Assessment summaries and management strategies. Wildland Resources Center Report No. 36. Davis, CA: Centers for Water and Wildland Resources, University of California; Pp. 62–71.
- Sierra Nevada Forest Plan Amendment. FEIS Volume 2. Chapter 3, part 3.5. "Affected Environment and Environmental Consequences." January 2004. p. 276. Smith, Gregg. Lake County Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan (HMP). 2005. Pp. 13–14.; p. 15; p. 18; p. 19; p. 69; p. 70; Pp. 69-70-78; p. 78; p. 79.
- Skinner, C.N.; A.H. Taylor; J.K. Agee. "Klamath Mountain Bioregion" In: N.G. Sugihara, J. van Wagtendonk,
- K.E. Shaffer, J. Fites-Kaufman, and A.E. Thode, editors. *Fire in California's Ecosystems*. 2006. Berkeley: University of California Press. p. 179.
- Skinner, C.N., and C. Chang. "Fire Regimes, Past and Present." Sierra Nevada Ecosystem Project, Final Report to Congress, Volume II, Assessments and Scientific Basis for Management Options. 1996. Davis: University of California, Centers for Water and Wildland Resources. Pp. 1048–1049.
- SNEP. (1996a). "Fire and Fuels." Final report to Congress, Volume II, Assessments and Scientific Basis for Management Options. Davis: University of California, Centers for Water and Wildland Resources. Pp. 1048–1049.
- South Lake Fire Safe Council. Fire Resistant Plants. http://www.southlakefiresafecouncil.org/plants.html.
- Stephens, Scott L. "Effects of Fuels and Silviculture Treatments on Potential Fire Behavior in Mixed Conifer Forests of the Sierra Nevada, CA." 1998. *Forest Ecology and Management*. 105: Pp. 21–34.

- Stephens, S.L. and J.J. Moghaddas. 2005a. "Experimental Fuel Treatment Impacts on Forest Structure, Potential Fire Behavior, and Predicted Tree Mortality in a Mixed Conifer Forest." Forest Ecology and Management. 215: Pp. 21–36.
- Stephens, S.L.; J.J. Moghaddas. 2005b. "Fuel Treatment Effects on Snags and Coarse Woody Debris in a Sierra Nevada Mixed Conifer Forest." *Forest Ecology and Management.* 214: Pp. 53–64.
- Stephens S.L.; M.A. Finney. 2002. "Prescribed Fire Mortality of Sierra Nevada Mixed Conifer Tree Species: Effects of Crown Damage and Forest Floor Combustions." *Forest Ecology and Management* 162: Pp. 261–271.
- Stephens, S.L., and N.G. Sugihara. 2006. "Fire Management and Policy Since European Settlement." In: Sugihara, N.G., J. van Wagtendonk, K.E. Shaffer, J. Fites-Kaufman, and A.E. Thode, editors. *Fire in California's Ecosystems*. Berkeley: University of California Press. Pp. 431–443.
- Stephens, S.L. and P.Z. Fule. 2005. "Western Pine Forests with Continuing Frequent Fire Regimes: Possible Reference Sites for Management." Journal of Forestry. 103(7): Pp. 357–362.
- Stephens, S.L., D.L. Fry, E. Franco-Vizcaino, M.M. Collins, and J.J. Moghaddas. 2007. "Coarse Woody Debris and Canopy Cover in an Old-Growth Jeffrey Pine–Mixed Conifer Forest from the Sierra San Pedro Martir, Mexico." Forest Ecology and Management. 240: Pp. 87–95.
- Stephens, S.L., Robert E. Martin, Nicholas E. Clinton. 2007. "Prehistoric Fire Area and Emissions from California's Forests, Woodlands, Shrublands, and Grasslands." *Forest Ecology and Management* 251: Pp. 205–216.
 Sterling, E.A. "Report on the Forest Fire Conditions in the Lake Tahoe Region, California." Unpublished report on file at the University of California-Berkeley, Life Sciences Library. June 1904.
- Sugihara, N.G., J. van Wagtendonk, K.E. Shaffer, J. Fites-Kaufman, and A.E. Thode, editors (2006). *Fire in California's Ecosystems*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Tiedemann AR, Johnson KL, comps. *Proceedings, Research and Management of Bitterbrush and Cliffrose in Western North America*. Gen. Tech. Rep. INT-152. 1982. Ogden, UT: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Intermountain Forest and Range Experiment Station: pp. 256–265.
- Trinity Bioregion Group. Forest Management Policy.1995
- Trinity County Community Wildfire Protection Plan (2005)
- Trinity County Fire Safe Council. Recommendations on Trinity County Values at Risk from Fire and Pre-Fire Fuels Treatment Opportunities drawn from Community Meetings 1999/2000
- Trinity County Fire Safe Council. Fire Management Plan. February 2003.
- Trinity County Fire Safe Council website at <u>www.tcrcd.net/fsc</u>.
- Tunnell, Jeff. Bureau of Land Management. Fire Mitigation and Education Specialist. Personal Communication. September 12, 2008.
- Turner, Clarence, et.al. Assessing Forestation Opportunities for Carbon Sequestration in Minnesota. Minnesota Forest Research Council. 2010.

United States Department of Agriculture. (n.d.). *Managed Wildfires*.

http://www.fs.usda.gov/detail/coconino/home/?cid=stelprd3844936#Whatisamanagedfire.

- University of California–Agriculture and Natural Resources (UCANR). *Homeowner's Wildfire Mitigation Guide. Previously found at:* <u>http://ucanr.edu/sites/Wildfire/</u>.
- US Congress. Healthy Forest Restoration Act of 2003 (H.R. 1904)
- USFS. Healthy Forests Initiative and Healthy Forests Restoration Act. February 2004. Interim Field Guild, Title I. *Wildland-Urban Interfaces Within or Adjacent to At-Risk Communities.* FS-799. p. 15.
- USFS. Protecting People and Sustaining Resources in Fire Adapted Ecosystems A Cohesive Strategy. 2000. p. 32;
- p. 44. USFS, Rocky Mountain Research Station. Fire, Fuel, and Smoke Science Program. Firelab.org. https://www.firelab.org/.
- USFS. Secure Rural Schools and Community Self-Determination Act. 2000. County Funds. https://www.fs.usda.gov/pts/.
- USFS. Title II–Special Projects on Federal Land. https://www.fs.usda.gov/main/pts/specialprojects.
- USFS, Texas; Texas A&M University. A Guideline for Developing Community Wildfire Protection Plans. <u>http://txforestservice.tamu.edu/uploadedFiles/FRP/UWI/CWPPGuideFinalDraft(1).pdf.</u>
- US Senate. Senate Bill 1595. Chapter 366. p. 1; p. 6. <u>www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/07-08/bill/sen/sb</u> 1551-1600/sb 1595 bill 20080927 chaptered.pdf.
- van Wagtendonk, J. W. Spatial analysis of lightning strikes in Yosemite National Park. 1991. Proc. 11th Conf. Fire and Forest Meteorology 11:605-611.
- van Wagtendonk, J., and J. Fites-Kaufman "Sierra Nevada bioregion." In: Sugihara, N.G., J. van Wagtendonk, K.E. Shaffer, J. Fites-Kaufman, and A.E. Thode, ed. 2006. *Fire in California's Ecosystems. Berkeley*. University of California Press. Pp 264–294

Weaverville Community Forest Strategic Plan 2010 and 2020. www.tcrcd.net/wcf/.

- White, William B. and Terry C. Daniel. *Resolving Human Desires with Environmental Imperatives BEFORE the Fire*.1991. U.S MAB
- Williams, Jerry. 1910 Fires: A Century Later. Could It Happen Again? Proceedings of Inland Empire Society of American Foresters Annual Meeting. Wallace Idaho. 2010.